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Corporate Profile
DA

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of
the Company were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on |7 December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We operate through our subsidiaries MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. ("MOBI Shenzhen™), MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji'an) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian"), MOBI Technologies (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. ("MOBI Xian"), MOBI Technology
(Hong Kong) Limited (“MOBI HK™), MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“MOBI
Technology"), Shenzhen MOBI Shiye Development Co., Ltd., Xi'an Shengrong
Communication Technologies Co., Ltd, Shenzhen Shengyuzhihui Network Technology
Co,, Ltd, Jian Jinshengjing Technology Co,, Ltd, Shenzhen MOBI Network Communication
Co, Ltd. and Xi'an MOBI Antenna Technologies Engineering Co., Ltd..

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF”) subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystem and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA 2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO Antenna,
satellite communication and microwave transmission networks. We sell our products to
network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment into the networks they
are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some of the world's leading
wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products into their wireless
coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they then sell to network

operators worldwide.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long term

relationships with our customers.
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Corporate Information
NEEH

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY'I-1 104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Zhou Lingbo (Note 1)

Ye Rong (Note 2)

Non-executive Director

Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lau Wing

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Hu Xiang
Lau Wing

Note I: On 21 June, 2023, the board of directors approved the appointment of Ms. Zhou Lingbo as

executive director with effect from 21 June, 2023.

Note 22 On 21 June, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the appointment of Mr. Ye Rong as

executive director with effect from 21 June, 2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Zhang Han (Chairman)
Li Tianshu

Ge Xiaojing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Li Tianshu (Chairman)

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

Qu Degian

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Hu Xiang (Chairman)

Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

Qu Degian

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wancha,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Bank of China
No. 442 Renmin North Road, Longhua District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China

AUDITORS
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.mobi-antenna.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTOR RELATIONS
Telephone: 86-755-27150701 (ext 390)
Chen Zhaotong

Email: ir@mobi-antenna.com

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 947
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Financial Highlights
BB

Analysis of revenue by business type Analysis of revenue by customer type
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Financial Highlights
MBEE

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES FTEH KRS
(All amounts are expressed in RMB' million unless otherwise stated) (BREEHBIN BESEIUARBEET
251)
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Revenue WA 640.8 687.0
Gross profit EH 96.3 1068
(Loss) before taxation A (B8) (52.8) (222.1)
Net (loss) attributable to shareholders IRR (% (BB (59.2) (229.8)
Total assets BEE 1,247.7 13102
Net current assets MBNEEFE 153.1 1863
Net assets attributable to shareholders RREMEETR 504.6 565.0
Inventories turnover days FEREXRH Il 124
AJR turnover days PN R TR BB R 2 203 222
AJP turnover days (NG TNEIEN 387 349
Current ratio MBIt & 1.21 125
Gearing BRAFBLE 7.6% 29%
No. of issued shares, million shares BEETROHEAE (B8R) 809.2 8152
Net assets value per share, RMB BREEFE(ANRET) 0.62 0.69
Basic (loss) per share, RMB cents BRERN(BE) (ARES) (7.28) (28.08)
Retum on average equity TR AR R -11.07% -33.77%
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the Board of Directors of MOBI Development Co., Ltd, | am pleased to
present to the shareholders the business development of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Company”) for the year ended 3| December 2023 (the “Year").

In the past year of 2023, the Group encountered various severe challenges: the increasing
downward pressure on the economy, the tense and volatile international situation, and the
intensified market competition. Based on years of accumulation of customers and products,
the Group was united as one to tackle the difficulties. The Group’s operation remained
basically stable in 2023. Among them, for operator customers, the Group continued to
receive R&D projects and market orders on 4G and 5G from domestic and overseas
customers. In particular, driven by the implementation of the bid-winning centralized
procurement projects of major domestic operators at an earlier time, the shipment of
antenna products continued to rise. For equipment manufacturer customers, the Group

continued to maintain its position as a key supplier of major equipment manufacturer

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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customers, steadily won bids for projects such as filters and combiners, and achieved
large-scale shipments. While focusing on the external market, internally, the Group also
actively took measures to explore the ultimate cost and continuously optimized the
expense structure to improve the overall operating efficiency of the Company. We have
achieved remarkable results over the years and have seen improvement on net profit.
However, as the revenue from certain centralized procurement projects of domestic
operators will be recognized in 2024 and beyond, and the production layout of major
interational equipment manufacturer customers changed in 2023, plus it took a ramp-
up process after the new plant was put into operation, it resulted in a decline in overall

delivery, which comprehensively affected the overall sales revenue in 2023.

In the future, the Group will continue to adhere to the three strategic directions of
market driving, technology research and development and cost improvement. Externally,
the Group will continue to consolidate its customer relationship and focus on customer
needs in order to consolidate the business segments of antennas and base station radio
frequency sub-systems, and continuously seek valuable market opportunities in new
business areas so as to create a second growth curve. Intemally, the Group will continue
to improve the conversion rate of R&D projects and internal operation efficiency, achieve
the same frequency resonance with customer needs through technological innovation, and
actively promote the optimization and improvement of the cost and expense structure
in order to comprehensively enhance the core competitiveness. The Group believes that
with its product technology and brand advantages, it will take up more market share in
the future, and the exploration of new businesses and new fields will also become a new

performance growth point for the Group.

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2023, the Company's operating revenue was approximately RMB640.85 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 6.7%; net loss was approximately
RMB59.20 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 74.2%; basic

loss per share was approximately RMB0.07.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2023, the cooperation between the Group and major domestic telecommunication
operators and equipment manufacturers were continuously strengthened and deepened.
Sales in the domestic market showed significant growth compared to 2022. Among them,
for domestic operator customers, while the Group maintained the orders fulfillment scale

of the bid-winning projects, we actively participated in the research and development and
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

bidding of various projects of major operators. For domestic equipment manufacturers,
the Group continuously maintained its position as a leading supplier of major domestic
equipment manufacturers. Cooperation in businesses such as antenna and RF were
deepened. The Group continuously cooperated with them on new product series and
continued to update and iterate technology to meet the relevant needs of the customers.
The scale of order fulfillment remained stable. With the advancement of the domestic 5G
network construction, major domestic equipment manufacturers will still take up significant
market share. It is believed that leveraging the Group's close strategic partnership with
domestic equipment manufacturers, we will gain more prominent market advantages in

the future.

Globally, the business of international operators was affected by factors such as geopolitics,
economic cycle uncertainty and regional changes in business divisions. Meanwhile, the
production layout of major international equipment manufacturer customers changed.
Compared with the previous production progress, the current production progress still
needs some time for recovery, and the order fulfillment has also been affected to a certain
extent. However, international development is an important strategy that the Group
has always adhered to. At present, the capital expenditure of global operators is still
showing cyclical changes and the Group has maintained strategic cooperation relationships
with major international equipment manufacturer customers. With the advancement
of international mobile network construction and the gradual recovery of production
bases of intemational equipment manufacturers, it is expected to bring corresponding

continuous growth opportunities.

In addition, following the preliminary layout, the Group commenced implementation
of related projects in new business areas such as photovoltaic and smart city, and
contributed higher flexibility. With the continuous expansion in the “5G+" vertical industry
application and new business areas such as energy saving and new energy, the Group has
also attracted new customers to the original customer base and continuously explored
new types of customers such as government, enterprises and consumers. In the future,
the Group will continue to optimize the size and mix of customers, which is believed to

become a new performance growth segment.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Based on the above, the Group believes that with its innovative R&D technology and
strong quality assurance, it will occupy more market share in the future, and the market
opportunities of new business and new fields will also form the second growth curve of

the Group.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
In 2023, the Board of Directors of the Group did not recommend the payment of any
final dividend.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward to the future, the Group will continue to focus on both domestic and
overseas markets, continue to be deeply engaged in the wireless mobile sector, focus on
traditional businesses including antenna system business and RF subsystem business, and
actively explore the “5G+" vertical industry application, and continue to make efforts and

expand into new businesses such as energy conservation and new energy.

In the four years since the official launch of 5G commercialization in China, China's 5G
development has experienced three development stages, namely strategic layout, system
promotion and application implementation, and significant achievements have been
made in 5G commercialization. In order to promote the healthy and rapid development
of the telecommunications industry, a series of policies have been promulgated in
China, including the “I4th Five-Year" Plan for the development of the information and
communications industry, the ““Sailing” Action Plan for 5G Application (2021-2023)" and
other guiding documents, to facilitate the development of the industry. According to the
2023 Communications Industry Statistics Bulletin”, by the end of 2023, the total number
of mobile communication base stations in China reached | 1.62 million, of which 3.377
million were 5G base stations, accounting for 29.1% of the total number of mobile base
stations, representing an increase of 7.8% as compared with the end of the previous year.
5G network construction is further promoted. At present, China's 5G development has
entered the second half. For the next step of 5G development, major domestic operators
have expressed their views that they have to “build 5G premium networks, deepen 5G
co-construction and sharing, and further improve the coverage of 5G networks in rural
and remote areas, provide better universal telecommunications services” as well as “expand
the boundaries of capabilities and open up a new track for 5G applications. For example,

for the traffic management of the Internet of Vehicles and vehicle-road collaboration,
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

comprehensive information services can be provided through Integrated Sensing and
Communication technology”. With the comprehensive expansion and optimization of
fundamental network construction, the domestic telecommunications industry will enjoy
room for continuous growth. With more than 20 years of in-depth development in the
domestic market, the Group has established a solid customer base with major domestic
operators and equipment manufacturers. At the same time, the Group has actively carried
out the R&D and cooperation of new product series, and continuously expanded the
depth and breadth of cooperation. It is believed that taking advantage of the policy, this

will lay the foundation for future business growth in the domestic market.

With regard to overseas markets, the prospect for 5G development is promising.
According to the statistics of the Telecommunication Development Industry Alliance, in
terms of base station construction, as of the end of December 2023, the total number
of 5G base stations deployed globally exceeded 5.17 million, with a cumulative annual
increase of .53 million, representing a period-on-period increase of 7.48%. Regulatory
authorities in various countries have also gradually implemented 5G spectrum auction/
allocation. 304 operators in |19 countries and regions around the world have launched
commercial 5G networks based on 3GPP standards. 5G SA network investment and
construction are accelerating. It is estimated that there will be 6.5 million 5G base stations
worldwide in 2025. At present, the global base station construction is in an uneven state.
Although some countries and regions have begun to promote the construction of 5G base
stations, the 4G construction is not yet saturated. Some emerging markets such as Africa,
Southeast Asia and Latin America still have large demand for 4G network construction.
Meanwhile, the domestic 5G base station construction has always been maintained at a
high level, and the domestic 5G development is always in the top-tier of the world, with
relatively mature technology and experience, which will bring certain advantages in the
global market competition in the future. Looking forward, the Group will, on the one
hand, further expand its presence in overseas operator markets, be continuously included
in the shortlist by major multinational and regional operators, and, on the other hand,
continue to deepen the strategic cooperation relationship with international equipment
manufacturers, thus continuously increasing the Group's share in the global market in the
long term. The persistence in expanding the presence in the global market will not only
help advance the upward development in the next few years but also achieve sustained

growth for a longer period.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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In addition, the 5G era has brought rich application scenarios, and at the same time
empowered vertical industries to derive new business forms, and diversified product
demand will bring about a broad market space. In order to realize industrial transformation
and upgrading, the Group has implemented a number of new telecommunication
scenarios in the sector of “telecommunication + new energy/energy saving”. With the
scale of green energy investment increasing year by year, new energy technologies such
as photovoltaic, wind energy and batteries, becoming increasingly mature and “the
energy-saving/new energy” industry gradually growing, it is believed that these will generate

new performance growth points for the Group.

I ' would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and customers for
their kind support and trust, and to our Directors and staff for their diligent work. The
Company and the Board of Directors will continue to advance the optimization of
customer base and structure and the differentiated competitive strategy of the leading
position in technology and cost, so as to enhance its comprehensive competitiveness
and achieve the steady growth of the Group. The Company will continuously advance
towards the goal of being a world-class supplier of radio frequency technology for mobile

communications and create value to give back to the shareholders and the society.

Hu Xiang
Chairman and Chief Executive Office

Shenzhen, the PRC
22 March 2024
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

When compared with last year, the sales revenue decreased by approximately RMB46.15
million (approximately 6.7%), to approximately RMB640.85 million in 2023 (2022:
approximately RMB687.00 million).

Sales of antenna system increased by approximately 23.5% to approximately RMB255.64
million (2022: approximately RMB207.00 million), while sales of base station RF subsystem
decreased by approximately 19.4% to approximately RMB327.65 million (2022:
approximately RMB406.63 million). In addition, sales of coverage extension solution and
other products decreased by approximately 21.6% to approximately RMB57.56 million
(2022: approximately RMB73.37 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, the downward pressure on the economy continued to increase, and the
international situation was complex and dynamic, with frequent occurrences of geopolitical
conflicts and black swan events, and the external environment were relatively harsh.
Based on years of accumulation of customers and products, the Group's operating
conditions basically remained stable under the unremitting efforts of the management and
operation team. In terms of operator customers, the Group steadily secured research
and development projects and market orders (including for 4G and 5G) from domestic
and overseas customers. In particular, driven by previous implementation of bid-winning
centralized procurement projects of major domestic operators, the shipment of antenna
products continued to rise, and the sales revenue to domestic operator customers
increased significantly compared with last year. In terms of equipment manufacturer
customers, the Group continued to maintain its position as a key supplier of major
equipment manufacturer customers, and steadily won bids for filters, combiners and other
projects, and achieved large-scale shipments. The Group also continued to optimize its
expense structure to enhance overall operating efficiency of the Company. We have
achieved remarkable results over the years and have seen improvement on net profit.
However, as the revenue from certain centralized procurement projects of domestic
operators will be recognized in 2024 and beyond, and the production layout of major
international equipment manufacturer customers changed in 2023, plus it took a ramp-up
process after the new plant was put into operation, it resulted in a decline in overall

delivery, which comprehensively affected the overall sales revenue in 2023.

Automated production equipments
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEFWR D

The Group has adhered to the three strategic directions, namely market driving,
technology research and development, cost improvement. Externally, we have continuously
strengthened the customer relationship, and rapidly responded to the domestic and
foreign market demand; intemally, we have continuously improved the conversion rate of
research and development projects and internal operational efficiency. In the future, the
Group will continue to consolidate the business segments of antennas and base station
RF subsystem. Focusing on customer demand, the Group will also seek for valuable
market opportunities in new business areas on an on-going basis while stabilizing existing
customers. By achieving same frequency resonance through technological innovation and
customer needs, the Group will enhance its core competitiveness comprehensively. The
Group believes that with its product technology and brand advantages, it will take up
more market share in the future, and the market opportunities for new businesses and

new areas will also become new performance growth points for the Group.
Antenna system

The Group's products of antenna system are primarily sold to China's domestic network
operators and major network operators in overseas markets (such as Asia, Europe and
Americas); whilst a portion of our products of antenna system are sold to operator
customers worldwide by way of network solution provider customers such as ZTE and
Nokia.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, revenue from antenna system products of the Group significantly increased
by approximately 23.5% to approximately RMB255.64 million (2022: approximately
RMB207.00 million) as compared with 2022, mainly driven by the implementation of
centralized procurement projects of major domestic operators, and the orders and
shipments continued to rise. At the same time, due to the increase in relevant demand
from major domestic equipment manufacturers and international operator customers, the
Group made further breakthrough in FDD+TDD antennas and multi-band/multi-system
antennas, with the sales significantly increasing by approximately 61.1% and 97.8% to
approximately RMB21.23 million and approximately RMB189.83 million respectively as
compared with 2022,

The Group closely followed the progress of operators’ network construction, kept
increasing research and development inputs and improved the conversion rate of research
and development projects. The Group continued to optimize and upgrade the platform
solutions with the goal of full-category coverage, with projects under research including
domestic and foreign customers and other self-developed projects, which involved
multi-beam antennas, multi-band/multi-system antennas, FDD+TDD antennas and other
products. The Group also achieved breakthrough in research and development progress
in the field of complex multi-port T+F antennas. The Group has always committed
to innovation and breakthrough of technological research and development to match
customers' demand, which enables the Group to enjoy strong technological advantages in

market competition, thus laying the foundation for future revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Base station RF subsystem

The Group is one of the core suppliers of RF subsystems for international communication
equipment manufacturers, such as ZTE and Nokia, and provides them with a variety of

products and solutions, including RF subsystem products.

In 2023, the revenue from the Group's base station RF subsystem products decreased
by approximately 19.4% as compared with 2022 to approximately RMB327.65 million
(2022: approximately RMB406.63 million), mainly because the production layout of major
interational equipment manufacturer customers changed and it took a ramp-up process
after the new plant was put into operation, resulting in a delay in the overall order delivery
cycle. However, driven by the domestic demand for low-band refarming construction,
in 2023, the sales of low-band refarming/loT RF devices of the Group significantly
increased by approximately 2,280.9% to approximately RMB5.62 million as compared
with 2022. The Group continued to remain as a major supplier among the world's leading
telecommunication equipment manufacturers, continuously consolidated and deepened
its cooperation with them, successively secured a number of research and development
projects and market orders, including those for filters, combiners and diplexer, from major
system equipment manufacturers (such as ZTE and Nokia) in the world, and achieved

large-scale production.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Coverage extension solution

The arrival of the 5G era brings rich application scenarios and empowers vertical
industries. The Group is committed to creating a diversified product portfolio, opening up
the second growth curves and participating more in the construction of a new ecology in
the 5G era.

In 2023, the Group's revenue from coverage extension solution and other products
decreased by approximately 21.6% as compared with the corresponding period of
2022 to approximately RMB57.56 million (corresponding period of 2022: approximately
RMB73.37 million), mainly because sales revenue from aesthetic products decreased
as compared with the corresponding period of last year as the result of the adjustment
of station construction strategies for domestic operator customers. However, with
the breakthrough of technology, products and customers, the Group commenced
implementation of related projects in new business areas such as photovoltaic and smart
city, which contributed higher flexibility. The Group is full of confidence in the future
diversified product portfolio and vertical industry expansion. The Group believes that
the gradual resumption of construction of related capital projects, the exploration of 5G
application in many fields, as well as the Group's expansion and development of new

businesses will create new sources of growth for it.

Customer

In 2023, the Group seized the opportunities in domestic and overseas communications
construction to consolidate its business in domestic operator and equipment manufacturer
market while continuously expanding its presence in international market and striving
to increase the Company's share in the global market. In addition, the Group actively
explored new business sectors such as energy conservation and new energy, gradually
expanded government customers, enterprise customers and customer base to diversify

the customer structure, and the related projects were continuously implemented.
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In 2023, the cooperation between the Group and major domestic telecommunication
operators was continuously strengthened and deepened. On one hand, the orders
fulfillment scale of the bid-winning projects remained stable. On the other hand, we
actively participated in the research and development and bidding of various projects of
major operators. As a result, the Group's sales revenue to domestic operators increased
significantly by approximately 71.9% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year, to approximately RMBI52.10 million, accounting for approximately 23.7% of the
total revenue. However, the actual delivery scale to domestic operators was affected
by the deferred recognition of revenue, and therefore more revenue recognition is
expected in 2024. With the gradual implementation of the centralized procurement
projects of major domestic operators, as well as the active and deep involvement in the
solid promotion of the 5G industry, the Group believes that this will provide room for

continuous performance growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, the Group continuously maintained its position as a leading supplier of major
domestic equipment manufacturers. Cooperation in businesses such as antenna and RF
were deepened. The scale of order fulfillment remained stable, and the scale of its sales
remained flat when compared to 2022, with a slight increase of approximately 1.0%
to approximately RMBI143.38 million, accounting for approximately 22.4% of the total
revenue. In the meantime, the Group continuously cooperated with them on new product
series and continued to update and iterate technology to meet the relevant needs of
the customers. With the advancement of the domestic 5G network construction, major
domestic equipment manufacturers will still take up significant market share. It is believed
that by leveraging the Group's close strategic partnership with domestic equipment

manufacturers, we will gain more prominent market advantages in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEBNWR DM

Due to factors such as geopolitics, economic cycle uncertainty, regional changes in
business divisions and other factors, in 2023, the Group's direct sales to international
operators decreased by approximately 13.3% as compared with 2022 to RMB76.38
million, accounting for approximately 11.9% of total revenue. However, international
development is an important strategy that the Group has always adhered to. Currently,
the capital expenditures of global operators are still showing cyclical changes. On the one
hand, in some emerging markets (such as Africa, Southeast Asia, Latin America and other
regions), there is still large room for 4G network construction or transformation. On the
other hand, in many countries and regions, 5G construction is accelerated. It is expected
that the capital expenditure of overseas operators will further increase in the future, and
large-scale construction will also proceed simultaneously. In order to ensure network
quality and security, international operators have been very strict in establishing shortlists.
After years of overseas market expansion, the Group has accumulated a considerable
number of shortlists of major intemational operators. With the gradual release of overseas
network construction needs, it is expected there will be more continuous growth

opportunities.
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In 2023, the production layout of major international equipment manufacturer customers
changed. Compared with the previous production progress, the current production
progress still needs some time for recovery, and the order fulfillment has also been
affected to a certain extent. As a result, the Group's sales to international equipment
manufacturer customers decreased by approximately to 31.1% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year to approximately RMB251.16 million, accounting
for approximately 39.2% of total revenue. However, the Group maintained strategic
cooperation relationships with major international equipment manufacturer customers.
With innovative R&D technology, cost-effective product offerings, strong quality assurance,
as well as the accumulation of long-term stable cooperation, the Group maintained the
majority of share among leading global equipment manufacturer customers. It is believed
that the Group's order fulfillment to interational equipment manufacturer customers will
gradually resume and continue to rise after the recovery of the production status of its
production bases. With the advancement of international mobile network construction,
the strengthening of cooperation and communication with overseas customers, overseas

market is expected to bring opportunities for sustained business growth to the Group.

In addition, with the continuous expansion in new businesses, the Group has also attracted
new customers to the original customer base and continuously explored new types of
customers such as government, enterprises and consumers. In the future, the Group will
continue to optimize the size and mix of customers, which is believed to become a new

performance growth segment.
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Gross profit

In 2023, the gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 9.9% to approximately
RMB96.31 million (2022: approximately RMB106.84 million), while the gross profit margin
decreased from approximately [5.6% in 2022 to approximately 15.0%. This was mainly
due to the impairment of inventories. Excluding this effect, the gross profit margin would
increase to 16.3%, which was basically the same as that of the same period last year. Facing
the serious challenge of intensified market competition, the Group adopted appropriate
measures actively to strengthen cost management and control. The Group will continue
to improve the overall gross profit margin through constantly optimizing and upgrading
the product sales portfolio, increasing the sales proportion of high-tech products and
implementing effective control of intemal costs in the future. In addition, the continuous
efforts on the second curve of “telecommunications + energy saving/new energy” are

believed to be a new source of profit growth for the Group in the future.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately |1.5% to approximately RMB34.77 million,

mainly due to the decrease in interest income from bank deposits.

Other gains and losses

Net other gains amounted to approximately RMBI15.35 million, mainly due to the
completion of settlement matters, resulting in a significant reduction in related losses.
Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately 6.6% from approximately
RMB45.14 million in 2022 to approximately RMB42.16 million in 2023, mainly due to a

decrease in business expenses, advertising fees, rent and utility expenses, transportation

expense, office expenses, depreciation expenses and other expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 15.9% from approximately
RMB89.36 million in 2022 to approximately RMB75.17 million in 2023, mainly due to a
decrease in expenses including wages, low-value consumables, depreciation expenses,
welfare expenses, rent, management/utility expenses, handling fees, social and other
insurance premiums, union expenses, recruiting and personnel agency fees, and

transportation costs.

Research and development expenses

During the year, research and development expenses decreased by approximately 27.6%
from approximately RMB86.30 million in 2022 to approximately RMB62.51 million in
2023, mainly due to the decrease in expenses including wages, research and development

materials costs, testing fees, depreciation expenses and amortization of intangible assets.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 34.0% from approximately RMB4.97 million in
2022 to approximately RMB3.28 million in 2023, mainly due to the decrease in interest

expense of bank borrowings.

Loss before tax

Loss before taxation was approximately RMB52.81 million in 2023 (2022: loss before tax
of approximately RMB222.08 million). Net profit margin before taxation increased from

approximately -32.3% in 2022 to approximately -8.2% in 2023.

The decrease in loss before taxation for the year was mainly attributable to the continuous
optimization of the expense structure that improved the overall operating efficiency of the

Company.
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Tax

Current income tax expense increased by approximately RMB201,000 from approximately
RMBI14,000 in 2022 to approximately RMB215,000 in 2023. Effective tax rates calculated
from the loss before tax of the Company were 0.41% and 0.006% in 2023 and 2022

respectively.

Loss for the year

In 2023, loss for the year was approximately RMB59.20 million (2022: loss for the year
of approximately RMB229.76 million). The Group's net profit margin was approximately
-9.2% in 2023 as compared to approximately -33.4% in 2022.

Relationships with equipment manufacturers, operators and suppliers

The Group mainly sells antenna products and RF subsystem products to
telecommunication equipment manufacturer customers (such as ZTE) who build complete
networks for delivery to telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile), thus

enabling the Group to establish close and stable relations with equipment manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group is also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions
to both global and domestic telecommunication operators (such as China Mobile, China
Unicom and China Telecom) and telecommunication equipment manufacturers (such
as ZTE and Nokia), which enables the Group to maintain a leading edge in product
technology and continuous expansion of customer channels, and thus to build close and

solid relations with global and domestic telecommunication operators.

Suppliers of the Group include raw material suppliers and contract manufacturers. The
Group has developed solid and steady relationships with many of its key suppliers.
Given solid and steady relationships with the suppliers, the Group believes that its
suppliers generally provide supplies to the Group with a priority and the Group has not
experienced any material shortage or delays in receiving supplies or services from the

suppliers during the track record period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group. Major

risks and uncertainties are summarized below.

Brand/Reputation Risk

The Group has established and maintained its MOBI brand that aims to provide the
products of the Group including antenna system, base station RF subsystem and coverage
extension solution of business brand, primarily targeting leading system equipment
manufacturers and telecommunication operators worldwide for provision of its RF
technology solution. If the Group is unsuccessful in promoting its MOBI brand or fails to
maintain its brand position and market perception, system equipment manufacturers and
telecommunication operators’ acceptance of its MOBI brand may erode, and the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and

adversely affected.
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Any negative publicity or dispute relating to the Group's MOBI brand, products,
sponsorship activities or management, the loss of any award or accreditation associated
with the Group's MOBI brand or products or the use of the “MOBI” trademark or brand
name by other businesses could materially and adversely affect the Group's business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Market Trend

The Group's success depends on the market perception and customer acceptance of
MOBI brand and the Group's products, which in large part, rely on the Group's ability to

anticipate and respond to different market demands in a timely manner.

If the Group is unable to utilize new technologies and processes, anticipate and respond
to market and new technology trends and customer preferences in a timely manner,
demand for MOBI products may decrease. The Group's business would also suffer if
product creations or modifications do not respond to the needs of customers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunities or are not effectively brought to market.
Any failure by the Group to offer products that respond to changing market and customer
preferences, or any shift in market or new technologies and processes and customer
preferences away from MOBI brand and the Group's products, could adversely affect

customers' interest in the Group's products.

Competition

Currently, the Group's antenna system products, base station RF subsystem products and
related products of coverage extension solution face different levels of competition in
their respective market sectors. As competitors with similar brand positioning may emerge
and intensify the current competition, there can be no assurance that the Group will be

able to compete effectively against competitors who may have greater financial resources,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

greater scales of production, superior technology, better brand recognition and a wider
and more diverse network. To compete effectively and maintain the Group's market
share, the Group may be forced to, among other actions, reduce prices and increase
capital expenditures, which may in turn negatively affect the Group's profit margins,

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group's production process is carried out with low emissions and low energy
consumption, and it will not produce great amount of pollutants. The Group has been
endeavoring to ensure that the production process is in compliance with relevant

environmental rules and regulations.

In the past, the Group has not been in breach of any relevant environmental rules and
regulations and has not been imposed any relevant penalty. It is expected that the future
operational activities of the Group would not be affected by the environmental policies.
The Group strives for energy conservation and consumption reduction. In reducing the

operating costs, the Group also puts efforts in environmental protection.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in mainland
China while the Group itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this Report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong, and there is no material breach of or non-compliance

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS
Outlook

Looking forward to the future, the Group will continue to focus on both domestic and
overseas markets, continue to be deeply engaged in the wireless mobile sector, focus on
traditional businesses including antenna system business and RF subsystem business, and
actively explore the "5G+" vertical industry application, and continue to make efforts and

expand into new businesses such as energy conservation and new energy.

In the four years since the official launch of 5G commercialization in China, China's 5G
development has experienced three development stages, namely strategic layout, system
promotion and application implementation, and significant achievements have been
made in 5G commercialization. In order to promote the healthy and rapid development
of the telecommunications industry, a series of policies have been promulgated in
“14th Five-Year" Plan for the development of the information and

“Sailing” Action Plan for 5G Application (2021-2023)" and

Ching, including the

communications industry, the
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EEEWR T

other guiding documents, to facilitate the development of the industry. According to the
2023 Communications Industry Statistics Bulletin”, by the end of 2023, the total number
of mobile communication base stations in China reached |1.62 million, of which 3.377
million were 5G base stations, accounting for 29.1% of the total number of mobile base
stations, representing an increase of 7.8% as compared with the end of the previous year.
5G network construction is further promoted. At present, China's 5G development has
entered the second half. For the next step of 5G development, major domestic operators
have expressed their views that they have to “build 5G premium networks, deepen 5G
co-construction and sharing, and further improve the coverage of 5G networks in rural
and remote areas, provide better universal telecommunications services” as well as “expand
the boundaries of capabilities and open up a new track for 5G applications. For example,
for the traffic management of the Internet of Vehicles and vehicle-road collaboration,
comprehensive information services can be provided through Integrated Sensing and
Communication technology”. With the comprehensive expansion and optimization of
fundamental network construction, the telecommunications industry will enjoy room for

continuous growth.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

& o QOBFEBEFRLTLAH)FRR - BE
WRFE - 2EBHBREELEEE 08
@ EpsGHRIULA377EE  EBBELE
E129.1%  EHBR EFRIBATSEE DS
SGRBERRAAEES - BABEASGER
BEATES  HRSGCT—HHER - BR

ITREEAMHRE  RBMTEGHERS
i RESGHEAR - #—FRARNKE
EWERSCBMBEKE  RUEHTENE
EEERY) BR[HRENER - FESG
ERMEE - LNHREHBERER &
BinE - BRRR RN REZTLE
AR | - BEEERBEERN2EHRIE
£ BEXKDRSENERER -

29



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWR DN

With regard to overseas markets, the prospect for 5G development is promising.
According to the statistics of the Telecommunication Development Industry Alliance, in
terms of base station construction, as of the end of December 2023, the total number
of 5G base stations deployed globally exceeded 5.17 million, with a cumulative annual
increase of .53 million, representing a period-on-period increase of 7.48%. Regulatory
authorities in various countries have also gradually implemented 5G spectrum auction/
allocation. 304 operators in |19 countries and regions around the world have launched
commercial 5G networks based on 3GPP standards. 5G SA network investment and
construction are accelerating. It is estimated that there will be 6.50 million 5G base stations
worldwide in 2025. At present, the global base station construction is in an uneven state.
4G construction is not yet saturated, and there is still a large scale of construction. The
construction of 5G base stations is still being promoted. Meanwhile, the domestic 5G
base station construction has always been maintained at a high level, and the domestic 5G
development is always in the top-tier of the world, with relatively mature technology and
experience, which will bring certain advantages in the global market competition in the
future. Looking forward, the Group will, on the one hand, further expand its presence in
overseas operator markets, be continuously included in the shortlist by major multinational
and regional operators, and, on the other hand, continue to deepen the strategic
cooperation relationship with international equipment manufacturers, thus continuously
increasing the Group's share in the global market in the long term. The persistence in
expanding the presence in the global market will not only help advance the upward

development in the next few years but also achieve sustained growth for a longer period.
Customers

The Group persists in the vision and goal of “becoming the world's first-class supplier
of RF technology for mobile communications.” The Group is committed to providing
RF technology solutions to global leading system equipment manufacturers and

telecommunication operators.
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The Group s also one of the few domestic technology providers offering RF solutions to
both global system equipment manufacturers and telecommunication operators, which
enables the Group to maintain a continuous leading edge in product technology and

continuous expansion of customer channels.

At present, China has built the world's largest 5G network, with new applications and new
scenarios continuously emerging. In the future, we will focus on expanding the depth and
breadth of 5G network coverage, consolidate the digital base, and continue to promote
the depth of 5G network coverage in key scenarios in urban areas. Furthermore, efforts
will be made to extend the coverage to townships and rural areas, injecting new growth
momentum into the industry chain of the telecommunications industry. With regard
to domestic customers, we continued to expand and deepen the relevant strategic
cooperation interface in 2023. While existing major domestic operator customers have
continuously implemented projects for which we won bids, new collaborations have
emerged in areas such as indoor distributed antenna, panel antennas, passive components
and ICT. In the future, we will continue to maintain our dominant position as a traditional
supplier and deeply engage in relevant demands. In addition, the Group continued to
maintain its advantages as a leading supplier of domestic equipment manufacturers by
virtue of its good product technology, quality performance and customer communication,
and cooperated with them in various forms in the field of antenna and radio frequency. In
recent years, the Group has also actively explore the “5G+" vertical industry application
areas, increased the layout of new businesses such as energy conservation and new
energy. The Group continuously explored the growth opportunities in new businesses
and has achieved a certain level of success. In addition to the gradual launch of new
projects in photovoltaic and other fields, the Group also tapped into potential customers
such as government and enterprise clients as well as consumer base. It is believed that this
will also lay the foundation for the Group's sales channels and performance growth in the
future. By maintaining stable relationships with operators and equipment manufacturer
customers, as well as developing and exploring the potential of customer base in new
fields, the Group will balance its strategies in the operation of multiple projects so as to

achieve the goal of continuous growth in performance and the expansion of market share.
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56 Smart Driving

With regards to overseas customers, despite being significantly impacted by the general

environment, the Group maintained a competitive advantage in the overseas market by
virtue of continuous technology accumulation and market expansion. The Group also
continued to expand its overseas customer base, successively won bids of international
operators' project projects, and maintained strategic cooperation relationship with
major international equipment manufacturer customers, and maintained a dominant
market share, all of which have laid a solid foundation for market growth in the next
few years. At the same time, the Group's continuous expansion in overseas markets
in the early stage has also entered the shortlist of some major multinational operators.
With the advancement of overseas base station construction in the future, there will still
be greater market opportunities. The Group will also make greater efforts to promote
the technological upgrading of products and improve product coverage, so as to meet
the demand of overseas operator customers, and continuously advance the inclusion
in the new shortlist. In addition, through the continuous deepening of cooperation with
international equipment manufacturer customers, the steady recovery of order delivery

will also bring stable business growth.
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Products

Since the official launch of 5G commercialization in China, the network coverage and
the co-construction and sharing have been continuously optimized, achieving leapfrog
development from making breakthroughs in 3G, keeping pace in 4G, and leading in 5G.
At present, China has built the world's largest and technologically advanced 5G network.
The rapid development of digital economy, Al computing power, satellite communication,
and other related areas has led to a critical phase of scaled development in the integration
and application of 5G across industries. Currently, the domestic 5G construction,
deployment and large-scale application are progressing solidly, with a steady improvement
in base station construction. The development of 5G in China is entering the second
half stage. For overseas, the overall development of 5G remains highly unbalanced,
and the imbalance between regions continues to exist in the long term. There s still a
large demand for LTE network construction in some emerging markets, which will bring
incremental demand for overseas LTE and 5G base stations in the future. The above
will collectively drive the demand growth of antenna system, RF subsystem and related
products in vertical application. At present, China is in a global leading position in the
field of 5G communication. The leading technology and the accumulation of experience
provide the Group with strong technical advantages in deploying 5G overseas, which also
greatly improve the competitiveness of the Group. Currently, with technically superb
design solutions and professional and sophisticated functional indicators, the Group
has continuously undertaken a number of R&D projects from overseas and domestic
customers and passed corresponding tests, laying the foundation for the growth of sales

revenue in the future.
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In 2024, domestic 5G infrastructure is expected to undergo extensive development.
While covering remote areas, the existing 5G base stations will undergo upgrades and
optimizations. The goal is to achieve a widespread coverage initially and then focus on
optimizing coverage depth, continuously improving the network coverage level. At the
same time, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology proposed to promote the
development of 5G lightweight (RedCap) technology evolution and application innovation.
This has also led to the development of domestic antennas towards an ecological model
of integration with multi-frequency and multi-systems. In addition, the demand for
overseas LTE network construction and complex multi-network stations will bring about
a further upgrade of multi-frequency and multi-system antenna and multibeam antenna

technologies, making them closer to ultimate design and manufacturing.

According to the forecast of the Forward Industry Research Institute, with the
technological evolution from 4G to 5G and the upcoming 6G, “the radio frequency (RF)
component in the base station construction is becoming increasingly important. The
proportion of RF investment in base stations is expected to continuously increase, further
driving the expansion of the market size of the 5G base station RF industry. It is estimated
that the market size will exceed 60 billion by 2025". As the demand for 5G lightweight
technology arises, RF products will become more compact and lightweight. High-end
products and enhancement of its status as a core supplier are conducive to increasing the
market share and profitability of the Group’s RF subsystem products, continuously driving

a new round of growth in the future.
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The rich application scenarios are created in the 5G era, which enables the development
of new business forms in vertical industries. Diversified product demand will provide
broad market space. In order to realize the industrial transformation and upgrading,
the Group has implemented a number of new communication scenarios in the field of
“communications + new energy/energy conservation”. With the increasing investment
year by year in green energy and the increasing maturity of new energy technologies such
as photovoltaic, wind energy and batteries, the “energy conservation/new energy’ industry
is gradually expanding, which is believed to become a new source of performance growth

for the Group.
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Conclusion

In the future, with the in-depth development of overseas 4G construction and the
continuous large-scale construction of 5G in China, the telecommunication equipment
industry will generally remain in a growth cycle. The Group believes that the diversified
business structure is beneficial to the steady expansion of market share in the future.
Looking forward, in addition to focusing on the continuous iteration and innovation of
existing products, the Group will also increase investment in research and development
and develop new product platforms to cope with the development of customers’ 5G
technology evolution and application innovation. With the continuous expansion and
deepening of the service and cooperation with domestic and overseas operator customers
and equipment manufacturer customers, and the continuous expansion of new businesses,
this will bring greater market share and more new opportunities for business growth to

the Group in the future, creating more value for shareholders and the society.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has funded the Group's operation and capital requirements with cash
generated from business, trade credit from our suppliers and short-term bank borrowings.
Our primary uses of cash have been for our increased working capital needs and capital

expenditures on purchases of production equipment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB153.05
million (2022: approximately RMB186.29 million) including inventories of approximately
RMB149.92 million (2022: approximately RMB180.84 million), trade receivables and
notes receivable of approximately RMB324.88 million (2022: approximately RMB387.16
million) and trade payables and notes payable of approximately RMB571.50 million (2022:
approximately RMB582.43 million).

The Group maintained effective management of its working capital. For the year ended
31 December 2023, average inventories turnover, average receivables turnover and
average payables tumover were approximately | | | days (2022: 124 days), 203 days (2022:
2272 days) and 387 days (2022: 349 days) respectively. We offer credit terms generally
accepted in the antenna system and base station RF subsystem manufacturing industry to
our trade customers. In general, the average credit period for local network operators is

longer than global network operators and solution providers.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a pledged bank deposits of approximately
RMB132.36 million (2022: approximately RMB89.79 million), cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB198.67 million (2022: approximately RMB174.28 million) and recorded
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB95.00 million (2022: approximately
RMB38.56 million). The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
decreased from approximately |.25 times as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
[.21 times as at 31 December 2023. The gearing ratio (bank borrowings divided by total
assets) was approximately 7.6% as at 31 December 2023 as compared with a gearing
ratio of approximately 2.9% as at 31 December 2022. The interest rates on the Group's
bank borrowings are designated as fixed rates or floating rates based on prevailing market

rates.
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The Board is of the opinion that the Group has a solid and stable financial position and
adequate resources to satisfy necessary operating capital requirements and foreseeable

capital expenditures.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

RMB is the functional currency of the Group. Currencies other than RMB expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. We have foreign currency sales and purchases and
certain trade receivables and bank balances are denominated in USD, EUR and HKD.
We currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management

monitors and will consider hedging of foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately |,447 staffs. The total staff
costs amounted to approximately RMBI186.27 million for the year ended 2023. The
remuneration of the Group's employees is determined on the basis of their responsibilities
and industry practices. Regular training is provided to improve the skills and expertise of
relevant staff. The Group also grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible

staffs based on their performance.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023, bank balances of approximately RMB132.36 million were
pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills payable granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 3| December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During 2023, a total amount of 6,242,000 shares of the Company had been repurchased
at prices ranging from HK$0.18 per share to HK$0.27 per share by the Company via
Stock Exchange. The Company had subsequently cancelled all these shares repurchased
during the year. Save as mentioned above, neither the Company nor the Company or any
of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the

current year.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May 2024 (“2024 AGM"), the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 24 May 2024 to Wednesday,
29 May 2024, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2024 AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for registration with the Company's
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Company's
Registrar”) at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 May 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of corporate governance
to maximize the operational efficiency, corporate values and shareholder returns of
the Company. The Company adopted sound governance and disclosure practices and
continued to upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control management and

reinforce the corporate governance structure.

Save for the deviation disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the
principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “"Code
Provisions”) as set out in Appendix C| of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors, including three executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The following sets

out the composition of the Board, by category of Directors:

Executive Directors:
Hu Xiang (Chairman)
Zhou Lingbo (Note )
Ye Rong (Note 2)

Non-executive Director:

Qu Degian

Independent non-executive Directors:
Li Tianshu

Zhang Han

Ge Xiaojing

The Board's composition demonstrates a balance of core competence with regard to the
business of the Group so as to provide effective leadership and the required expertise to
the Group. The executive Director and senior management have extensive management
experience in the wireless communication antennas and base station RF subsystems
industry. The biographical details and experience of the Directors and senior management

are set out on pages 106 to |12 of this report.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships among

members of the Board.

Note I: On 21 June, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the appointment of Ms. Zhou Lingbo as

executive director with effect from 21 June, 2023.

Note 22 On 21 June, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the appointment of Mr. Ye Rong as

executive director with effect from 21 June, 2023.
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Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and is entrusted with the
responsibility to supervise the overall management of the business, including establishing
and overseeing the Group's strategic development, business plans, financial objectives,
capital investment proposals and assumes the responsibilities of corporate governance
of the Group. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's businesses to the

executive Directors and members of senior management of the Group.
Board Meetings

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as warranted by
business needs. During the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board meetings, two
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) meetings, one remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) meeting and one nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee") meeting were convened. Details of attendance of Board meetings for
each of the members of the Board are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at

Meetings” below.

Notices for regular Board meetings are given to each Director at least 14 days prior to the
meeting, whereby the Directors can put forward their proposed items into the agenda.
The agenda and the relevant Board papers are then circulated to the Directors not less
than 3 days before a Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make an informed

decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices are given.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as

set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and thus considers them to be independent.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Code Provision of Corporate Governance Code, the Board has adopted
a Board Diversity Policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the Company's
approach to achieving diversity of its Board. The Company recognises that an increase
in diversity at the Board level will support the achievement of its strategic objectives and
sustainable development. The Company seeks to increase Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and specific

needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, Hu Xiang is both the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company, responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board to formulate overall strategies and business development directions for the
Group and for the daily management of the business of the Group, implementation of the
policies, business objectives and plans set by the Board and is accountable to the Board

for the overall operation of the Group.

Code Provision C.2.1

This code provision stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Hu Xiang
is both the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Hu is one of the
founders of the Group and has extensive experience in the telecommunication industry.
Given the current stage of development of our Group, the Board believes that vesting
the two roles in the same person provides our Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilitates the implementation and execution of our Group's business
strategies. We shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time in light of the

prevailing circumstances.

Non-Executive Directors

The term of appointment of all the non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is three years. Under the Company's Articles of Association,
one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director

shall be subject to retirement at least once every three vears.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Remuneration
Committee comprises all the independent non-executive Directors, namely Li Tianshu,
Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing and one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian. The

Remuneration Committee is chaired by Li Tianshu.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in achieving
its objective of attracting and retaining Directors and senior management of the
highest caliber and experience needed to develop the Group's business successfully.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for the development of a fair and
transparent procedure in determining the remuneration policies for the Directors and
senior management of the Company and for determining their remuneration packages.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include:
. formulation of remuneration policy for approval by the Board;

. recommendation to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of

Directors and senior management;

. determination of the remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,

including benefits in kind and compensation payments;

. review and approval of the compensation arrangements in connection with any
loss or termination of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal of executive

Directors and senior management for misconduct; and
. determination of the criteria for assessing employee performance.
No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the Company's remuneration policies, the terms of the service
contracts and the performance of all executive Directors and senior management. Details
of attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings of each of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual Directors at Meetings”

below.

Details of the emoluments of each Director, are set out in note |10 to the financial

statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Li Tianshu, Zhang Han and Ge Xiaojing, one non-executive Director, namely Qu Degian
and one executive Director, namely, Hu Xiang. The Nomination Committee is chaired by
Hu Xiang. Currently all new appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board

whose deliberations are based on the following criteria:

. possession of core competencies, including but not limited to financial literacy,
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and complement the skills and

competencies of the existing Directors on the Board;

. ability to commit time and effort to carry out duties and responsibilities effectively;
and

. possession of a good track record of experience at a senior level in corporations/
organizations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience which are appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company. Details of attendance of Nomination Committee meeting
of each of the members of the Nomination Committee are set out in “Attendance of

Individual Directors at Meetings” below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and responsibilities. The Audit Committee comprises
all the independent non-executive Directors. Zhang Han is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication between the Directors,
the external auditors and chief financial officer as regards their duties relating to, among
other things, financial and other reporting, internal controls and external audits and
to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing independent view and

supervision of financial reporting.
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The Board is of the opinion that the members of the Audit Committee have sufficient
accounting and financial management expertise or experience to discharge their duties.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee include:

. to make recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of

external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of such appointments;

. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

. to develop and implement policies on the engagement of external auditor for non-

audit services;

. to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual and interim reports and
the auditor’s report to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced

assessment of the Group's financial position;
. to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices;

. to oversee the Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal

control systems;

. to ensure the management has fulfilled its duty to maintain an effective internal

control system; and

. to review the external auditor's management letter and any questions raised by the

auditor to the management and the management's response.

Two meetings were held by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Audit Committee reviewed, together with the management and the external
auditors, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and statutory compliance.
In addition to reviewing the Group's risk management and internal control systems and
the effectiveness of the internal audit function, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
independence of the external auditors and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors. Details of attendance of Audit Committee meetings
of each of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in “Attendance of Individual

Directors at Meetings” below.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EZeRRERLZEENBRA RGN
FBEBMASLRABTRERE - BX
ZEENIERAERE:

o BRI BENREINESZEE - 4t
ERBRATHF I R

o BRI MERINERHMABY EERE
1

o  ERNEHERIMNSEBEETIEER
FRAFEVERSK

o BB - FIR - FHWmE R
EEEH—E - RENEBE QR
ARKERBAR :

o BAARENHMBERETBEREE

o EEAKENFBHREER BRER

BRI |

o HEREEEBETRE  ARAUARE
HIEER R

o ERASMNEAZERN A E IR R AL B AR
EEEEHOTNEELEREERENE
& o

BZE20FNANBILEFE  #xZEEgH
BITMAGH - BRLEQHERERINE
ZEMERAENEE2023F 12831 BILEE
ZEREMBHRE  AEERANGHELR
BOIAREHRER - BERZEERRILE
EEBREERNDPELERRANDEZDE
BIE RSN - TR AT INIE A RN 6 B 1 I
BOEINEZEMMT IR EH - SEZZE
ERELHRERZEGGRZFBENTX
[REZHEGRBNR]



Corporate Governance Report

ATTENDANCE OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The Code Provision stipulates that the board should meet regularly for at least 4 times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The attendance of individual Directors
at meetings of the Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the annual general meeting during the year ended 3| December

2023, respectively, is set forth in the table below:
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Name of Directors EEpRE EEE FHZEE
Hu Xiang e 4/4 N/A
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Zhou Lingbo %R 22 N/A
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Ye Rong LS 22 N/A
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Qu Degian JEE® 4/4 /1
Li Tianshu FREF 4/4 /1
Zhang Han IR 4/4 /1
Ge Xiaojing BiEE 4/4 /1
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant
laws, rules and regulations. From time to time, Directors are provided with written
materials to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Directors had fulfilled the
relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended 31
December 2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

Pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary must take no less than
I'5 hours of relevant professional training in each financial year. The Company Secretary
is Mr. Lau Wing and has taken more than |5 hours of relevant professional development

during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”), without prejudice to
and in addition to complying with the applicable requirements set forth in the Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company has since 17 December 2009,
the date on which its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange adopted a stringent system
to avoid potential conflict of interests respecting transactions (“Relevant Transactions”) in
which any Directors are interested in, and transactions with any of our connected persons
(as defined under the Listing Rules) or any company in which the controlling shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company or its shareholders, individually
or collectively, owns a direct or indirect equity interest of 10% or above (including
transactions with ZTE Corporation and Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technologies Co., Ltd.)

("Relevant Companies”), as follows:

(1) Any Relevant Transactions be approved by way of a resolution passed by a majority
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, provided
that any non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director interested
in the transactions in question will declare his or her interest and will abstain from

voting on such matters;

(2)  Any Director has a conflict of interest will not participate or be involved in matters

relating to the Relevant Transactions;
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An executive committee (the “Executive Committee”) comprising the chief financial
officer and the deputy financial officer of the Company has been established to
monitor, review and manage all Relevant Transactions, and to prepare semi-annual
report in relation to the execution of the Relevant Transactions (“Semi-annual

Report") for the supervisory committee’s (the “Supervisory Committee”) review;

The Supervisory Committee comprising three independent non-executive
Directors (each of whom shall not have any interest in any transaction under
consideration by the Supervisory Committee and shall not be in a position of
conflict of interest when acting in such capacity) has been set up, among other
things, to supervise the Executive Committee, review and approve the terms and
conditions of continuing connected transactions and Relevant Transactions, devise
and review rules and guidelines for the Executive Committee to follow, review
Semi-annual Report from the Executive Committee, report its findings to the Board
and give recommendations to the Board to ensure that the Relevant Transactions
will be entered into in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole;

and

The Board will disclose the decisions, findings and recommendations on the
transactions reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Supervisory Committee

in the Company's interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings were held by the Supervisory

Committee to review the report on Relevant Transactions in respect of the sales and

purchase entered into by the Group with the Relevant Companies prepared by the

Executive Committee. As reported by the Supervisory Committee, (i) it had reviewed

and approved the master agreements entered into by the Group and the Relevant

Companies and considered the terms and conditions therein were fair and reasonable; (ii)

it had reviewed the supplier procurement bidding documents and internal procurement

procedures of the Group; (iii) it had devised and reviewed rules and guidelines for

Executive Committee and the Executive Committee had followed accordingly; and (iv)

it had reviewed the report submitted by the Executive Committee. The Supervisory

Committee considered Relevant Transactions conducted during the review period were

in line with the respective master agreements and the intemnal procedures of the Group,

were on fair and normal commercial terms and there was no other matter that needs to

be brought to the attention of the Board and shareholders of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, the external auditors of the
Company, were responsible for providing services in connection with the audit of the

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2.10 million.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which endorsed the view) that,
subject to shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu be
re-appointed as the external auditors of the Company for 2024.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a comprehensive, fair and understandable assessment of
the Group's performance, position and prospects. The management provides such
explanations and information to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the

matters put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of
the Group and for ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with

applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The Group has announced its annual results in a timely manner within the limits of three

months after the end of the financial period, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The main objectives of the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting

mechanism to facilitate the Group in managing risks across its business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board
of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Taskforce. The Board of
Directors assesses and  determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensures that the Group establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board also has overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and

effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group has formulated and adopted a Risk Management Policy for providing direction
in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks on at least an annual basis, the Risk
Management Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners are then assigned

for the management of those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit function to assist the Board of
Directors and the Audit Committee with ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
interal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for their remediation.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the

Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure that they are promptly addressed.

Risk management and internal control reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors at least once a year. The Board of Directors performs an annual
review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
including, but not limited to, changes in the nature and extent of significant risks after
the review in the prior year, the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation
and changing external environment; the scope and quality of the management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and internal control systems; results of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication of the results of monitoring of risk management and
internal control systems to the Board of Directors; significant failures or weaknesses
identified and their related implications; and the effectiveness of the Group's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance. Following its review for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Board of Directors considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and intemal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING AND
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board has established an Inside Information Policy for the handling and dissemination
of Inside Information. The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO™) and the Listing Rules. It discloses inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours,
as provided in the SFO. Before information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures that it is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group is
committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements is not false or
misleading as to material fact, or omission of material fact, and to presenting information in
a clear and balanced way, including through equal disclosure of both positive and negative

information.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue, including the

election of individual Directors for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

Resolutions put forward at our shareholders” meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of our Company and of

the Stock Exchange after each shareholders” meeting,
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 79 of the Company's Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one or
more members of the Company holding together, as at the date of deposit of
the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s). If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 30
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the

Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings may
achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary general meeting following the

procedures set out in paragraph (i) above.

As regards the procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a

Director, they are available on our Company's website (www.mobi-antenna.com).

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquiries to our Company by addressing them to the Company Secretary by mail
at Unit A, 25/F, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong
Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
During the year ended 3| December 2023, save as disclosed below, there has not been

any change in the Company's constitutional documents.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has amended its Articles of
Association to among other things, confirm with the amendments to the Listing Rules and
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands. An up-to-date version of the Company's Articles of

Association is available on the Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group establishes and maintains different communication channels with its
shareholders through the publication of annual and interim reports, information of the
Stock Exchange, a corporate website, and general and investor meetings. The Group is
going to report to its shareholders twice a year and maintains a regular dialogue with

investors.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each

substantially separate issue, including the election of Directors.
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INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE PROFILE OF MOBI

MOBI Development Co,, Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability on 16 December 2002. The shares of the
Company were listed on Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX") on 17
December 2009 (Stock Code: 947).

We are one of the few one-stop providers of wireless communication antennas and base
station Radio Frequency (“RF") subsystems in China. Our business consists of the design,
manufacture, marketing and sale of antennas, base station RF subsystems and solutions
that are the required components of mobile communication coverage systems, including,
wireless access systems (WiFi and PHS), 2G (GSM and CDMA), 3G (TD-SCDMA,
CDMA2000, W-CDMA and WiMax), 4G (TD-LTE and FDD-LTE), 5G, MIMO antennas,

satellite communication and microwave transmission networks.
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We sell our products to network operators in China and overseas directly for deployment
into the networks they are constructing and operating. We also sell our products to some
of the world's leading wireless network solution providers who incorporate our products
into their wireless coverage solutions, such as their proprietary base stations, which they

then sell to network operators worldwide.

The Company relies on scientific management and a people-oriented corporate
culture in pursuing “dedication, devotion, pragmatism and pioneership”. We deem it
our responsibility to provide our employees with an ideal working environment and
development opportunities so that they can exert their full potential. Through scientific
management, we aim to create a good working atmosphere for employees while providing
reasonable incentives to promote their healthy growth. It is our relentless pursuit to satisfy

customers, employees, investors and the whole community.

The Company adheres to the principle of sustainable development and lays great
emphasis on environmental protection throughout its entire product life cycle in the
course of its business operations, from product design and development, procurement of
parts and components, manufacturing to product delivery. Through systematic planning
and operation, we ensure that the impact on the environment is minimized, and that the
use of resources is efficient from the source so as to reduce resource consumption and

achieve energy conservation.

In terms of the establishment of its management system, the Company passed the
ISO9001 Quality Management Systems Certification, TL9000 Information Communication
Technology (ICT) Quality Management System Certification, 1SO14001 Environmental
Management System Certification, 1SO45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certification and ESD 520.20 ESD Protection Management System
Certification. It made efforts in social responsibility management, risk management, carbon
emission, conflict minerals and corporate governance by setting up and strictly complying

with corresponding policies and standards, thereby achieving substantial results.

We are committed to providing quality and sophisticated products and building long-term

partnerships with our customers.
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COMPANY VISION

“Becoming a global leading provider of RF technology for mobile communications.”

CORPORATE MISSION

“Explore and walk on the path to survival and development of the Company with
collective intelligence from employees; continuously bring management and technology
innovation into practice; and develop MOBI into a global leading provider of RF

technology for mobile communications.”

CORE VALUES OF THE COMPANY
“Accountability, devotion, diligence and efficiency, team-spirit, care for people, mutual

respect.”

HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHY OF THE COMPANY
“Human resource is the core to the sustainable rapid development of the Company. We
pay close attention to the performance and remuneration of the employees, as well as

their development.”

TABLE OF CONTENTS
About this Report
Environmental/Occupational Health and Safety Policy of MOBI
General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility of MOBI
Devotion to Environmental Protection
Emissions
Use of Resources
Environment and Natural Resources
Conflict Minerals
Establishment of a Team of Excellence
Staff Employment
Health and Safety
Development and Training
Labor Standards
Staff Activities
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management
Supply Chain Management
Product Liability
Compliance in Operation
Compliance with Laws and Regulation
Anti-corruption
Community Involvement
Charity Activities
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Pursuant to the requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guidelines (“ESG Guidelines"),
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules of the HKEx, the Company is pleased to
publish this report on the environmental, social and governance aspects for the disclosure
on the relevant information (this “Report”). This Report covers the period from | January
2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period"). This Report mainly covers the
performance of MOBI Development's subsidiaries in three places of operation (Shenzhen,
Guangdong; Xi'an, Shaanxi, and Ji'an, Jiangxi) with respect to environmental, social and
governance.

The Board of Directors of the Company assumes full responsibility for the overall
environmental, social and governance strategy and reporting of the Company, and has
established a corporate social responsibility governance structure. The Board is responsible
for assessing, determining and prioritizing the issuers’ risks in relation to environment,
society and governance (including risks to the Company's businesses) and for ensuring that
the Company establishes appropriate and effective environmental, social and goverance
risk management and internal control systems, while the management is responsible for
monitoring and managing the risks associated with environment, society and governance
and the effectiveness of the management system. The management personnel will be
responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while the Board of
the Company will be responsible for the review and approval thereof. The Board has
authorized the environmental, social and governance working group to carry out the
day-to-day work in relation to corporate governance and corporate social responsibility.
The responsibilities of the working group include conducting internal and external
materiality assessments, implementing the strategies and policies of the Board, preparing
environmental, social and governance reports, and collecting and monitoring information
and data related to daily corporate social responsibilities.

The Board of Directors (the “Board"”) of the Company assumes the overall responsibility
on the Company's management tactics and reports on ESG as well as for the identification,
assessment and determination of the Company's risks concerning ESG and ESG target
progression. The Board ensures that the Company has established a proper and effective
system of ESG risk management and internal control. In addition to providing supervision
and guidance, the Board regularly listens to management teams' reports on production
safety, operation and management, internal control, corporate social responsibility and
ESG target. The Board assesses and ranks risk hierarchies, taking consideration of, among
others, the impacts on our corporate strategies, policies, procedures and commitment,
impacts on the Company's competitive edges and management excellence, and current
and future financial impacts on the Company. The Company has established an internal
audit department and will also engage a third party to carry out an independent
assessment of risk and internal monitoring systems every year to provide improvement
suggestions on risk management and internal control as required. The management
personnel will be responsible for checking the information disclosed in this Report, while
the Board of the Company will be responsible for the review and approval thereof.
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The Company conducts business activities in a responsible and sustainable manner to
create value for employees, customers and shareholders, as well as to fulfill its commitment
to the environment and society. We are well aware that exhaust gases and greenhouse
gas emissions, sewage and waste generation can adversely affect the environment and we
also understand the scarcity of natural resources. Therefore, the Company will persist in
adopting appropriate measures to achieve sustainable development during its business
operation. We are convinced that sustainability in business is not just window dressing, but
is essential to the development of the Company. By adopting sustainable development
practices, we will gain a competitive edge, increase our market share and bring value
to our shareholders in the long run. On top of that, we will keep a focus on social

responsibility and continue to take practical actions for the benefit of the community.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with four reporting principles in the ESG

Guidelines, namely “quantitativeness”, “consistency”, “materiality” and "balance”.

“Quantitativeness”: The Company has established internal guidelines and procedures,
by reference to industry practices, guidelines of exchanges or relevant government
departments, laws and regulations, and has collected environmental performance data
from various business departments and kept records from relevant monitoring instruments

or supporting documents.

“Consistency: The statistical method for the data and contents disclosed in the Report is
the same as that for the previous year, and the same statistical and conversion methods
have been used. Relevant historical data have been disclosed in the Report to give
stakeholders a clearer understanding and comparison of the Company's sustainable

development performance.

“Materiality”: In defining material ESG issues related to the Company's business and
stakeholders, we maintain communication with internal and external stakeholders
of the Group to understand their expectations and suggestions. We maintain close
communication with all stakeholders, including employees, investors, customers, suppliers,
local government agencies and local organizations, whether they are affected by or have a

significant impact on our operating business.

“Balance™: This Report presents the Company's environmental, social and governance

performance in an impartial manner.
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The Company understands the importance of the stakeholders’ participation in achieving
its sustainable development, so the Company persists in communicating with relevant
internal and external stakeholders regularly to know about their opinions on the
Company's business development, environmental, social and governance aspects, and to
help us satisfy the stakeholders” expectations. The Company's key stakeholders and the

communication methods with them are as follows:

Stakeholders Communication Methods
KiE BERE
Investors and shareholders . Website of the Group
REERRR - EERY

. Shareholders’ meeting

- BERKE
Employees . Website of the Group
BT - KRS

. Internal email

© NEHER

. Employees training

- BIE
Customers . Website of the Group
EF - EE@

. Customer hotline

- RPER

Suppliers . Website of the Group
(At - EEE

. Business meeting

- EBeR

. Performance evaluation

T
Government and regulatory authorities . Public consultation
B EEEHE VN 8T8

. Email

. ®E
Media and the public . Website of the Group
BHEELR - EESW
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The management of the Group regularly reviews the operation of its various departments,
identifies relevant environmental, social and governance issues, consults and synthesizes
the results of stakeholders’ participation and assesses the significance of these issues to
our business and our stakeholders. We will disclose in this Report the environmental,
social and governance issues we deem to be most material. Our environmental, social
and governance working group has verified and confirmed the major environmental, social
and governance issues and their correlation with the key performance indicators of the

corresponding ESG Guidelines. The materiality assessment results are shown as follows:

Important Issues

Rz #HERERES

AEEERETHRIEHBPIEFRBEIRE
AEEERE HERELEE 2ENES
BEEFNHELEBENER W HEBES
BHEMNEBURSRNENEZN &
HARBEEZNIRE HERERGERERN
AHER - FFWIRR @ REBIEN
HERERERIZEARE e kER
BZRNREEERTERZEE HERE

RIESIMBRERUIEIEMEE - EEMTG
REREIMT

EERE
Environmental

B
. Emissions . Environment and Natural Resources
S 3 ¢ « BRRERRARER
. Use of Resources . Conflict Minerals
- BRER - BRRE

Social

e
. Staff Employment . Employees Activities
- BIERE - BIE®
. Health and Safety . Supply Chain Management
- REEZE - fEEER
. Development and Training . Product Liability
. BRI - EmAfE
. Labor Standards . Community Involvement
. BTEY - HR2E

Governance

BA
. Compliance with Laws and Regulations . Anti-corruption
« BTERRER - kES
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Based on the materiality assessment results, this Report serves to provide an overview
of our sustainable development principles, policies and actual practices under five topics,
namely Devotion to Environmental Protection, Establishment of a Team of Excellence,
Responsible Supply Chain and Product Liability Management, Compliance in Operations

and Community Involvement and Visit and Guidance of Officials of the Government.

ENVIRONMENTAL/OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY OF
MOBI

We are committed to: conducting our business activities in a responsible manner for
the environment and the health and safety of our staff, fulfilling our responsibilities in
protecting the environment and promoting the health and safety of our staff, in order to

provide more competitive products and services to our customers.

To this end, we have developed a clear environmental/occupational health and safety

management policy, requiring us to:

Maintain precautions for strengthening risk management;

Comply with environmental and safety regulations, raise the awareness of all parties;
Advocate green operations, step up emissions reduction;

Emphasize pollution prevention, perform environmental and safety commitments

Pay attention to employee health, ensure safe production;

Create environmental and safety culture, support consultation and participation;
Optimize environmental and safety performance, encourage continuous improvement;

Collaborate with all stakeholders, achieve synergies and progress.

Details of the environmental/occupational health and safety management policy are as

follows:

»  Adhere to the ideology of maintaining precautions in the first place, establish,
implement and maintain a documented EHS (“EHS") management system, to
achieve systematic and standardized management, incorporate risk management
into our normal operations and business activities, and strengthen the identification,
assessment and control of sources of danger and environmental risk factors
of occupational health and safety, emphasize the identification and analysis of
and response to risks and opportunities in our management system, and plan

countermeasures;
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Comply with international agreements, laws and regulations and environmental and
health and safety requirements of relevant parties, continue to provide education
and training on the environment and health and safety, enhance the awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees in terms of the environment and health and

safety, to enhance the initiatives of all employees in taking part;

Promote the philosophy of green operations, adhere to the sustainable
development strategy, and incorporate it into the entire life cycle of products and
services; consider and pay attention to the potential impacts on the environment
in the early stage of the life cycle of products and services; taking into account
the whole life cycle of product, adopt concrete measures in all aspects to prevent
harm to the environment, reduce energy and resource consumption, and strive to

achieve harmonious coexistence with the environment;

Emphasize and raise the awareness of pollution prevention, and take prior control
measures to avoid pollution; meantime, attach significance to the sustainable use
of resources, mitigate and adapt to the climate change, and protect biodiversity
and ecosystem, performing our commitment to environmental protection. The
Company is also committed to eliminating sources of danger, and takes all feasible

measures to reduce occupational health and safety risks;

Put the occupational health and safety of our staff in the first place to ensure that all
business activities strictly comply with respective working procedures and policies,
so as to create a healthy and safe working environment for our employees with a

pursuit of zero injuries and zero accidents;
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»  The Company strives to create and advocate a culture of protecting environment,
saving resources, preventing pollution and paying attention to safety that supports
the environment and occupational health and safety management system to
achieve expected results. We have established and improved the Health and
Safety Committee and ensured its exercise of functions. We have also set and
implemented a mechanism and process for staff consultation and participation
to ensure that our staff can actively participate in occupational health and safety
activities, provide consultative suggestions and opinions and participate in process
of the decision-making, thereby ensuring that our employees at all levels fully
understand and are adequately communicated with the effective occupational

health and safety management and the importance to meet its requirements;

»  Continuously optimize environmental and health and safety management system
performance, persevere in developing new technologies, processes, approaches and
products that are beneficial to the environment and the health and safety of our

employees, and always search for “better solutions”;

»  Advocate the concept of EHS, and incorporate related requirements into our
supply chain management activities, to improve performance with our suppliers,
contractors, and subcontractors from the perspective of the overall supply chain,
with a pursuit of a harmonious balance between corporate development, social
responsibility and the health and safety of our employees, promoting common

progress.

Safe production is a core value of the Company. It is the Company's basic responsibility
to prevent casualties and fatalities of our employees and to create a safe and healthy
working environment. The Company strives to become an outstanding organization with
continuous improvement and long-term development. In developing the Company's
strategic objectives, making action decisions and conducting daily operations, the Company

will consider factors such as economy, environment, health, safety and social responsibility.

All of our management personnel are the medium to promote our priorities in the
environment, health and safety, and the exponent for putting such ideas into practice. All
employees are required to comply with the Company's safety regulations and policies.
Employees are the Company's most essential wealth and each employee's contribution to
the Company is unique and valuable. The Company encourages, recognizes and rewards
employees for their active contributions to the Company's environmental, safety and

health performance.
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GENERAL RULES ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF MOBI
The Company manages its social responsibility and commitment within the scope of
its control and influence, and ensures that the management systems and regulations

it formulates comply with national laws and regulations and internationally recognized

SAB000 ethical standards.

This includes the principles of the following international agreements and relevant
national laws, regulations and policies: International Labor Organization Convention 29
and Convention 05 (forced labor and debt-bondage), Intemational Labor Organization
Convention 87 (freedom of association), International Labor Organization Convention 98
(right to organize and collective bargaining), Intemational Labor Organization Convention
100 and Convention || (equal remuneration and discrimination), International Labor
Organization Convention 135 (workers' representatives), International Labor Organization
Convention 138 and Recommendation 146 (minimum age and recommendations),
International Labor Organization Convention 155 and Recommendation 164 (occupational
safety and health), International Labor Organization Convention 159 (vocational
rehabilitation and employment), International Labor Organization Convention |77 (home
work), The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child under The Universal

Declaration of Human Rights etc.

The Company hires, manages and assigns employees in accordance with the requirements
under relevant laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of the PRC, the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Implementation Regulations of the Labor Contract Law
of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor (Order No. 364 of the State Council), Regulatory
Standards for Penalties Against the Employment of Child Labor (Ministry of Labor, MOF
Document, Laolizi (1992) 27), Regulations on the Special Protection of the Minority
Workers and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC, pays employees” wages at
standards higher than local minimum wages and complies with the provisions of the Labor
Law on working hours, overtime compensation and remuneration. We strictly prohibit the

recruitment of child labor.
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The Company promises not to use any form of forced labor or involuntary labor, to sign
an employment contract with the employee’s consent and full understanding of the terms,
and not to require any employee to pay any “deposit” or deposit their identity documents

at the time of employment.

The Company has appointed the manufacturing director of the senior management team
to take full responsibility for the health and safety of all employees, and has formed Safety
Production Committee of the Group and its subsidiaries for ensuring and achieving safe
production on the part of the Company. The Company has established an occupational
health and safety management mechanism to effectively identify sources of danger and
to reduce and prevent potential threats to employees’ health and safety through hazard

assessment, preventive measures and related emergency mechanisms.

The Company is committed to providing a safe, clean, healthy and productive working
environment for all employees by providing drinking water, medical and sanitation facilities,
fire safety and proper ventilation conditions. The Company will also take necessary
measures on its own initiative to minimize possible hazards in the workplace when
possible in order to avoid work-related accidents and health hazards. The Company
regularly conducts key inspection on the health and safety conditions in the workplace,

canteens and dormitories, and makes constant improvements based on issues identified.

The Company provides training for all employees on health and safety, energy
conservation, environmental protection and various management systems and standards.
In addition, it also provides induction training for new staff, and retraining programs for

transferring staff.

The Company has formed a trade union which helps its members to safeguard their
legitimate rights and interests, encourages regular communications between employees
and the Company, and assists with solving any special difficulties they have. The Company
respects the freedom of all employees to participate in the trade union, and collective

bargaining as well as their freedom of association.
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The Company is strictly prohibited from engaging in or supporting matters based on
race, ethnicity, social hierarchy, nationality, religion, physical disability, gender, age, sexual
orientation, trade union membership or political discrimination in matters relating to the
appointment, remuneration, welfare, training opportunities, promotion, discipline, dismissal

or retirement.

The Company fully respects the personal religious beliefs and ethnic customs of
employees. We prohibit any personal discrimination and infringement of rights. The
Company does not interfere with the rights of employees to observe their religious beliefs

and customs.

The Company undertakes to respect and treat every employee impartially. It prohibits
compulsive, abusive or exploitative acts of intrusion in the form of gesture, language and
physical contact. The Company also prohibits corporal punishment, mental or physical

persecution and verbal humiliation.

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of

corruption, advocates fair and orderly competition and prohibits unfair competition.

In assessing and shortlisting suppliers, the Company considers the ability of suppliers to
meet the requirements of the Company's policy and prioritizes those who have the ability

to meet the requirements.

If necessary, the Company may provide information to stakeholders and communicate
with them on, including but not limited to, the results of its management reviews and
audits. The Company may provide stakeholders with reasonable information and access
to information for them to determine whether the Company fulfills its social responsibility
and ethical commitments. If there is any doubt as to whether the Company fulfills its
obligation on social responsibility and ethical commitments, the Company will conduct
timely investigations before handling and responding to related enquiries. If any employee
presents a question as to whether the Company complies with the requirements of this
provision, the Company will not penalize, dismiss or discriminate against the employee for
it. If any violation of corporate social responsibility and ethical commitments is found, the
Company will take appropriate remedial measures and corrective actions in accordance

with the severity of its nature.
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The Company engages third parties to conduct annual tracking and auditing of the
relevant management system to ensure that it complies with relevant management system
requirements and standards. In recent years, the Company has also received surveys on
the EHS, carbon emissions, conflict minerals from key customers, to which the Company
has given positive response. During the Reporting Period, the Company has not received
any complaints and penalties from government, third parties and customers in these
respects. In order to listen to all different opinions, the Group has a reporting mechanism,
employee suggestion boxes and conducts regular opinion surveys, so that employees
can report suspected misconduct, fraud, improper, fraud-related or safety-related issues
without fear of retaliation. Our reporting mechanism and internal procedures ensure
that the Group will make its best efforts to act confidentially and prudently, without the

divulgence of the identity of the reporters and contents of the reports.

DEVOTION TO ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Company persists in operating its business in an environmentally responsible manner
and adheres to the concept of sustainable development by taking various measures to
reduce the environmental impact arising from its production and business activities with
an aim of achieving harmonious coexistence among the society, the environment and its
stakeholders. The concepts of innovation and environmental consciousness have also been
infiltrated into our entire product life cycle and all business processes from research and
development, production, logistics to customer service. We spare no effort in reducing

energy consumption, resource consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

The Company has been monitoring and managing our emissions for many years. In recent
years, we have also begun to monitor greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption.
We hope to strike a balance between business growth and environmental protection by
improving our business operations and practice, and encouraging employees to work in an

environmentally responsible manner in the workplace.
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The Company complies with the EU RoHS and China RoHS-related Directive. We
conduct comprehensive management of hazardous substances from product design,
procurement, production and delivery, to avoid the use of prohibited substances, and
to ensure that the volume of restricted substances is within relevant restricted ranges.
The Company also provides declarations of hazardous substances and the content
of substances for customers that require them. Where necessary, the Company may
also provide inspection reports from third parties on the composition of substances to

customers as required.

The Company complies with the EU WEEE Directive and adopts ecological design
concept in the product design stage with full consideration of recyclability of products,
generalized design and the most economical design principle, to satisfy the recovery rate
and the recycling rate of products and to minimize the environmental impact on the

product life cycle from the source.

In general, the Company's production process and business nature enable low-emission,
low-energy consumption and low pollutant generation. We are committed to operating
our entire business in compliance with relevant environmental protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not violate any relevant
environmental protection laws and regulations and was not subject to any related penalty

either.

EMISSIONS

The Company focuses on the waste management arising from its operating process.

The Company mainly adopts mechanical processing, assembly and testing for its
production and does not discharge industrial wastewater. The Company's domestic
wastewater mainly comes from the drainage of office washrooms and water from
its kitchen. There is no discharge of toxic, hazardous or special substances. For oily
wastewater produced from cleaning canteen kitchens, solid waste is first filtered through
cleaning tank filters. Preliminary fittered kitchen wastewater will flow towards a three-stage
grease trap, where major pollutants are removed during grease treatment before being
discharged into the municipal sewage pipe network. Toilet sewage will go through septic
tank treatment in the industrial area, and will be discharged through the local municipal

sewage pipe network.
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Industrial exhaust gas arising from the production process of the Company mainly come
from residual lead-free solder exhaust, which is collected from exhaust gas collection
devices installed in the workshops and led to the top floor of the workshops through
pipelines to achieve high-altitude emissions. Meanwhile, we continue to improve the
ventilation of our workshops. The emission of exhaust gases after treatment meets the
“Air Pollutant Emission Limit" standards and produces little impact on the surrounding

environment.

The noise sources of the Company include certain production equipment, such as the
CNC punch press, stamping equipment, die-casting equipment, air conditioning units, air
compressors, cooling towers, fans, pumps and other ancillary power equipment. With
machine layout of the workshops and routine regular equipment maintenance, the noise
generated in the production process meets the “Standard of Boundary Noise of Industrial

Enterprise” and has limited impact on the surrounding environment.

The solid waste produced by the Company includes general industrial solid waste,
domestic waste and a small amount of hazardous waste. Among these, the general
industrial solid waste mainly comprises of production packaging materials, metal scrap,
lead-free slag and plastic scrap, which are sold to relevant external parties after collection
by category, for recycling treatment. Domestic waste is handled by environmental and
health departments after collection by category. Residual hazardous waste produced
during the production process mainly comprises of waste organic dissolvent, waste empty
containers, waste oil, waste hydraulic oil and waste cutting solvent, the volume of which
falls below the minimum requirements for transport, and so they are regularly delivered
to external parties with relevant qualifications in hazardous waste disposal for collective

treatment.
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In addition, through continuous improvement of our production process, including the
gradual shift to semi-automatic or fully automated production methods, the Company
strives to enhance production capacity and reduce labor input to increase production
efficiency, while improving staff training and management to enhance operating
performance, consummating and standardizing the management system of the Company,
vigorously promoting clean production, and actively pursuing energy-saving measures by
using environmentally friendly materials and improving the utilization of raw materials. We
use recyclable packaging materials as many as possible to reduce pollutant emissions and

achieve advanced circular economic standard.

Consumption of Packaging Materials
(Tons)

950 925.5
900
o
800
750
700
650 6394
600 —_—
2022 2023

Consumption of Packaging Materials per Unit
(Tons/unit)
0003 0.002982

00028
00026

00024
00022

0.002056

0.002
2022 2023

Note: Antenna products used more packaging materials than other product categories, and the output of
antennas increased by 100.06%. Therefore, the total consumption of packaging materials and the

shipment and consumption per unit in 2023 increased as compared with 2022.
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The Company's statistics on waste in 2023 are as follows:

192,000

188,000

184,000

180,000

176,000
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130.00

110.00

90.00

70.00

50.00

Industrial wastewater: none.

Domestic sewage:190,427 tons, recording an increase in total output and output
per person from 2022. Due to the water usage in the new die-casting workshop
and the fiber reinforced plastic cover workshop in Ji'an site area and the decrease
in the total number of employees, the overall total amount of domestic sewage
and output per person increased. The Company has not encountered any major

problems in obtaining suitable water sources.

Domestic Sewage Output

Tons
( ) 190,427

179,114

2022 2023

Domestic Sewage Output per Person
(Tons/person)

121.21

2022 2023
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2. Lead-free solder exhaust: traces in compliance with regional environmental standard

and without significant environmental impact.

Factory noise: in compliance with regional environmental standards.

General solid waste (recyclable): in 2023, the amount of general solid waste
(recyclable) was 73.15tons, and the amount of waste per working hour was
0.000032 tons, which was a trace amount. There was a decrease in the generation
of solid waste (recyclable) as compared with 2022 due to the decrease in

production in 2023.

General Solid Waste (Recyclable) Output

(Tons)
7 7441

74
73.15
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72
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68

2022 2023

General Solid Waste (Recyclable) Output per Working Hour

0.000040 (Tons/working hour)

0.0000341

0.000032

2022 2023

0.000032
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Household waste: in 2023, the amount of household waste was 252.2 tons, and the
amount of waste per person was 0.16. Household waste decreased as compared
with 2022 due to the decrease in the number of employees and the strengthening

of precise management of waste classification in 2023.

Household Waste Output

2750 2729 (Tons)
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2550 252.2
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Household Waste Output per person

02 (Tons/person)

0.16 0.16

015 '

0.l

0.05

2022 2023

Hazardous waste: in 2023, the amount of hazardous waste was 3.96 tons, and
the amount of waste per working hour was 0.0000017. Due to the hazardous
waste generation in the new die-casting workshop and the fiber reinforced plastic
cover workshop in Ji'an site area and the expiry of some of the waste fluxes in the
antenna workshop, the amount of hazardous waste output and output per working
hour increased. Based on the Company's average annual reduction in hazardous
waste generation, continuously taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets
annual targets to manage and control the hazardous waste output per working
hour, which is estimated to be reduced by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65% in 2030. In
order to achieve the expected objectives, the Company will make the following

efforts:
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set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

strengthen the source control of hazardous waste generation, rationalize the
procurement of chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil and other items to eliminate

the generation of excess hazardous waste;

strengthen the management and control of the use process, collect
chemicals, cutting oil, engine oil, etc. as needed, and store and use them in
accordance with the instructions to avoid waste of chemicals, cutting oil,

engine oil, etc, resulting in excess hazardous waste;

control and manage hazardous waste in strict accordance with the
requirements of the latest national hazardous waste list, and dispose of

hazardous waste in a reasonable and compliant manner;

implement measures such as anti-seepage and leakage prevention in the
storage area of hazardous waste to avoid the proliferation and pollution of
hazardous waste.

Hazardous Waste Output

(Tons)
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The statistics about the Company's total greenhouse gas emissions in 2023 were as

ARENOBFERERBAFHERF AR

follows: NS
2023 2022
2023F 2022
Carbon emissions Carbon emissions
(carbon dioxide Volume per (carbon dioxide Volume per
Emission equivalent) working hour equivalent) working hour
BmE 879781 BATIRE 7879761 BUTKE
(ZE{BRER) (Z&EtHER)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tons) 776027 0.0034/working hour 704206  0.0032/working hour
BERBAYINE () 00034, LB 00032/ Ik
Scope | direct emissions — emissions from
vehicles, power generators and boilers (tons) 202,11 0.0001/working hour 21668  0.0001/working hour
BRI (RE ) - 78  BERK
SRR B (WA) 00001,/ TH 00001,/ LB
Scope 2 Indirect emissions — emissions from
electricity (tons) 7558.15  0.0033/working hour 6,82538  0.0031/working hour
fliZ H ($E2) — MBS (H8) 00033/ T# 00031,/ TH

As the Company’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly involve electricity and relevant energy,
there is a goal of reducing electricity consumption in 2023. Taking 2022 as the base year,
the electricity consumption per working hour in 2023 was reduced by 1%. Meanwhile, for

this purpose, the Company will make the following efforts:

the Company will adopt measures such as Operation Thunder (i.e. formulating
water inspection standards, strengthening the frequency of daily inspections,
focusing on the inspection of faucets and water valves, water pipes, sewers,
direct drinking water, canteen dishwashers, operating pools, green spraying, etc,
confirming that there is no abnormality or water leakage, meanwhile, posting water
conservation signs to strengthen employees’ awareness of water conservation,
inspecting to achieve the purpose of promoting employees to save water and
promptly making improvements when problems are identified) to save energy and

reduce emission;

2. in daily production, the Company will reduce the energy and electricity
consumption of each production equipment by continuously strengthening the
daily maintenance of production equipment and carrying out optimization through

technological measures, etc,
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3. the Company will continue to carry out publicity for the employees’ awareness of
energy saving and consumption reduction, so that the employees will develop the
habit of saving electricity in daily work, such as tuming off the lights when people

walk away, thus reducing the electricity consumption.

Note |:Total working hours in 2023 were 2,271,831.518 hours. Total working hours increased as

compared with 2022, due to the increased difficulty in product production process in 2023.

Note 2: The calculation of the above greenhouse gas emissions is based on the 2019 China Regional Grid
Baseline Emission Factors announced by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People's

Republic of China.

Note 3:The total greenhouse gas emissions and the emissions per working hour increased slightly as
compared with those of 2022. For detailed analysis of reasons, please refer to the following

description on usage of energy resources.

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
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USE OF RESOURCES: ENERGY, WATER AND OTHER RAW MATERIALS

The main raw materials consumed in the Company's production are aluminum, copper,
steel, plastic, PCB boards and others. At the product level, we focus on the efficient use of
resources. In the product development stage, we conduct rigorous design and assessment
to assure product features and performance while using a variety of materials in the most
frugal manner by the use of environmentally friendly and recyclable or reusable materials.
This not only ensures that costs can be controlled, but also reduces the consumption of
resources. We promote clean production and strengthen equipment maintenance while

improving energy efficiency.

In our daily office operations, we advocate the concept of energy-saving. Through regular
self-examinations, inspection and reporting, we enhance the awareness and capability of
our staff in energy-saving and reducing emissions. Meanwhile, we advocate a paperless
office to reduce the use of paper, and always recycle and reuse waste paper, such as print

and copy paper.

The Company attaches great importance to electricity saving, and promotes environmental
protection and energy conservation through the implementation of relevant policies
and measures to achieve energy conservation and consumption reduction. For example,
we make full use of natural light when the weather is bright. We always choose energy
saving products when purchasing lamps and electrical appliances. We switch off idle
lights, computers and electrical appliances. In summer, our air conditioning is generally
set at room temperature of above 26 degrees. We conduct timely maintenance of
air conditioners to ensure their good operation. In addition, we encourage the use of
telephone and video conferencing systems to reduce business travel. We also post some

energy-saving tips on our intranet to remind employees to practice energy-saving ideas.

In terms of water saving, water in the Company comes from the city water supply system.
[t is mainly used as domestic water in our offices. Our production process does not
involve industrial water and therefore does not have a serious adverse impact on rivers,
lakes and underground water. We develop and refine water-saving management system
and use water saving faucets and others, to ensure that the concept of water-saving is

implemented in practice.
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RE #HEREAR

wE

Achieving the efficient use of resources not only requires a sound management system BERERER TEFETENEEGE -
and implementation of relevant policies, but also the cooperation and support of staff. HERRNEERERNRETINRANY
The Company strives to create a corporate culture that treasures resources, enhances o ARRSNeELRERNEEXIL
employee awareness of environmental issues, and encourages employees to actively RREINRREH ZEEIRG2EN
participate in and fulfill our environmental commitments. BRIRRAG o

The major energy and resources consumed by the Company in daily life are electricity, AREBERBNEZRRNERAES -
water, paper, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The following table shows the use of energy 7K  #K 5k ~ RARM T HEH « TRIIR

resources for 2023 and 2022:

Energy Consumption

RRH#

Electricity (KWh)
E(ThE)

Water (Tons)

7K (1)

Paper (Sheets)

# (%)

Canteen liquefied gas (Litres)
RER(R(T)

Motor gasoline (Litres)
BRI (71)

Motor and power generator diesel (Litres)

BRREEEASH ()

2023

2023 F 2022 FE 8L

2023

Total Consumption

AR

9,398,348.64

211,584.00

2,103944.00

9,505.12

33,363.89

24,766.42

Consumption

per working hour

EUTRERE

4.137/working hour
4137,/ IH
0.093/working hour
0.093/ T B
0.926/working hour
0926,/ T
0.004/working hour
0004, T
0.015/working hour
0015,/ TB
0.0 /working hour
0011,/ Tk

ELERERLA

20234 3}

BEREABR

2022
202F
Consumption

Total Consumption per working hour

HERE BUTRERE
8487,171.37  3.887/working hour
3887/ I

186,625.59  0.085/working hour
0085,/ TB

2,326,156.00  1.065/working hour
1065,/ T

12,419.50  0.006/working hour
0006, T B

27,239.07  0012/working hour
0012/ T8

31,95028  0.015/working hour
0015,/ Tk
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Total Consumption of Energy BEREEME
2022 2023 W 20224 W2023%F
10,000,000 9,398,348.64 10,000,000 9,398,348.64
848717137 848717137
8,000,000 8,000,000
6,000,000 6,000,000
4,000,000 4,000,000
232615600 - 9,103,944.00 232615600 9,103944.00
2,000,000 2,000,000
0 18662559 211,584.00 0 18662559 211,584.00
Electricity (KWh) Water (Tons) Paper (Sheets) E (TEE) K (1) # (3R)

Total Consumption of Energy BERCHFERE (1)
(Litres) =200 m2023 W 20224 W2023%F
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34,000 3336389y 0500 34000 3336189 3195028
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24,000 b
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19,000
19,000
14,000 12,419.50
9,505.12 14,000 12,419.50
9,000
Canteen liquefied gas Motor gasoline Motor and power 9,000
generator diesel BERILE BAAM HEAREEHABLH
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(Electricity, Paper) H200E m2023E
202 m2023 45 -
45 4137 .
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36 36
27 27
1.8 1.8
1.065 1.065
09 0.926 09 0926
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Electricity Paper E5) Fid
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Among which:

The total consumption of electricity and the consumption per working hour in
2023 increased over those in 2022, mainly due to the consumption of electricity
in the new die-casting workshop and the fiber reinforced plastic cover workshop
in Jian site area, resulting in an increase in overall consumption of electricity and
consumption per working hour. For the purpose of saving resources and protecting
the environment, continuously taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets
annual targets to manage and control the amount of electricity generated per
working hour and greenhouse gas emissions per working hour, which are estimated
to be reduced by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65% in 2030. In order to achieve the

expected objectives, the Company will take the following measures:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

2. strengthen equipment transformation and improve efficiency;

3. renovate lighting energy-saving, control and improve electricity quality, and

improve electricity utilization rate;

4. formulate electricity usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections,

and identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

5. promote and train all employees on energy saving to strengthen the

awareness of electricity saving.
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The total consumption of water and the consumption per working hour in 2023
increased over that in 2022, mainly due to the water usage in the new die-casting
workshop and the fiber reinforced plastic cover workshop in Ji'an site area, resulting
in an increase in overall consumption of water and consumption per working hour.
Taking 2021 as the base year, the Company sets annual targets for water output
per working hour, which is estimated to be decreased by 3.94% in 2025 and 8.65%
in 2030. In order to achieve the expected objectives, the Company will make the

following efforts:

set management and control objectives annually and incorporate them into

daily management activities;

2. strengthen the daily maintenance and management of water facilities to
reduce or even eliminate the occurrence of water leakage and other

abnormalities;

3. formulate water usage inspection standards, strengthen daily inspections, and

identify problems and rectify them in a timely manner;

4. post water conservation signs, promote and train all employees on energy

saving, and strengthen employees’ awareness of water conservation.

The total consumption of papers and the consumption per working hour in 2023
increased over those in 2022, mainly because the production and the number of
employees decreased, and the Company continued to promote online approval
of documents, strengthened the approval of paper applications and strictly
controlled the amount of paper applications in 2023. The employees’ awareness
of saving paper was enhanced, which led to a decrease in paper consumption and

consumption per working hour.
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The total consumption and the consumption per working hour of canteen liquefied
gas in 2023 decreased over those in 2022, mainly due to the reduction in canteen
liquefied gas consumption caused by the decreased number of employees and the

decreased number of employees dining in canteens in 2023.

The total consumption of motor gasoline and the consumption per working hour
in 2023 both increased over those in 2022, mainly due to the factors such as
the increase in the number of employees on business trips, the advancement of
the Company's R&D projects, and the replacement of rented shuttle buses with
internal vehicles within the Shenzhen site area. As a result, the vehicle utilization
rate has increased, leading to an increase in the total amount of motor gasoline and

output per working hour.

The total consumption of diesel and the consumption per working hour in
2023 both decreased over those in 2022, mainly due to the decrease in the
transportation of truck products, resulting in a decrease in the total amount of

diesel and the output of working hour.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Based on the nature of the Company's main business, our business activities will not have
a significant impact on the environment and natural resources. However, the Company
will continue to enhance environmental protection to reduce any adverse effects on the

environment brought about by our business operations.

According to the environmental laws, regulations and relevant policies of the PRC,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environment Protection Tax Law of People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Law of the
People's Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution, Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes, and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China.
When carrying out project construction, the Company will assess the potential pollution
arising during the construction and production process, the feasibility of governance
measures, whether production processes and products are in line with clean production
requirements, and the impact of the actual discharge of pollutants on surrounding
environment. An Environmental Impact Assessment Report (“EIA Report™) will be
submitted to the environmental protection department in accordance with the laws and

regulations.

With regard to major climate changes which may occur and affect the Company, such
as typhoons, rainstorms and earthquakes, the Company has formulated the Emergency
Preparation and Response Control Procedure, and routinely prepares an annual
emergency response plan according to the requirements of the document. In case of any
major climate change, the Company carries out emergency treatment according to the

emergency response plan.
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CONFLICT MINERALS

Since the late 1990s, most of the minerals mining in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo and its neighboring countries and territories has contributed to local armed
conflicts, leading to long-term instability in the region and creating serious human rights
and environmental problems. In 2012, the US Securities and Exchange Commission has
required all securities issuers whose production processes involve the use of four types of
minerals, namely tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold, to disclose their mineral sources. These
four types of conflict minerals are widely used in the information and communications
technology product manufacturing industry. The Company takes the initiative to refrain
from using minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas and conducts surveys on
conflict minerals every year in cooperation with clients. The Company has signed Conflict
Minerals Agreements with a total of 195 related suppliers in 2023, and has undertaken not

to procure and use metal minerals from conflict-affected or high-risk areas.

Quantity Distribution of Suppliers
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ESTABLISHMENT OF A TEAM OF EXCELLENCE

The Company is committed to creating a good working environment for its employees.
We attach great importance to the value of talents, and select and make good use of
talents in a variety of ways. We mainly recruit through on-campus and general recruitment.
Our recruitment procedure is open, fair and reasonable. The Company has established
a series of procedures and systems for standardized human resource recruitment and
training, which have been strictly implemented. The human resource and corporate
cultural management center of the Company undertakes education and training functions
at all levels of the Company, providing valuable seminars to support and strengthen
the knowledge and skills of employees for the benefit of their career development and
promotion. The Company provides competitive remuneration packages, and sets working
hours complying with relevant national policies and regulations. We also provide various
types of paid leave, as required by the government, and do not allow any inequality or

discrimination in respect of job opportunities and other aspects.
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STAFF EMPLOYMENT
. Employment Chart:
(1) Region Distribution Chart:

By Region (Person)

B Shenzhen ™ Xi'an m Ji'an

450

649

(2)  Age Distribution Chart:

Age Distribution of Employees

M 30 and below W 31-40 W 4150 W 51-60 B 6| and above

46 2

407

(3)  Education Structure Chart:

Education Structure

 Master's degree  Bachelor’s
and above degree

High school or
W College M technical secondary
school and below

27
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(4)  Employment Type Distribution:

Employment Type Distribution

B Number of labor B Number of contracted
dispatch workers employees

16l

1,286

(5)  Gender Distribution Chart:

Gender Distribution

B Number of Male = Number of Female
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Region)
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Employee Turnover Rate (by Education Structure)

69.45%

1
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23.08% 22.35% I
Master's degree Bachelor’s College

and above degree

High school or
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Note: The Company further strengthened the promotion of its corporate culture, increased employee

benefits and job allowances, and improved employee satisfaction, thereby reducing the employee

turnover rate.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Company established an occupational health and safety management system which
was recognized by the I1SO45001. The day-to-day operation of the Company follows
national laws and regulations, including the Production Safety Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Law of the People's Republic of China on Prevention and
Treatment of Infectious Diseases, the Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Regulations on Safety Supervision
of Special Equipment, the Regulation on Work Safety Permits, the Measures for the
Administration of Registration of Hazardous Chemicals, the Social Insurance Law of the
People's Republic of China and the Measures for the Administration of Occupational
Health Examination, and its health and safety policy and regulations to ensure a safe and
healthy working environment and to protect the physical and mental health and safety of
our employees. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any report on

the violation of laws and regulations related to health and safety in workplaces.

Staff health examinations: The Company provides staff health examinations on an
annual basis. Funded by the Company, all staff are entitled to physical health checks
at medical institutions where medical reports as well as health advices will be

provided.

2. Occupational disease inspections: The Company conducts occupational disease
inspections on annual basis for employees identified with potential exposure to
minimize the risks. In 2023, a total of 350 employees have been arranged for

occupational disease inspections.
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(Note:

Work injury data: In the past three years, there were no cases of death arising out
of work-related injuries in the Company. In the meantime, the Company recorded
the total reportable accident rate per a million working hours of 0.43 and the
lost-time rate per a million working hours of 2223 in 2023, which decreased as
compared with those of 0.65 and 262.18 in 2022, mainly because the Company
further strengthened traffic safety protection measures for employees, strengthened
internal safety production and traffic safety promotion and training, continued
to enhance the Company's hazard source zoning management and control, and
strengthened team assessment. Therefore, the total recordable accident rate per
a million working hours and the loss-time rate per a million working hours in 2023

are lower than those in 2022.

total reportable accident rate per a million working hours = total number of reportable accidents
(including work-related injuries and accidents) *106/total working hours, and lost-time rate per a
million working hours = lost working hours (including work-related injuries and accidents) *106/

total working hours)

Total reportable accident rate per a million working hours

2

05

0.65

E =

2022 2023

Lost-time rate per a million working hours
262.18

_/

2223

2022 2023
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4. Health and safety manual: The health and safety manual is available to every
employee at any time on the WeChat platform of the Company so that they could
learn about the Company's health and safety concepts, strategies, measures, and
safety guidelines, and know about what is right or wrong with pictures and texts, so

as to prevent risks and reduce health and safety hazards.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company's human resource and corporate cultural management center has a
wealth of courses, including courses on corporate culture and rules and regulations,
new employee induction training courses, staff basic skills training, on-the-job knowledge
training, management skills and leadership, and other aspects. The course lecturers include
the Company's in-house instructors and external lecturers from external schools and
training institutions. In 2023, the Company provided 43,904 hours of training, with a total
of 10,052 trainees, representing 94.65% of the employee, and 4.37 hours of training per
person. 91.67% of employees at middle and senior levels were trained, and 94.64% of
general staff were trained. Female and male trainees accounted for 94.71% and 99.79%
respectively. The decrease in the overall number of employees and the significant decrease
in new recruits resulted in a decrease in total training hours and a slight decrease in the

average training hours per person.

Total Training Hours (h)

70000 62,129.00

60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000

0.00

20 ‘ 2023

43,904.00

A

Average Training Hour Per Person (total)

496

2022 2023

»
w
<

o - M w o ax v o

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

Rz #HERERES

4. RBREZZ2FM: 8 UBIHAERE
WETA LREHEIRRZEFM
WAEBIRGBREARNREREY
2K BHEAL2OTAENE &
B T 6B S R B AR (12 IF Wk 85
g mERRRITR O RENRZERE
Bo

HH

BRRIEI
ARAANBEREAGEULERPLRET
LEHRE - BEAFRVENBESE - 5
BT ABEIIR 8 TERT RS -
M EBMHIT - EERENEENER
ARRTE - RIEMERM - EERAINAIE
A - AN EPBT AR AN B SRR A B ) H IR
B 202355 + RAIFLTERN43 9004 {E B K H 15
3 FEIARZET 10052 A% » 2505310 E
T1hEE94.65% + ANAXNBE437/ )\ i
BREIOABLLAAE.67%  —REIF
ZIEABLL B B94.64% « TIESZ A
B 594.71%  BUREIHABLG A
99.79% : ABEETABURL - EABET

RiEmd - GEUEIIEREEE - A5
R SRS A PR -

$EHIBBE(h)
70000 62,129.00
60,000

50,000
40,000

30,000 '
20,000
10,000

0.00

43,904.00

20224F 20235
AR (8)

6

496
5 437
) '
3
2
|
0

20224 20235

91



92

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERKRE

Training Hours (by Gender)
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The Company has also cooperated with a number of tertiary institutions. Through the
provision of pre-courses to send students to the Company as interns, we hope to alleviate
the disconnection between school learning and the actual needs of enterprises with

common training of practical talents.

The Company has established an interal platform for career development and promotion
in operations, technology and management. Through a well-functioning mechanism,
employees are encouraged to exert their talents, expand their horizons and maintain
their vitality, ensuring that the development of our employees synchronizes with the

development of the Company.
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(1) 1S09001{ISO14001|1SO45001|TLI00O Internal Auditor Training: (1) 1509001]1SO14001ISO45001|TLI000 R
Z857

(2) Compliance Training — Common “Red Light Zones” in Economic Transactions: 2 EBREI-KBEERTAPERNIA
EEl:

(3)  Anti-corruption and Business Risk Control Training: () RBHEEBEZEI
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(4)  TL9000 Data Collection and Management Training: (4  TL9OOOBIB W R E = IZF

(5) U9 System Financial Function Module Training: () WRSHBIhRERRET -

(6)  Base Station Antenna and Business Training: (6) EUMRSREBEI

(7)  Fire Drill: (7) HBEE:
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LABOR STANDARDS

The Company strictly abides by national laws and regulations, including the Labor Law of
the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, the
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law of the PRC, the Law on Safeguarding Women's Interests and Rights of the PRC, the
Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC, the Implementation Regulation of the Labor
Contract Law of the PRC, the Special Rules on Labor Protection of Female Employees
of the PRC, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor, the Regulations on
Paid Annual Leave for Employees and the Provisions on Minimum Wages. We do not
employ child labor or use any forced labor in any of our businesses. In the recruitment of
employees, we will verify the age of candidates through an identity card verification system
to prevent non-compliance. During the reporting year, there was no violation of the Labor
Law in any form. For details, please see “General Rules on Corporate Social Responsibility
of MOBI" above.

In order to prohibit the use of child labor, the Company checks the ID cards, household
registers, education certificates and knowledge mastery of the employees at the time of
employment. The Company undertakes that it will not use any form of forced labor or
involuntary labor, and that it shall not require employees to pay a “deposit” or deposit
their ID cards at the time of employment. Each employee is provided with statutory
social security such as five insurances and one fund (pension, medical, unemployment,
employment injury, matemity, housing provident fund) in accordance with national policies.
In addition, the Company will also maintain corresponding commercial insurance for
employees as required. If any violations are found, the Company has established channels
for employees to report immediately, and management will take immediate follow-up

actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not materially violate employment-related
laws and regulations or labor standards. The Group's human resource policies and

operations complied with local labor-related laws and regulations.
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Al suppliers/contractors who provided services to the Company shall comply with the
Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Management of Suppliers,
Contractors and Outsourcers, and shall not use child labor or force employees to work,
and shall comply with labor law, labor ethics, environment and occupational health and

safety and other laws and regulations of local governments.

The Company strictly follows national laws and regulations and provides various kinds of
paid time off to ensure that every employee has reasonable working hours and holidays,
including statutory holidays, marriage leave, matemnity leave, paid annual leave and paid sick

leave, so as to encourage employees to strike a balance between work and life.

STAFF ACTIVITIES: CULTURAL CAMPAIGNS AND RECREATIONAL
SPORTS

We pay great attention to humanistic care and team building. For many years, we have
been exploring new cultural and sports mechanisms for staff, striving to assist employees
in achieving a work-life balance, improving the working and living conditions of staff and

enhancing their happiness and sense of belonging.

(1) 2023 Mobi Sports Season:

ABARERBHRES,AOES 95
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(2) 2023 Dragon Boat Festival Handmade DIY Activities: (2 203FIHFEHFIDIVES :

(3) 2023 Mobi Cup Chess King Competition: () 203FELAHIFHE:

(4) 2023 Women'’s Day “Forum on Goddess’ Day: @ 20VEFERLEHLBHEARE]:

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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(5) 2023 Company Team Building Activities: (5) 203FREEEES :

U \ & ' A
sugans

(6)  “Be Responsible and Courageous” Exchange Meeting: 6) [MEEE BREEIRRE:

(7) 2023 Cadre Management Improvement Activities: (7) 20B3FHPEBRATED:
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(8) 2023 MOBI Model Activities: (8) 2023FEFEEHEE :

BI COLLEGE

(9) 2023 Learning from Toyota Activities: (9) 20FEREMTEH:

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN AND PRODUCT LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company is committed to promoting the integrity of business practices and positive
social responsibility, guiding the suppliers” code of conduct, and stipulating requirements
on corporate social responsibility of suppliers in relation to integrity, law-abiding, respect
for human rights, employment of labor, health and safety, environmental protection and
business ethics. We require each supplier to follow the standard and the relevant laws and

regulations of their place of operation, especially key suppliers with long-term cooperation.

Meanwhile, in respect of supply chain risk, the Company identifies and controls supply
chain risks every year, including but not limited to customer communication risks, business

risks, transportation risks and other risks.

The Company evaluates new suppliers and conducts an annual inspection of qualified
suppliers according to the Working Procedures of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
Management of Suppliers, Contractors and Outsourcers and the Management Procedures
of Acquisition of Suppliers, etc., to confirm whether the suppliers comply with the laws
and regulations and the requirements of the Company in terms of labor ethics, corporate

social responsibility, environment and occupational health and safety.

In 2023, we signed corporate social responsibility agreements with 195 suppliers with a
view to exerting influence on their environmental, social and governance requirements.
The types of agreements and undertakings signed are as follows:

"Supplier's Green Product (GP) Declaration”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement”

“Supplier Quality Assurance Agreement — Supplemental Agreement”

“Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Agreement with Suppliers, Contractors, and
Outsourcers of MOBI"

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BEANHEEREREEER

HEEREE
ARBBARETHENBETR/MERA L
SEME SEHEHTAEL  RBET
% BBEAR ERSI RBERE RE
RENBXECSTHHHEEREL T ARG
SEEER - ARG EHRERLAE
ek E A ANE & s BB E AR - 15
RlRRHIAFRERPER -

R - HHEEETERR  ARRESFH

S EE S mRRETHENMEE - B1EE
TRREFERRR BERER  EaER

FENEREBRETERINER o

AARMKE(HER - AEH - RIMBELE
HEBE(CRERIERRF) (HEHRE
BERF)E XM ER G EEET
£ YHERREFETFREESR  BHRH
FRAESTERS bEHEERT RE B
RRERZE2SNTACEBNABERERRAR
EER

2023%F B I95SRIEMEREIHIRET T o ¥EM
SETHE  UHBEERERSE  Hg -
ERERAEMIMNTE - REWWTE AL
EEEWT

(HEBSOREELE)

(fEH RERE DR

(7 mEREHE — k)

(EELLARIELIER - ABPHE IR EME
E1T(CSR) ik



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Company emphasizes the management of product responsibility. During the product
research and development stage, we carry out stringent implementation of product
management, not only to identify the requirements of product features and performance,
but also to identify product requirements in terms of environment, safety, reliability and
other aspects. We adhere to the industry and intemational standards to meet customer
and legal requirements in all respects. During the production and delivery stage, in
accordance with the processes and standards developed by the Company, we carry out
product checks and tests at all stages from stocking, manufacturing to product delivery
to ensure the safety of products delivered. In 2023, the Company did not receive any
product returns due to product health and safety problems, and the customer satisfaction
reached 92.9%.

In 2023, the Company received 6 complaints from customers. In responding to
customer complaints, the quality assurance department of the quality center received
the customer complaint information, and confirmed the complaint information with the
sales department; the quality assurance department was responsible for transmitting the
customer complaint information to the corresponding departments and following up until

the case was closed.

The Company has implemented an intellectual property policy for many years. We have
documenting procedures and systems to regulate the management and operation of the
Company's intellectual property rights. As of the end of 2023, the Company has applied
for 1,138 patents, an increase of 72 new patents as compared to the end of 2022. 836
patents have been granted, an increase of 47 new patents as compared to the end of
2022. No patent infringement incidents occurred in 2023. The Company has formulated
internal controls to protect customer information. There are clear guidelines for the
collection, storage, use and destruction of customer information. We have also adopted
a variety of measures to prevent leakage, including providing training on the customer
information confidentiality and conducting regular checks for each safety and security
measure. The Company has also established a product recall system, and there were
no product recalls caused by product quality and safety incidents in 2023. In accordance
with customer requirements, the Company will sign business framework agreements on
mutual cooperation with its customers to ensure that confidential information of both
sides will not be disclosed. In 2023, the Company did not receive any complaints and
litigation caused by leakage of customer information and confidential data. The Company
has established a corresponding customer complaint and handling procedure to regulate
the follow-up of customer complaints and product retumns or exchange. In addition, the
Company will maintain product liability insurance for customers’ products in response to

their individual requirements.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company did not experience any material breach or

failure to comply with relevant product liability laws and regulations.

Number of Patents
2022 W 2023
1,200 1,138

1,066
i mzm

Number of patent Number of granted
applications patents

COMPLIANCE IN OPERATION

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

[t is the basic principle of the Company to carry out operational compliance by abiding by
business ethics and observing the laws and regulations of China and other countries where
the Group operates. The Company advocates ethical operations and legal compliance
in operations. We practice “zero tolerance” of any violation of laws and regulations, and
any breaches of business ethics. We carry out compliance in operations in a proactive,
effective and scientific manner, and are willing to work with global customers, suppliers

and other business partners to achieve sustainable development.

The business of the Company is mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in Mainland China,
and it is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The operations of the Company strictly
comply with relevant laws and regulations of Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, there was no serious breach or non-compliance with relevant laws and

regulations (including prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering).
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company actively takes measures against extortion and bribery or any form of
corruption. It has a zero-tolerance policy for corruption, and strictly abides by relevant
local laws and regulations, including the Law of the People’s Republic of China Against
Unfair Competition and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Company
encourages all employees to report any case of corruption and has established a
formalized management system as well as developed a formalized process for the daily
business operations to prevent the occurrence of corruption. The Company has set up
an independent audit department to strengthen the regular review of the operations of
various centers and departments of the Company in order to detect any non-compliance
with the code of ethics. The Group has effective reporting procedures to ensure that any
suspicious, improper or illegal behavior can be reported. The reporters may report all
details and evidence of any suspected misconduct to the department head or the Board
of the Group orally or in writing. If the reporter believes that the misconduct is related to
the Board, the reporter may directly report such misconduct to the audit committee. In
order to protect the interests of the Group and the safety of reporters, all investigations
will be conducted in a timely and confidential manner. If any suspicious criminal acts
are found, the Group will report such matter to the local functional departments if the
management deems it necessary, and will ensure that the identity of the reporters and the
contents of the reported cases are kept confidential. During the reporting vear, the Group
did not materially violate the code of conduct and anti-corruption and competition laws.
Sound corporate governance is the foundation of our anti-corruption work. For more
information on the corporate governance structure and practices of the Group, please
refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance” in the annual report 2022/23. In
addition, the Company engages independent auditors to conduct accounting and auditing
of the financial management system on an annual basis to prevent financial and internal
control risks. During the Reporting Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation
in relation to corruption or bribery. In 2023, the Company trained employees of the
marketing department in anti-corruption and the code of conduct of marketing personnel,
which mainly included the training in current laws and regulations and the code of conduct

to which marketing personnel were subject.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a company that values sustainable development, the Company has been committed to
contributing to the interests of the community, and has spared no effort in creating more
value for the community, with a view to fulfilling corporate citizenship responsibilities.
MOBI pays attention to the interests of the community and gives back to the community,
by activities including but not limited to: children’s education in poverty-stricken areas,
social and environmental protection, labor demand of vulnerable groups, cultural
construction of the community, active participation in sports activities, etc. In the donation
project in community engagement activities in the year, the Company donated clothes
and carried out charity blood donation in poor mountainous areas (Daliang mountain in
Sichuan, Tibet, Hunan). The Company will more actively organize employees to participate
in relevant charity and donation activities, and encourage employees to create value for

the community, thus further enhancing our corporate image.

CHARITY ACTIVITIES
During the Reporting Period, the Company has actively participated in various charity

activities, leaming activities organized by Community Party Branch and other activities.

MOBI Party Branch actively participated in activities such as the Party history
learning activity and Party Branch forum activity organized by the local

Community Party Branch
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2. 2023 “Warm the World Together with Love and Clothes” Charity Activities 2. 203F[[&R]EITE  BARHER|AE
EE
MOBI organized employees in three places to donate clothes to poor mountainous BE AR = E T AERLE ()X
areas (Daliang Mountain in Sichuan, Tibet, Hunan). SR PO R ) SRR -
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Hu Xiang, aged 70, is an executive Director, the chairman of the board of Directors
and the chief executive officer of our Company. He is the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. He is also a director, the chief executive officer and legal
representative of MOBI Shenzhen and MOBI Xian and a director of MOBI Jian and MOBI
HK. Mr. Hu was appointed a Director on 19 December 2002. Mr. Hu was an engineer.
Mr. Hu graduated from the Xian Infrastructure University (now Xian University of Finance
and Economics) majoring in radio communication in August 1981. During the period
from 1972 to September 1981, Mr. Hu worked in the hydraulic transmission and control
department of the Northwestem Polytechnical University. Mr. Hu then served as chief of
the planning and supply department at Shenzhen Zhongxingxin Tongxun Shebei Co., Ltd.
for the period from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Hu joined our Group in August 1999. Mr. Hu was
a director of Shenzhen Kang Cheng Jixie Shebei Co., Ltd. from June 2002 to June 2007
and the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. from
March 2000 to September 2007. He is a shareholder of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Zhou Lingbo, aged 43, Ms. Zhou was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 21 June 2023. She is the executive vice-president of the Company
responsible for the personnel and administration system, the domestic market system,
the strategic development and empowerment division. Ms. Zhou graduated from the
department of law of Nanjing University in 2004 with a LLB degree. She joined the Group
in 2004 and successively held the posts of director of the infrastructure office and director

of the president’s office.

Ye Rong, aged 44, Mr. Ye was appointed as an executive Director of the Company with
effect from 21 June 2023. He is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading
the business of the research and development of RF products. Mr. Ye graduated from
Xidian University in 2005 with a master of science degree in electromagnetic field and
microwave technology. He joined the Group in 2005 and successively held the posts of
electrical engineer, research and development project manager, division head and the
general manager of the radio-frequency product business division.
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Non-executive Director

Qu Degian, aged 61, is a non-executive Director, and a director of MOBI Shenzhen,
MOBI Jian and MOBI Xian. He is a member of the nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Qu was appointed a Director on 19
December 2002. Mr. Qu graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (now
School of Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in June 1992 and he further
obtained the qualification as an accountant in the PRC in October 1994. From June 1993
to April 2003, Mr. Qu was the chief of ZTE Corporation's accounting and auditing centre
and the deputy chief of its financial centre. In April 2003, Mr. Qu was appointed as the
deputy general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. and since
September 2007, has been the general manager of Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong
Shebei Co,, Ltd.. Mr. Qu joined our Group in December 2002. He is a shareholder of
Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu, aged 70, is an independent non-executive Director. He is the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed a Director on | July 2007. Mr. Li
graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University in 1976 majoring in computational Mathematics.
From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Li studied business economics at Universitat Mannheim in
Germany and pursued a doctoral degree at Universitat Mannheim in 1988. From 1988
to 1995, Mr. Li worked as a research assistant in the business economics department
of Universitat Mannheim. During the period from March 1995 to September 1995,
Mr. Li worked in Germany for Friatec Aktiengesellschaft, an international manufacturing
enterprise, and was designated to become the future managing director for China. From
1995 to 1998, Mr. Li first worked for KSB Aktiengesellschaft, an international machinery
manufacturing enterprise, as the assistant to the chairman of the management board of
KSB and then became the chief representative of its Beijing Representative Office. During
the period from 1998 to 2002, Mr. Li took the position of regional director of Messer, an
interational chemical manufacturing enterprise, responsible for its business development
in Northern China as well as the operation, sales and profits of its joint ventures and
wholly owned companies in the Northem China region. During that period, Mr. Li also
served as the general manager of Messer North China Industrial Gas Co., Ltd. and the
chairman to the board of Tianjin Messer Gas System Co,, Ltd. Since 2002, Mr. Li has been
the general manager of Beijing Delintech Technology Co., Ltd.,, a technical promotion

service provider and sales service provider. Since 27 March 2011, Mr. Li has been the
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general manager of Beijing Zhong Biao Fang Yuan Anti-counterfeiting Technology Co.
Ltd. Mr. Li has valuable experience in international corporate management and enterprise

resources planning (ERP). Mr. Li joined our Group in July 2007.

Zhang Han, aged 60, is an independent non-executive Director appointed on 25
November 2009 and the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. He is also
a member of the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang is currently an independent director of Perfect World Co,, Ltd. (stock code:
PWRD), a Nasdaq listed company, where Mr. Zhang has also served as a member of
its audit committee since July 2008. The responsibilities of such role include overseeing
the accounting and financial reporting processes as well as external and internal audit
of the Company. Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's degree in chemistry from the
Peking University in 1985. He later obtained an EMBA degree from the China Europe
Interational Business School in 2004. From 1985 to 1988, Mr. Zhang worked at Beijing
Fiber Reinforced Plastic Research & Design Institute. Mr. Zhang was the Manager in the
securities department of Shenzhen Shekou China Merchants Co., Ltd. from 1989 to
[994. Mr. Zhang was the deputy manager at the finance department of China National
Technical Import & Export Corporation, and also the general manager of Shanghai CNTIC
Investment Advisory Co,, Ltd. from 1994 to 1998. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Zhang served
as assistant to the general manager, investment director and fund manager at Penghua
Fund Management Co, Ltd, a fund management company in China. Mr. Zhang served as
the deputy general manager of Rongtong Fund Management Co,, Ltd, a fund management
company in China, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Zhang also served as the general manager
of Great Wall Fund Management Co., Ltd, a fund management company in China, from
2004 to 2005. Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Share Capital Partners Ltd, a Chinese
venture capital firm. Mr. Zhang has built up his experience in conducting due diligence
work in respect of the financial performance, management and corporate government
quality of various companies and conducting financial analysis of listed companies
throughout his various tenures in the investment industry. Mr. Zhang joined our Group on
25 November 2009.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ge Xiaojing, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 3 August, 2018. She is a member of the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. She is also a
partner of SAIF Partners. Ms. Ge joined SAIF Partners as vice-president in 2009 and
became a partner in 2018. At SAIF Partners, Ms. Ge has been responsible for investments
in high-end smart manufacturing, big data, energy, education, new media and other areas,
and has also led the investments in certain successful enterprises, including Orbbec (8
EeA ), QKM (ZEEAE){E), UniFortune Supply Chain (B & FI & fEHE), SuperC
Technology CBAIEHE) and Annoroad Technology (ZZFB B ) . In addition, Ms. Ge s
currently a director of QKM (ZEfBEE){t) and SuperC Technology (B#IEHR) . From
2005 to 2009, Ms. Ge was the deputy general manager and financial controller of Mobi
Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BEEL RERET ORI BRAF]). Ms
Ge has nearly 30 years of working experience in, among other things, corporate finance
and operation, intermnational business development, project management and information
technology. Ms. Ge graduated from The George Washington University in 1994 with a
master degree. She obtained her master and bachelor degrees from Tsinghua University in

1986 and 1983, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Shao Zhiguo, aged 60, was an executive Director of the Company from | April 2012
to 25 March 2015 and is the executive vice-president in research and development
and quality of the Company, MOBI Shenzhen, MOBI Xian and MOBI Jian respectively.
Mr. Shao resigned on 25 October 2023. Mr. Shao graduated from the Northwest
Telecommunications Engineering College (now Xidian University) with a bachelor degree
in wireless equipment structure design in 1984. In 1998, Mr. Shao obtained a master
degree in systematic engineering from Xi'an Electronic Technology University. During
the period of 1984 to 1999, Mr. Shao has held such positions as engineer and senior
engineer at the Shijiazhuang Communications Survey and Control Technology Institute.
Mr. Shao has over |5 years experience of research and development in the area of
telecommunication measurement and control technology and has received a second class
award in Scientific Technology Advancement of the Ministry of Machine Building and
Electronics Industry. Mr. Shao is a senior member of the Chinese Institute of Electronics.
Mr. Shao was a director of Kang Cheng from June 2002 to June 2007. Mr. Shao joined our
Group in August 1999.

Kong Weitong, aged 60, is the executive vice-president of the Company, which
responsible for the overall business of the antenna research and development system.
Mr. Kong obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and
Economics (now School of Economics and Finance of Xian Jiaotong University) in August
1998. Mr. Kong worked at the China Aerospace Corporation from 1982 to 2002 in the
areas of accounting and audit, where he was appointed as an accountant in 1992 and as
a senior accountant in 1999. Mr. Kong became a non-practicing member of the Chinese

Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2006. Mr. Kong joined the Group in May 2002.

Wu Qian, aged 35, was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company with effect
from 13 July, 2018. Ms. Wu joined the Group in 2015 and successively held variously
positions, such as manager of investment and financing, manager of investor relationship,
head of securities and investment department, etc. From 2013 to 2015, she joined a joint
venture of the Shell Oil as a management trainee, responsible for matters relating to
supply chain. Ms. Wu obtained a bachelor's degree in management from School of Public
Affairs and another certificate in second major of finance from School of Economics,
Zhejiang University in July 201 1. She subsequently obtained her master's degree in science

from University College London in November 2012.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BREERE

BEE - 605% * THR2012F4 71 BE20I5%F
SABARERRARMITES - RARQT - EL
R BHARRELELROREREER
1TRIBE, o AP ER2023F 1025 HEEE: ©
BRRAERI984FEXR AL BHIRESR
(RAALEFREARE) BRREEBRET
BR BRZL2A - R1998F - BPEER
BAXEFHRAZRRAGIREEZANELE
i o R I1984F E 1999 F MR - AR A B MM
Shijiazhuang Communications Survey and Control
Technology Institute ) T2 A0 & = Ak TI2AN %
ZAERBAL - AR5t AN E AR E B IR
EHEARB I SENFELER - U ERREE#
MEFIESORBES _FR- ABEER
FREFEENERNEGE o BPEER20025F
6 AZE200756 AHERMIES © ABEER
19998 A MMAREE o

LR - 605%  RAARMITREBE - 2
HEERGMERGNEBIE - HLEER
199848 AR I A 2t (R AR L ZBA
BRUBEGHSEN) BELCEELEM - Lk
HER 1982 F £ 2002 F HARMERR P B AR R
REBEAREFREADN - UHEZD
AR IINERIIVFLZAERGHMRERE
FHED o FLAEAER2006 5K A B EHAT
BEEREEE o FLER2002F5 A AR
K& -

S5 355%  R20I8F7 A I3AEZTAELR
B BRE - REXLTRW0ISFEMALREE -
BEERBELE REEZHAELE BHR
BEPE RSN - 201322015 B/ -
BIEREEBIEMAREABENEER
B BEMEEFEMNIE  RLITR20I
FTRBNIASBALER SR BRNERS
B8 RANEGRESRBEZNeHE
F_HEFE - REER20125 | AR
HARBER MR EE B o



Directors and Senior Management

Hou Xiaoqiang, aged 42, is the vice-president of the Company responsible for leading the
quality department. Mr. Hou graduated from Northwestern Polytechnical University in
2003 with a bachelor's degree in electronic information engineering. He joined the Group
in 2003 and successively held the posts of research and development electrical engineer,
project manager, head of research and development department, deputy general manager

of the antenna business division and president of Xi'an Research Institute.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Lau Wing, aged 51, is our deputy financial officer, authorized representative and company
secretary. He is also the deputy financial officer of financial centre of MOBI Shenzhen.
He is responsible for our company secretarial, financial and accounting management and
internal audit affairs. Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1996, and later obtained a master's degree in business
administration (financial service) in 2005. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting, auditing and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lau had held senior financial

positions in several listed companies. Mr. Lau joined our Group in May 201 1.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRG

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION
The Company was incorporated with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 16

December 2002.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on |7 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries comprise the research, development, manufacture and sale of antenna system,
base station radio frequency subsystem and products of coverage extension solution.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during

the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 12 to 39 of this annual report. This

discussion forms part of this report of the directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2023 and the state of affairs of
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 138 to 244.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31
December, 2023.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a 5 years summary of the resufts and assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the audited financial

Report of the Directors
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MBERHE
TREAAEBBEDENBFRENEER
BEMABE RERRERREEGVHR

statements. xKo
Year ended 3| December
BZNA3BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 2022 2021 2020%F 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTRE ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RESULTS ¥i5
Revenue WA 640,849 687,000 661,389 884,541 1214929
(Loss) profit before taxation  FiAT (&518) FIH (52,806) (222,082) (308,038) (43,388) 16,756
Income tax (expense) credit ~ FT§F: (FIsY) K% (6,389) (7,679) (21,663) 13,575 6,855
(Loss) profit for the year FR (BE) M (59,195) (229.761) (329,701) (29813) 23611
(Loss) profit and the total ARRAER AEIGH
comprehensive (expenses) FE(E8E) MER
income for the year 2H (FAX) AR
attributable to owners
of the Company (59,195) (229.761) (329,701) (29813) 23611
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE 353,706 383,295 472,233 567,187 547,649
Current assets MBEE 894,024 926938 1,086,665 1,381,187 1,422,185
Current liabilities mEaE (740,974) (740,652) (756,573) (747,208) (780,636)
Non-current liabilities =Ny (2,204) (4,587) (6,680) (75,117) (17,770)
Net assets BEFH 504,552 564,994 795,645 1,126,049 1171428
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT V¥ BERGE

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year

are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

On 13 January 2010, 18,443,000 over-allotment shares of USD0.00000! each of the
Company at price of HKD3.38 per share were issued pursuant to the underwriting
agreement of the IPO of the Company. Pursuant to a shareholder resolution passed on |
June 2010, a bonus issue of 72,446,099 shares of USD0.000001 each of the Company is
issued to the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on | June 2010 on the basis of one share for every ten shares held

on | June 2010. These new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspects.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year

are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme of the Company as set out on pages |19 to 122, no

equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to RMB452.8 million. This amount includes the Company’s share premium account
of RMB401.3 million at 31 December 2023, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, revenue attributed to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 89.1% of the total revenue for the year and revenue attributed to the

largest customer accounted for 37.9%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers for the year is less than 26.6%.

The Directors' Interests in a major customer and suppliers are set out in the paragraph
headed "Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts” on

page 124 of this report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Hu Xiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhou Lingbo (Note 1)
Ye Rong (Note 2)

Non-executive Director
Qu Degian
Independent non-executive Directors

Li Tianshu
Zhang Han
Ge Xiaojing

Under the provisions of the Articles, all of the Directors are subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election.

In accordance with Article 130 of the Articles, Mr. Hu Xiang, an executive Director & Ms.
Ge Xiaojing, independent non-executive Director shall retire and, being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with Article |14 of the Articles, Ms. Zhou Lingbo and Mr. Ye Rong,
executive Directors, shall retire from office and, being eligible have offered themselves for

re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Board still considers each of the independent non-executive Directors to be

independent from the Company.

Note I: On 21 June, 2023, the board of directors approved the appointment of Ms. Zhou Lingbo as

executive director with effect from 21 June, 2023.

Note 22 On 21 June, 2023, the board of directors approved the appointment of Mr. Ye Rong as executive
director with effect from 21 June, 2023,
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 106 to |12 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
Mr. Hu Xiang, executive Director and Mr. Qu Degian, non-executive Director have
entered into a service contract with our Company commencing from |7 December 202 |

for a term of three years, respectively.

Ms. Zhou Lingbo and Mr. Ye Rong, executive Directors have entered into a service

contract with our Company commencing from 21 June, 2023 for a term of three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Han and Ms. Ge Xiaojing
has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three years
commencing from |7 December 2021 and 3 August 2021 respectively (except for Mr.
Li. Tianshu whose engagement with us commenced on | July 2007) and renewable by

mutual agreement on annual basis.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or

otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage

for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ emoluments are reviewed by Remuneration Committee with reference to

Directors' duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 December 2023, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was 16,250,000 (2022: 36,191,000), representing
2.01% (2022: 4.44%) of the total ordinary shares in issue at end of the reporting period.

The total number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options
granted and to be granted to each eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any period of twelve consecutive months up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed [% of the ordinary shares in issue as of the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval in

advance in a general meeting.

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial

statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share option scheme during

Report of the Directors
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the year:
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of grant BRITHEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
4 BRERD  RHEE (ARE) AT ERE ENHATE ERi ERd#  FREAR  FREAGE
Directors:
g
Hu Xiang W0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 -2532025 450000 - - - 450000
#3 DISERREA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 450,000 - - - 450,000
155 E iR
W0I150ptionC - 2632015 147 1420182532025 600,000 - - - 600,000
WISERREC
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
4 FRESN  RAEH  (AR®) q7EHE ENHATE ERiH EREH  FREAE  FREAGRE
Zhou Lingoo 0130ption A 23122013 109 162015 -22.122023 240000 - (240,000) - -
B I3FRRIEA
013C0ptionB 2312203 109 142016 - 22122023 240,000 - (240000) - -
I3FERED
0130ptionC -~ 23122013 109 142017 - 22.12.2023 320,000 - (320000) - -
0I3FERRIEC
2015Cption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 225000 - - - 225000
DISFRREA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 1420172532025 225000 - - - 225000
0I55EHKIE
20150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 300000 - - - 300000
WISFRREC
Ye Rong 0130ption A 23122013 109 162015 -22.122023 300000 - (300000) - -
ELS DI3EFREA
013C0ptionB 2312203 109 142016 - 22122023 300000 - (300000) - -
WI3FERED
0130ptionC -~ 23122013 109 142017 - 22.122023 400,000 - (400000) - -
NI3FERIEC
2015C0ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532025 330000 - - - 330000
WISFRHREA
20150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 330000 - - - 330000
0155 KIS
20150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 440,000 - - - 440,000
0ISFERREC
1 20 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asatend
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
£ FRESN  RAEH  (AR®) q7EHE ENHATE ERiH EREH  FREAE  FREAGRE
Qu Degian 0130ption A 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 150000 - (150000) - -
ERE I3FRHREA
0130ptionB 23122013 1,09 142016 -22.122023 150,000 - (150000) - -
DI3FERIEL
0130ptionC 23122013 109 [42017- 22122003 200,000 - (200000) - -
DIFRRIEC
0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 - 253-2025 150000 - - - 150000
DISFRREA
015C0ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 150000 - - - 150000
WISFERIED
0150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 200,000 - - - 200000
0I5 EIIEC
Sub-totat 6,150,000 - (2,300,000) - 3,850,000
Gk
Other participants:
AfigR%
Participants 2005 Option 3182005 06655 31.82006 - 3082015 - - - - -
paz 05 R
Participants 013 0ption A 23122013 1,09 162015 -22.122003 - - - - -
bz NI3EEMIEA
0130ptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 - - - - -
I3FRHER
0130ptionC 23122013 109 142017 - 22122003 - - - - -
I3FRREC
Participants W0150ption A 2632015 147 142016 - 2532005 - - - - -
bz NI5EERMIEA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 142017 - 2532025 - - - - -
WISFRRIER
0150ptionC 2632015 147 142018 - 2532025 - - - - -
WISFRREC
Sub-totat - - - - -
it
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Exercise price Outstanding Granted Cancelled Exercised Outstanding
per share (RMB) as at beginning during during during asat end
Name Option type Date of gant BRITEE Exercisable period of the year the year the year the year of the year
i FREEN  RHAS  (ARW) fTEHE FAMANE ERiRd FRiE#E  FREME  FRHAGE
Other employees:
HfpfES -
Employees 0130ptionA 23122013 109 [62015- 22122023 4410500 - (4410500) - -
& I3FRREA
2013OptionB 23122013 1.09 142016 - 22122023 4974500 - (4974500) - -
VI3FERIED
0130ptionC 2312203 109 142017-22.12.2023 7,106,000 - (7,106000) - -
NI3ERMIEC
Employees 0150ptionA 2632015 147 142016 -253.2005 4065000 - (345000) - 3,720,000
& DISFRREA
0150ptionB 2632015 147 1420172532005 4065000 - (345,000) - 3,720,000
IS5 EiED
0150ptionC -~ 2632015 147 1420182532025 5420000 - (460000) - 4960000
0I5 EIIEC
Sub-totat 30041,000 - (17,641,000) - 12400,000
It :
Total: 36,191,000 - (19,941,000) - 16,250,000
it

The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on which the HEEIREETEE A RO INEEY
options were exercised was HK$1.47. WTE(E A | 47T o

1 22 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors, the chief
executive or their associates in the share capital, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) ) which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO),
or which, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code"), were as follows:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

EEHESRTRAESRKRS - HER
PREFNERRAR

R20235F12A318 - E% - BRITHRAER
BENBBEAREARZEBEZEZE (TR
B REEGED ([F 7 RBAEEN]) EXv
#) R - HERG REFPEEREES
REE WGP EXVERET R ESH ARG AR A
AIRERMEER AR (BEREE S K
SHEOIE IR RERNERIOAR) R
BEFRPEENESEALERARAEF
ENEFCMANERRAR  JBRE TR
TAESENTBLFR IR ETA ([EESF
Al]) B ARAR REZMOERIAR

Ordinary shares of the Company: FRFEER

Approximate

percentage of

Number of the Company’s

shares and issued capital

Number of underlying shares HEERT

Name of Directors Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares 5 K& B¢y

EEps MY BHEE HEROBE HERGEE BANEDL

Hu Xiang Personal 26,102,500 1,500,000 27,602,500 341%
FiiE2) EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9 =9 =9

Zhou Lingbo Personal ,100,000 750,000 1,850,000 0.23%
&R EPN Long Position Long Position
=9 =9

Ye Rong Personal 2,512,000 [,100,000 3,612,000 0.45%
B EPN Long Position Long Position Long Position
=9 =9 9=

Qu Degian Personal — 500,000 500,000 0.06%
[EE% EA Long Position Long Position
=9 9=

EHERAERRZSF
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Ordinary shares of the Company: EAREER
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares and issued capital
Name of Substantial Number of underlying shares R N
Shareholders Nature of Interest Number of shares underlying shares R K 2RT
IRRREE REME BHEE HERO#E MEROHE BRANE D
Fangyi Collaboration Beneficial owner 230,607,300 — 230,607,300 28.50%
Holdings Limited EnBBA Long Position Long Position
TEERAR AR =9 =9
Li Xiaoyong Beneficial owner 52,679,000 — 52,679,000 6.51%
FINE ERBEAAN Long Position Long Position
=9 =

DIRECTORS MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2023, Directors' interests in a major customer were as follows:

EERRS  REHSHNZEAER

R2023F12A31H EXEBERFHNESS

AR YRR AN T -

ZTE Corporation (“ZTE")

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian, Directors of the Company, are members of the 39 .
shareholders (“Beneficial Owners”) of Fangyi Collaboration Holdings Ltd. (“Fangyi"),
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

. The Beneficial Owners had an indirect equity interest of approximately 9.8% in d
ZTE, the second-largest customer of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2023, through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Zhongxing Weixiantong Shebei Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Weixiantong™). Shenzhen Weixiantong owns 49% shareholding
interest in Zhongxingxin Tongxun Co,, Ltd. (“Zhongxingxin™), which in turn had
approximately 20.09% shareholding interest in ZTE.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian together held approximately 4.1% shareholding interests
in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Therefore, they have indirect shareholding interests in

ZTE through their shareholding interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

As of 31 December 2023, Directors' interests in major suppliers were as follows:

Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Technology Co,, Ltd. (“Zhongxingxindi”) which former name as
Shenzhen Zhongxingxindi Tongxin Qicai Co., Ltd.

. The Beneficial Owners have an indirect equity interest in Zhongxingxindi, a supplier
accounted for 0% purchase of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023,
through their shareholdings in Shenzhen Weixiantong. Shenzhen Weixiantong
was a 34.3% shareholder of Zhongxingxindi. Shenzhen Weixiantong owned 49%
shareholding interest in Zhongxingxin, which in turn had a 70% shareholding

interest in Zhongxingxindi.

. Hu Xiang and Qu Degian as members of the Beneficial Owners, therefore, have
indirect shareholding interests in Zhongxingxindi through their shareholding

interests in Shenzhen Weixiantong.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out
in note 36 to the financial statements which did not fall under the definition of “connected

transaction” or “‘continuing connected transaction” under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]
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o WMANERLZAREARIIGLED
41 %EBRTE - B - AFINERRLE S
ERFIE e mmig  MEgEehE
ERAAORHE

HZE023F128318  EXEHERTES
REHFOERIT

RYIeh R BT B R A ([oh 3
1)) K315 ARYI TR AH B R R
A

o ERBAANEBENFIELBOE
% - PR E - E—RIEA
SEHZ203F12A3IAEFERKE
ERORMEER - Ry LBATE
FTH AR - A 343% R o R4
BB B A% R AE - ELE Al
Vi R BT 709% OB A2

o WMANEREAEREAANKE &
BERRIE R BOE  BREFT
B30 O HE o

BREXBEES  NFERIFRTAH
] ANARHEMEMFARLER] L EHAL
BXBEEAMAAESHHMEERER
IEEFREARRCEMR S  RHHA
o

BEALRS

ARBFRTVERBEALRSFBEHARY
BBmERMT36 - ZER inEgtrn%%HUa%l4A
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the percentage of shares of the Company in
public hands is in compliance with the prescribed level of the minimum public float as set

out in Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has set up an audit committee with written terms of reference. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and reports to the

Board of Directors.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company, who are of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards and legal requirements,

and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
MOBI Development Co., Ltd.

Hu Xiang
Chairman

22 March 2024

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MOBI Development Co,, Ltd.
(the “"Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 138 to 244, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code™), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial %

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HRELER

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

REELER
BREZFBER/UMNERAE T  B2A
iGN BRRPREENEER - RANE
BRRGAVBBRRBELFEEMMITY
RER  MAentEFEREFERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMREGRINEERRERER

Estimated allowance for inventories

FEMGHRE

We identified the estimated allowance for inventories
as a key audit matter due to the use of judgment
and estimates by the management in estimating the

allowance for inventories.

In determining the allowance for inventories, the
management considers the aging information,
technology development of the industry, net realisable
value for slow-moving inventories that are no longer
suitable for use in operation and subsequent sales or

usage.

B EER BRI ESRERESZEE  RHE
EEE BT SR R A FIE R fhaT

EETFERRR  BEEZETENRKESR
MEAFE - T HEEa EENREHER LA
TEIHF B R A B IR HE

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventories included:

BB

Understanding how management estimates the allowance of slow-

moving inventories items;

Obtaining the inventory aging information and checking its

classification by age on a sample basis to relevant documents;

Checking on the net realisable value of inventories to subsequent
selling prices less costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale or usage of inventories on a sample basis to relevant

documents;

EHERRNEFEE

TRREEB I TSR RE

MSFERKRESR - MRS ki D B2 ERE X+
DR EnE T E R # R HE R R EHE BN ETRK
R RIHE S fERTF R PRSI ER XX
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HRELER EMRELRINEERRELER

Estimated allowance for inventories (Cont'd)

FEMGEHRE (E)

As disclosed in note |9 to the consolidated financial ¢
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of inventories was RMB149,924,000, which
represents approximately 12.0% of the Group's total

assets.

4R & B SRR T 19FTIEER © FA20234F 12831«
H EEREEAAREI1499240007T 16 &
EEREEL20%

Evaluating the reasonableness of the allowance of slow-moving
inventories identified by the management with reference to the
aging information of inventories, subsequent sales and usage of

inventories; and

Performing a retrospective review on the allowance estimation by
management by comparing historical allowance made to the actual

selling prices and actual loss incurred.

REEHRERES  FENREHEMERM

IEERESS
BRI BHT EREO AR R

HIOBEPFREEEREERERELNER - UFEE
BEEPELRE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

ERAIRMEE (EXR M) NRERE

We identified the impairment assessment of the long-
lived assets relating to the Group's business of sales of
the antenna system and related products, base station
Radio Frequency (the “RF") subsystem and related
products and coverage extension solution and related
products, comprising certain property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets (the
“Identified Long-lived Assets”), as key audit matter as
significant judgement by the management is required

to assess the amount of impairment of these assets.

BPKAERE BEREXGEGIABED i
5998 (T 4148 |) F 240 M AR BE 2 fn DA I B 5 FE AP
TREMBERHHEXRBNRIEE (BES
THE BEIEE EREEENETLEE)
([EBARHEE ] WRENERERBRER
FE - RARNEEEREELEARAE AN EZ
FEENRESRE -

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment assessment of

the Identified Long-lived Assets included:

Understanding the key controls over the management of the
Group's impairment assessment process, including those over
the determination of the fair value of the Identified Long-lived
Assets, such as controls related to management's selection of
the impairment assessment model, discount rate and forecasts of

future revenue and operating margin;

Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer's

competence, capabilities and objectivity;

BMGEEENCHIRREERENENEFRE

BREE BREREFGIEFOERZS  BEERET
BB REPEEQFERES - fln R E R E & ERE G
EE - BRI R RIRRIR R R AR & F B R A B2

FHEBIL A BB RGN ER - BENFFEIML
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Key audit matters

HRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont'd)

EHRBIRPEE (ERRTX) WRERE (&)

During the year ended 3| December 2023, the
management of the Group performed an impairment
assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets due to
the indication for impairment as disclosed in notes 4
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements. For
the purpose of assessing impairment of these assets,
the recoverable amounts of these assets have been
determined by the management of the Group by
value in use calculations using financial budgets based
on past performance and expectation for market
development, where the key input parameters include

growth rate and discount rate.

REZE2023F12A3IBILEFE - EEEEREE
HRRGAE M IS HRERW 4 & 149 B AR ED
KMEEHRIRAEELETRENG - BZEE
EXFHEBENS  ZZTEEMNTRE£ED
B E5EERENFEABENEEE £/
BENFTEDERBEANEERBHRMSERN
HETEE - HHEBERHASHEBEERERITR

Engaging our fair value specialists to assist in assessing the
reasonableness of the impairment assessment model adopted and

assumptions used by the management of the Group;

Assessing the reasonableness of the management's estimate of the
growth rate with reference to the historical performance and the

latest budgets of the Group and market data;

ZRAFEERGYFE SEEEEEEMRABORERG
BEANFTERBRRNG RN ;

2% BEREBREXRALEHAENANTSEE  FHETE
BEIEREREFTAIEN |
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMRELRINEERRELER

Impairment assessment of the Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont'd)

EHRBIRPEE (ERRTX) WRERE (&)

Based on the management’'s assessment, an
impairment loss of the Identified Long-lived Assets of
RMB7,653,000 been recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

As disclosed in note |4 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the aggregate
carrying amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets
was RMB299,914,000, net of accumulated impairment
loss of RMB 108,34 1,000.

BIEEREMR  Bl22023F 12831 BIEF
B BREREHEENRERSEARK7 653000
TLERIERPHER -

MERE T ERERMTE 47T - R2023F 12
A31A ERNRBEENEELEEAAR
#299,914,0007T - M RETREBEBARE
108,341,0007T °

Assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate used by
management in determining the value in use, with reference to
the current market risk-free rate of interest and the industry and

company specific risk factors; and

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by management on the
significant assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact of these

assumptions on the value in use.

S g HMBRAROTIERTEXRA O EARE
2 TECEEETEAEERAERERENARI &
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is

Wong Kit Sum.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERaRkEME2EREERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

2023 2022
2023F 20025
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Pt AR®TR ARBETT

Revenue WA 5 640,849 687,000
Cost of sales SHERAR (544,538) (580,160)
Gross profit E7 96,311 106,840
Impainment losses under expected credit loss (ECL") ~ TBER(EE/&#E ([FEHEEEE])

model, net of reversal EXTHRERE - kAL (8,427) (12,480)
Impairment losses on Identified Long-lived Assets 2 @ BIRHIEERNRERBE

(as defined in note 4) (E& R4 14 (7,653) (45,156)
Other income He A 6 34,773 39,296
Other gains and losses Hoh s o 2 &5 18 6 15,349 (85,365)
Research and development expenses MRS (62,509) (86,300)
Administrative expenses TR (75,169) (89,360)
Distribution and selling expenses DIHNHERX (42,161) (45,138)
Finance costs BIR AR 7 (3,279) (4970)
Share of results of associates k=N 3 (41) 551
Loss before tax A& 1B (52,806) (222,082)
Income tax expense Bk iha 8 (6,389) (7,679)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year AATEEABEFEBER

attributable to owners of the Company 2HEFAXERE 9 (59,195) (229761)
Loss per share BRER

~ basic (RMB cents) - 2N S 13 (7.28) (28.08)

— diluted (RMB cents) —#E(ARER) 13 (7.28) (28.08)

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR Rk

At 31 December 2023
#2023F12A318

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ERE S 14 258,795 280,529
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 23,420 24,087
Deposits for purchase of plant and equipment EERELREEE RS 12,361 13,136
Deferred tax assets REHIBEE 16 36,872 43026
Intangible assets B EE 17 17,699 17917
Interests in associates REE SR BRI R 18 4559 4600
353,706 383,295
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories "E 19 149,924 180,836
Trade and other receivables B 5 A EUER R 20 413,071 482,036
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIER 21 132,355 89,791
Cash and cash equivalents BekBReEEY 21 198,674 174,275
894,024 926938
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 KA ER 22 631,586 690,574
Contract liabilities BRAE 23 9,098 6,102
Tax Payable FENTIE 215 -
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 24 95,000 38,560
Lease liabilities MEGE 25 3,540 3,630
Deferred income EREBA 26 1,535 1,786
740,974 740,652
Net Current Assets REEEFHE 153,050 186,286
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRBEE 506,756 569,581
EhBHREAERALTT 1 39
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mE B AR R

At 31 December 2023
R2023F 128318

2023 2022
2023F 20025
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current Liabilities FREEE
Lease liabilities ME&E 25 1216 2220
Deferred income EIEWA 26 988 2,367
2,204 4587
Net Assets BERE 504,552 564,994

Capital and Reserves BRAK
Share capital IR 27 6 6
Reserves i 504,546 564988
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARRER ANEGHER 504,552 564,994

The consolidated financial statements on pages |38 to 244 were approved and authorised FIBE2MENGANBHRRELESEN

for issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: 2024F3 A2 BEEFKETIE - WAHNTE
BREFE
Hu Xiang Zhou Lingbo
7 J2)9)
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
e s
1 40 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERRBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

Enterprise Statutory Share
Share Share  expansion surplus Special option  Retained
capital  premium fund  reserve fund reserve reserve  earnings Total
¥ EE B
Rx  RtEE BREE BEBRE  KIRE e REEA @zt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
(note a) (note b) (notec)  (note 28)
(Htzta) (Rrzp) (Kb  (Hi&E28)
At | January 2022 RANEIAIA 6 403442 3034 70022 2999 22,795 293347 795,645
Loss and the total comprehensive EREER
expense for the year THFXEH - - - - - - (9761 (29761
Transfer of share option reserve upon PR INEE IR FreE
forfeiture of share options BERERE - - - - - (1829) 829 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares ~ E&[E Rt #AR (A
(note 27) (Btza7) * (476) - - - - - (47¢)
Repurchase of shares (note 27) RipEER (Ft27) - (414) - - - - - (414)
At 31 December 2022 K02 124318 6 402,552 3034 70022 2999 20966 65415 564994
Loss and the total comprehensive FREBRZERY
expense for the year ik - - - - - - (59,195 (59195
Transfer of share option reserve upon KR IERRRE / Bk
forfeiture/expiration of share options 2| B & BB
&R - - - - - (9,253) 9,253 -
Cancellation of shares R (Ft27)
(note 27) = - - - - - - -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares B[R] R 3 df (7
(note 27) (txa7) —* (593) - - - - - (593)
Repurchase of shares (note 27) iR (FzE27) - (654) - - - - - (654)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318 6 401,305 3,034 70,022 2,999 11713 15473 504,552

*  Less than RMBI,000

ELERERLA

20234 3}
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERERBBHRE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

Notes:

@

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2009 Revision), the share premium of the
Company may be applied for redemption or purchase of any shares of the Company, payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, payment of its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,

no dividends were paid out of its share premium.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"),
the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriations to such
reserve are made out of net profit after tax reported in the statutory financial statements of the
PRC subsidiaries while the amounts and allocation basis are decided by their respective boards of
directors annually. The statutory reserve can be used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue or expanding the capital

base of the PRC subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

Special reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital of BELL KARFEIT (FYNE
f2 2] MOBI Antenna Technologies (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ("MOBI Shenzhen"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in connection
with the acquisition of MOBI Shenzhen. MOBI Shenzhen was acquired pursuant to the group
restructuring completed on 19 December 2002, at which time the Company entered into an

equity transfer agreement for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in MOBI Shenzhen.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEHERERR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20025
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES e
Loss before tax TiRlEs IR (52,806) (222,082)
Adjustments for: FATHBELRAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRETE 19,817 32,645
Impairment loss on the Identified Long-live Assets ERAIREEENREEE 7,653 45,156
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 7,499 17,807
Write-down of inventories TFEMR 7,981 4,489
Unrealised exchange gain RERME W= (7,025) (9,594)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 1,231 5895
Finance costs B 3,279 4970
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal BHEEBBRA TOREESE -
aliseie 8,427 12,480
(Gain) loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment &Y « BiFE REEH (W)
EiiE (6,412) 8,847
Share of results of associates FERERE A REE 41 (551
Provision of settlement expenses MRE R - 83,255
Interest income from bank deposits RITERASMA (5,512) (9,683)
Government grants related to assets HEERBNRT#EDE (1,630) (2,136)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital K&t & EE & F B FIMLE mE (17,457) (28,502)
Decrease in inventories FERD 22,931 27,788
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K Bt e BR TR 2 62,636 44,306
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables 8 5 MEAMERR Of ) 10 (54,032) 24,590
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHAEEMNORD) 2,9% (7,245)
Settlement for derivative financial instruments EETEERIA - 33
Cash generated from operations REmBEHRE 17,074 60,970
Taxation paid BENHIE (20) (14)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KERYmERe TR 17,054 60956
BLtERABRALA 143
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERBER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

2023 2022
2023F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES KBRS
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEEERRTER (311,211) (107,277)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BELRE (7,391) (13,706)
Deposits paid for purchase of plant and equipment HEERE LA TNEE (12,361) (13,136)
Development costs paid and capitalised ENREREERKAR (7,862) (6,481)
Redemption of pledged bank deposits BB 2 RIRITER 268,647 89,653
Interest received BFLE 5512 9,683
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BERREWEETIE 19,179 6,763
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REGBMAR S FHE (45,487) (34,501)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEES
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BERITREAMBER (55,726) (158,220)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAR (4,009) (5,699)
Interest paid ERAFE (3,279) (4,867)
Repurchase of shares i EE el (1,247) (890)
New bank and other borrowings raised FTIRERIT R A AR 112,166 59,503
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& EEFTS (AT ) R&F8E 47,905 (110,173)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND Re RS SEWFEEM

CASH EQUIVALENTS CR) 19,472 (83718)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT | JANUARY RIAIBNRERRLEEY 174,275 250,546
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES INEEREFHTE 4927 7447
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 3| DECEMBER K12 A3I BEIRE KRS EEY 198,674 174,275

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

MOBI Development Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”) on 17 December 2009. The address
of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is 7 Langshan First Road, Science and Technology Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, the PRC.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are

production and sale of antennas and radio frequency subsystems.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's

annual period beginning on | January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)
BAIBRELEE 175
(B4820204F 10 A K 202252 AK)
BBMBIMEERE 175 (BFTA))
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB ERES (BRI X)
Amendments to HKAS 12
BB GERIE 125 (BATA)
Amendments to HKAS 12
BBGERIE 125 (BATA)
Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BRGHERIE R NEERBRELER
BERHREE25 (BATA)

ERMITEBMBREER (B
MBHREER]) REBYBRESE
BIfBRT &
FEERFEMZHTEBRNBRERE
BIRERMBEREEBITA
RAEE - REEERREEE VBT
FERERBEESTMA S ([HEE
SRR ) iz TR T B AN R
SRR BB BEREEMETAR » K
RAEBE203F | A1 BRBFEH
HELIES S

Insurance Contracts

REREH

Definition of Accounting Estimates

itfEst 228

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
HE-RXHELZEENRARABNETRE

Interational Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

BB BB E — X RER A

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SRR HE

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Contd)

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out

in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year.
HKAS | Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace all instances of
the term “Material accounting policy information” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose

financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

EhkERERLXT
20234 3R
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont d)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Cont d)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material
because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information

must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the "Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.

Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance but has affected the disclosure of the Group's

accounting policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont d)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs that have

been issued but are not yet effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

B BHREENE 05K

BB G ERIFE28H (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BAMBIMEERE 655 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS |

BAGHERIFE 5 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS |
EEGERE % (BFIX)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
BREGIERETHR R
BRUBREENETHR (BFTAX)
Amendments to HKAS 21
BB GERIE25 (BATA)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the amendments

to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in

the foreseeable future.

BB Lt B

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

AT REEMBRERER ([EE
MBHEER ) REBMBEREE
LUCHENEG )
EREMEEHRLENZEBYBHEER
CHES
REBEYERFEM TS BMEER
EM BRI MERERTA :

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture'

REZRHEBENRIHAEREZANEEREIIE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
ERAERZTNEERE?
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?
RENBARDAIFRBARBLREFRSH (20205) 2 BRER]
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
MERE 2 JERBRIE
Supplier Finance Arrangements?

HEmEE L5
Lack of Exchangeability?
ez A
AFTE B Bisk 2 & Fts 2 & 8 R AR o
2 20245 | A1 Bz B 52 FE R AR -
3 20254 | A I Bekz B 52 FEHREEMR -
AAREERES  ERMBBSVER

HEANET AR ARG HERa M
BRREKEAZE -

BRERAXF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

32

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its retums.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over

the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed

to the owners of the Company.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's

accounting policies.

Al intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating to contracts with

customers is provided in notes 5 and 23.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or

an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms

and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets include the amount of the initial measurement

of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont d)

Leases (Cont d)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Al leases are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share option granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair

value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will

be transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax

EXpense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from loss before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
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Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse

in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by

the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than plant and machinery under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and machinery in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
construction in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Intangible assets
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities

(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will

be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic

benefits;
. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to

complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the

intangible asset during its development.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Intangible assets (Contd)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure (Cont d)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses (if any).

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an

indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (Cont d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are

initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 5.
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in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REMBBRRNEREERERS
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY STBURER (E)
INFORMATION (Cont d)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd) 32 EXREHEERER(Z)
Financial instruments (Cont d) EHITA(E)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,

or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
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Financial assets THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SMEENHEREEHE
WRUAT e 2 WA E R
BSRAE

- NEBeHERERERR
MMREBEARASES
BEE K&

+ AHBFRETHEHMEL
ZHERBEAXNES
BRAREEREZHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Contd)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont @)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
[2-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
[2-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont @)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Contd)
. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont @)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont d)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Contd)
()  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Wnrite-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any

subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

32

Material accounting policy information (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial assets (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Cont'd)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective

risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-looking macroeconomic

information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Cont @)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the

following characteristics when formulating the grouping;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)
Financial instruments (Cont d)
Financial assets (Contd)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to

the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own equity

instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Contd)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Contd)

Financial instruments (Cont d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont d)

Financial liabilities

Al financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below), that the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalisation of development costs

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's development costs
amounted to RMBI5.1 million (2022: RMBI3.4 million), which are not ready for
the intended use, were included in intangible assets. The capitalisation involved
management's judgement in assessing of whether technical and commercial
feasibility of each project had been achieved. Technical feasibility are evaluated
based on testing results of products and commercial feasibility are evaluated based
on forecast with assumptions on revenue to be generated, budget costs to be

incurred and relevant market analysis of the relevant product.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for inventories

The Group provided an allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the
net realisable value of inventories. Allowance is applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the
cost of inventories. The identification of slow-moving inventories requires the use
of judgment and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
The management may consider the aging analysis, technology development of the
industry, net realisable value for slow-moving inventories that are no longer suitable
for use in operation and subsequent sales or usage. Where the actual outcome
or expectation of the net realisable value of inventories is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
allowance for inventories in the period in which such estimate has changed. The
carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2023 is RMB149,924,000 (2022:
RMB180,836,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below)

Certain long-lived assets are related to the Group's business of sales of the antenna
system and related products, base station Radio Frequency (the “RF") subsystem
and related products and coverage extension solution and related products,
comprising certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (the “ldentified Long-lived Assets”). In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rate or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect

the recoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Estimated impairment of Identified Long-lived Assets (as defined below) (Cont d)

Due to keen competition in industry of mobile network construction in the PRC
and global market and slower-than-expected progress of 5G network construction
in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is experiencing
negative conditions including mainly decreased revenue and suffered loss for
the year. The management of the Group concluded there were indications for
impairment and conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts of
the Identified Long-lived Assets. The recoverable amounts of the Identified Long-
lived Assets have been determined by the management of the Group by value in
use calculation on the basis of the cash-generating unit to which these assets belong.
The value in use calculation uses financial budgets based on past performance and
expectation for market development, where the key input parameters include
growth rate and discount rate. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit as it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of each of the Identified Long-lived Assets individually. Where the expected future
cash flows arising from the relevant cash generating units differ from the original
estimation, an impairment loss may arise. Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in note 4.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying amount of Identified Long-lived
Assets was RMB299,914,000 (2022: RMB322,533,000), after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses of RMB108,34 1,000 (2022: RMB106,072,000).

EHBRERLA
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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F: AR¥3225330007T) &R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Contd)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL

individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually insignificant or when the
Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's internal credit

ratings.

The Group uses collective assessment to calculate the lifetime ECL for the trade
receivables through groupings of various debtors of same credit rating. Trade
receivables within same internal credit rating have similar loss patterns after
considering of aging, repayment history and past due status of respective trade
receivables. The estimated loss rates are based on the Group's historical default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL is disclosed in note 33 and the details of the Group's trade receivables is

disclosed in note 20.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods sold or services

provided.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Antenna system — manufacturing and sales of antenna system and related products

Base station RF subsystem — manufacturing and sales of base station RF subsystem

and related products

Coverage extension solution — manufacturing and sales of a wide array of coverage

products

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

All of the Group's revenue is recognised when goods are delivered or picked up,
being the time when the customers obtain control over the antenna system and
related products, base station RF subsystem and related products and coverage

extension solution.

All the Group's contracts have an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation of these contracts is not disclosed.

EHBRERLA
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mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. WARZHER (&)
Information of segment revenues and segment results EHEIBUARD BEENER
2023 2022
2023 20024
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Segment revenues 2 EBBA
Antenna system NS 255,635 206,999
Base station RF subsystem EULSTET R4 327,654 406,628
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 57,560 73,373
640,849 687,000
Timing of revenue recognition LON AT
A point in time PR AR R R 640,849 687,000
Segment results DEEE
Antenna system PN EN 15,756 (27,539)
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET Rt 30,586 34298
Coverage extension solution BELHAR (15,219) (12,043)
31,123 (5,284)
Reconciliation of segment results to loss before tax DEEEEBAIFBRE R
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal REEEBBREATHRE
B8 - MEREL (8,427) (12,480)
Other income and expenses, other gains and losses HW A RFx - Htoies &
BB 50,122 (46,069)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBRERX (122,304) (153,830)
Finance costs B TSR AR (3.279) (4,970)
Share of results of associates JEEEE R RIRE (41) 551
Loss before tax HAIER (52,806) (222,082)
Other segment information Hip o HEH
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: ME - BB NREITE
Antenna system NS 5812 14,067
Base station RF subsystem EUbSTRT 24t 5,007 6,502
Coverage extension solution BELHAR 679 853
Segment total 7 EbARET 11,498 21422
Unallocated amount AofLe® 8319 [1,223
Group total SE® 19,817 32,645

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. WARZHER (&)
Information of segment revenues and segment results (Cont ) BRI BUARDS BEENER (&)
2023 2022
2023 2002
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Research and development expenses: ERx -
Antenna system KIGZEHR 25,912 47826
Base station RF subsystem EIGHAT R4 20,218 26,489
Coverage extension solution BERMFRR 16,379 11,985
Group total (note) SB&s (M) 62,509 86,300
Amortisation of intangible assets: BIVEESH
Antenna system PN 3,996 14,746
Base station RF subsystem EUbSTIET 24t 3,503 3,061
Group total SEEs 7,499 17,807
Allowance (reversal of allowance) for inventories: FERE (BE) :
Antenna system PN ¥ 3,148 4,240
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET R4t 4,006 (1,061)
Coverage extension solution BERMFERR 827 1,310
Group total (note) SEEE () 7,981 4489
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment loss) on ERAIRAEENRIE
Identified Long-lived Assets: BB CREsERE)
Antenna system PN EN - 16,226
Base station RF subsystem EIhGHET R4t 2,553 8511
Coverage extension solution BELEHAR 127 1,087
Segment total 7 EbHEET 2,680 25,824
Unallocated amount on corporate assets PEBENAIE S 4,973 19,332
Group total SEEE 7,653 45,156
Note: BisE
Amounts included in the measure of segment results. BT ENDEENEHE -
BLtERABRALA 181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Other segment information (Cont d)
Revenues reported above represent revenues generated from external customers.

There are no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group's
accounting policies. The Group does not allocate impairment losses under ECL
model, net of reversal, other income and expenses, other gains and losses,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, and share of results of associates
to individual reportable segments when making decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segments and assessing their performance. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.

No segment information on assets and liabilities is presented as such information
is not reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

WA D EER (&)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and information about

products

REEFANNBARERER DR

Revenues from each group of products within the operating segments are as BESBAZERARINBALT -
follows:
2023 2022
2023 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Segments AN
Antenna system RBRES
Multi-band/mutti-system antennas %8,/ % ZER AR 189,833 95953
FDD+TDD antennas FDD+TDDA4R 21,226 13,174
Customized antennas TE B ERER 19,712 -
Multi-Beam antennas LRRAER 12,328 21,043
Microwave antennas R K &R 9,302 29,034
5G antennas S5GRER - 22,467
WCDMA/FDD-LTE single-band/multi-band antennas WCDMAFDD-LTEE S8,/ % 5K AR - 7346
Low-band refarming/loT antennas ESRER /R AR = 13537
Other antennas HAth RAR 3,234 4,445
255,635 206,999
Base station RF subsystem RIS FER
WCDMAJLTE RF devices WCDMA/LTEST SRS 1+ 311,840 372289
TD/TD-LTE RF devices TD/TD-LTESY $R28 14 6,765 6,769
Low-band refarming/loT RF devices ESEEH /Yo 4B 5T SRR 14 5619 236
GSM RF devices GSMET sAz= 3,388 17513
5G RF devices SGERBATAA - 3788
Other devices Hitastt 4 6,033
327,654 406,628
Coverage extension solution BEUEMHE
In-door antennas EAPNG 21,079 -
Aesthetic antennas S| PN 15,512 61,573
Solar energy equipment NGRS 6,707 -
Engineering procurement construction RETERIEET - 556
Access point BEAR - 136
Small cel (-3 - 59
Other products HAthEm 14,262 11,049
57,560 73,373
640,849 687,000

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Information about major customers
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the

total revenue of the Group are as follows:

WARDEER (&)
ERTIEEFMNERN
RERNEAFEHAEBRABERR
B8 1 0% ) 2 P E AT -

2023 2022

20235 20024

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Customer A BREA 242,973 348959
Customer B' ®FB 143,378 141,888
Customer C! ®EC 125,163 N/A?
TNE >

Revenue from antenna system and base station RF subsystem.

B Revenue from customer C for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not contribute over

10% of the total revenue for that year.

Geographical information
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented

based on the location where the goods are delivered to:

REXBEGREWS BT RZEHOK
K

2 HE200NF12A3IBILEFE  RAERF
CHMAHZFERABREERABR
10%

BREAKERBINDEFIRANERTS
BREINEROUEZ

2023 2022

20235 202024

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ETTT AREF T

The PRC # 330,439 278,030
Overseas AN

Other countries/regions in Asia SMNEMBER, HE 149,265 250453

Europe BUM 141,708 81278

Americas EM 19,420 77,234

Others Hit 17 5

Subtotal NET 310,410 408,970

640,849 687,000

All non-current assets (other than deferred tax assets) of the Group are located in

the PRC.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

HAWA - Hftlasm KR

2023 2022
2023 2002
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Government grants BT
— related to expense items (note a) — HFZIEE A8 (fiiEa) 14,808 15,775
— related to assets (note 26) — EE AR (MEh2e) 1,630 2,136
Rental income HEHRA 12,823 11,702
Interest income from bank deposits RITEFRFELA 5512 9,683
Other income HA A 34,773 39,296
Gain (loss) on disposals of property, plant and equipment &Y « E &
HEE (BE) 6,412 (8,847)
Exchange gain BEE e 7,025 9593
Settlement expenses (note b) MEEE R (o) - (83,255)
Others HAth 1912 (2,856)
Other gains and losses HAh W R E B 15,349 (85,365)
Total fast 50,122 (46,069)
Notes: {oE
(@) The amounts represent incentives from various PRC government authorities in connection (a) ZEFIEBRF AT EESBTHER
with the enterprise expansion support, technology advancement support and product ERER  RMESRERFEMGT
development support during the year, which had no conditions imposed by the respective B - ZERBETRRTRER TN
PRC government authorities. HER D AP S (R0
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered settlement agreements (b) HE0NFNANALFE  AEEHR

with customers regarding disputes arising from sales transactions occurred in previous
years. The Group agreed settlement payments of an aggregate amount of RMB83,255,000
to discharge all parties from any claims in connection to the disputes. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, an amount of RMB27,990,000 was paid and an amount
of RMB13,280,000 was set off with trade receivables, the remaining balance of
RMB41,985,000 as at 31 December 2022 was included in other payables and settled during
2023.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

EPRHBTFEEENHERIEEN
AP - AEBREZAE
£ AR #83,255,000 T M FIEFIE + A
BRAMESHTEBFANEMRERR - &
ENFINANBLEFE  BEXAFE
AERHE27,990,0007C + WA E 5 FEIER
T8 A R 13,280,0007T © B20226F
12831 BMEARKE41,9850007LE
FPAHMERRRIT R 203 FLEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIEEAK
2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETTT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RATREAE TR 3,113 4517
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 166 453
3,279 4970

8.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FiSBiExX
2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT"): REERER
([{RZEPEH) -
Current year KEE 215 14
Under provision in prior year BEFERBIE 20 -
235 14
Deferred tax expense (note 16) ERERIAR X (FiiEE16) 6,154 7,665
6,389 7,679
Hong Kong TEEHE
The applicable tax rate of the Company and MOBI Technology (Hong Kong) ARAIRELEE (FH) ARAA
Limited (“MOBI HK" is 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years. (TELLEE ) MIEEE G ERTA
ERERTRR16.5% °
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been recognised as the Group had no AEERMEFEY BEEBELEM
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years. JERTFE - MU BB EANETEL
Bt -
1 86 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

The PRC (excluding Hong Kong)

In September 2014, MOBI Shenzhen was defined by Shenzhen Finance Bureau,
Administrator of Local Taxation of Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal
office of the State Administration of Taxation (the “SZ Authorities”) as a High
and New Technology Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 15% preferential
tax rate from the EIT for three years starting from the year ended 3| December
2014, according to the PRC EIT Law. In 2017 and 2020, the SZ Authorities have
further extended the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the
year ended 31 December 2017 and year ended 31 December 2020, respectively.
On 25 December 2023, the SZ Authorities have further extended the preferential
tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the tax rate for MOBI Shenzhen is 15% for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

In November 2016, MOBI Telecommunications Technologies (Ji An) Co., Ltd.
("MOBI Jian") was defined by Province Finance Bureau and Administrator of
Local Taxation of Municipality and Municipal office of the State Administration of
Taxation in Jiang Xi (the “Jiang Xi Authorities”), as a High and New Technology
Enterprise and therefore was entitled to 5% preferential tax rate from the EIT
for three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2016, according to the
PRC EIT Law. In 2019 and 2022, the Jiang Xi Authorities have further extended
the preferential tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31
December 2019 and year ended 31 December 2022, respectively. Accordingly, the
tax rate of MOBI Jian is 15% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

In December 2019, MOBI Technology (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. (“"MOBI Technology")
was defined by the SZ Authorities as a High and New Technology Enterprise and
therefore was entitled to 15% preferential tax rate from the EIT for three years
starting from the year ended 31 December 2019, according to the PRC EIT Law.
On 14 December 2022, the SZ Authorities have further extended the preferential
tax rate for another three years starting from the year ended 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the tax rate of MOBI Technology is 15% for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Contd)
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) (Contd)

The applicable tax rate of other PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year ended 3|

December 2023 (2022: 25%).

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to loss before tax per the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

8. PSR} (&)
hEAE (TEEEHE) (&)

HE203FN2A3IBIEFE - Efhrp

B2 Bl i B R A25% (20224 -
25%) °

FABREA EGEA B R EM 2R
HEABFHABERLROT :

2023 2022
20236 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Loss before tax BB E 18 (52,806) (222,082)
Tax at EIT at 15% (2022: 15%) (note a) RSB 15% (2022
15%) 5t B R E (Fifzta) (7,921) (33312)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose TEBERERZ OB E 1,051 1,740
Tax effect of share of results of associates EEBE AR RENNBTE 6 (83)
Tax effect of additional deduction on research and BRSNS B B AR ) B 75

development costs (note b) # & (fitb) (7,217) (11,804)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNBEERORETE 11,496 36,643
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not ARHER AL 2

recognised M2 4,329 16,070
Utilisations of tax losses previously not recognised ER LA ARBREOTIAEE (221) -
Under provision in prior year BEFERBIE 20 -
Reversal of tax losses previously recognised BOBAE®R 2 AR 4,648 -
Others Hit 1,388 -
Effect of different tax rates of group entities EEERNTRAMENZE (1,190) (1,575)

6,389 7,679

Notes: B SE

(a) Applicable income tax rate of 15% represents the relevant income tax rate of MOBI (a)
Shenzhen, MOBI Jian and MOBI Technology, the major subsidiaries of the Company.

(b) Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC, additional 100% (2022: (b)

100%) of the qualified research and development costs are entitled to claim as PRC

income tax credits. Such PRC income tax credits are accounted for deduction from

enterprise income tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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9.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging the following items:

FEBR

FEBECDHRIATIEE

BEBENAIAILEE

2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T ARETT
Directors' remuneration (note 10) R SR 3,285 1,292
Other staff costs HiB THA 164,080 188,507
Retirement benefits scheme contributions for other staff  Efth B TR K@ FTEIE 18,907 21,279
186,272 211,078
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories W FEEEKANERNME 2 F
manufactured (69,085) (74,582)
117,187 136,496
Auditors' remuneration ZERH
— audit services — BZIRS 2,096 2,096
— non-audit services — IR 302 293
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BB RREBITE 19,817 32,645
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELENE 1,231 5,895
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 7,499 17,807
28,547 56,347
Less: amount capitalised as cost of inventories B FEBBEK AN BN &
manufactured (8,145) (19,403)
20,402 36,944
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R RRAXFERAR 536,557 575,671
Write-down on inventories (included in cost of sales) FEMR GTABERR) 7,981 4,489

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

10. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 0. EBERFETRAEMSE
Directors' and chief executive's emoluments ESRIETHAEMS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and chief executive by R RE A & AR B K 2 BB PR R
the Group, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Companies B AEEENIRNEESTREET
Ordinance are as follows: BABHBEMT :
2023
203F
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
Hit#e
RAIKER (FEBRE
ne SRR Re EHFREH) EH

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR AR®TRT ARETR ARBTR

Executive directors HITES

Hu Xiang (note a) A (fifsta) 90 = = 768 858
Zhou Lingbo (note b) J& % (FifsEp) 38 20 195 635 888
Ye Rong (note b) ELIE DY 38 20 160 797 1,015
Non-executive director FHTES

Qu Degjan JEE% 90 - - - 90

Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES

Li Tianshu FREF 163 - - - 163
Zhang Han R 144 - - - 144
Ge Xiaojing BEBE 127 - - - 127
690 40 355 2,200 3,285
1 90 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

10. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 0. EERFETHAEME (&)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont d) EERFETHAEME (Z)
2022
WNF
Other
Retirement emoluments
benefits (mainly basic
scheme salaries and
Fees  contributions Bonus allowances) Total
Hiofe
NN (F2RRE
i FEHEA % EHFLEH) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBT ARETR AR®TR ARETR
Executive director HITES
Hu Xiang (note ) A9 (Fifata) 89 - - 695 784
Non-executive director FHTES
Qu Degjan [EEE 86 - - - 86
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Li Tianshu FRAF 160 - - - 160
Zhang Han G 138 - - - 138
Ge Xiaojing EEE 124 - - - 124
597 - - 695 1292
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

10.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont d)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont'd)

The executive directors' emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company and the Group and their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director's emoluments and the independent non-executive directors' emoluments

shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which

are determined based on the performance of the Group.

Notes:

(€] Mr. Hu Xiang (“Mr. Hu") is also the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief

executive officer.

The retirement benefit scheme contribution of Mr. Hu is paid by Shenzhen Zhongxing
Weixiantong Shebei Co., Ltd. ‘&I T ELELBRBAR QA ('SZWS") as Mr.
Hu is also a director of SZWS. SZWS s controlled by a group of common controlling

shareholders of the Company.

(b) Ms. Zhou Lingbo and Mr. Ye Rong were appointed as executive directors with effect from

21 June 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the directors or the chief executive as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors
or the chief executive has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the

years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three directors (2022: one

director) for the year ended 31 December 2023, details of whose emoluments

are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2022: four) highest paid

individuals are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

IuEeFHFMES
BZ20FNA3BILLFE  A&E
hEGEETMATRE=REE (202
F:—2EZF) REOHEFBEIR
X o HMA (20225 - ME) &5
FATEBSEIT -

2023 2022

2023F 20024

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMET 1,180 2,665
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIKEFFTEIER 20 68
1,200 2,733

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2023 2022
20235 20025

No. of No. of

employees employees

BEAY EEAH

Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007& 7T ([H7T]) 2 4

DIVIDENDS

12.

No dividends were recognised as distribution for both years.

No final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 was recommended by

the directors.

EHBRERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

13.  LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The loss for calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the RUAGERR A& BRES ARIEEA
ordinary owners of the Company are based on the following data: ERREEERNERTIRE T 8IS
HEL

2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Loss for the year attributable to owners REHEBRER L EEE
of the Company for the purpose of BADREE AELFENER
calculating basic and diluted loss per share (59,195) (229,761)
2023 2022
2023 20024
'000 '000
Fr T
Number of shares R #E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the Rt EBRERNREEERE
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share ) B N9 812,599 818214
The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 3| December 2023 BHZE2023FR20202F12A31BIEF
and 2022 did not assume the exercise of the Company's share options as the B BREARABRERETE SR
exercise price of these options was higher than the average market price for shares BEBBRNHED AR ZEBRENT
for both 2023 and 2022. EESIRHR2023F %2022 F 8 F19
MHE -
1 94 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

4. Y% - WERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles machinery in progress Total
Ba- e
BF RERRA NEZE RE HERES HEIR @zt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTT AR®TR ARMTR ARETRT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%T:n
COsT 7S
At | January 2022 RONEIAIH 306,897 36,805 13718 6331 275514 37,150 676415
Additions AE 140 8,186 1,59 3% 7603 7351 191
Transfer g - - - - 4999 (49%9) -
Disposals e (1,653) @i (139) (1.226) 27.22) (7.026) (44,382)
At3| December 2022 R200NE12A31H 305,384 37,880 15,175 5,141 260,889 3476 656,945
Additions AE 77l 294 - 617 12004 2,385 15,571
Transfer g3 - 1310 3601 - 885 (13,767) -
Disposals e (8539) (1007) (1,545) (45) (15619) (1.955) (28709)
At 3| December 2023 203F 124318 297,117 38477 17231 5713 266,130 19,139 643,807
DEPRECIATIONAND  HERFE
IMPAIRMENT
At | January 2022 R00EIAIB 89,353 29475 9915 5716 216449 - 350908
Provided for the year AR 8315 2545 2873 408 18504 - 32645
Impairment loss recognised FAEZRERR L
in profit or loss HEEE - 706 2302 4 7726 4357 21635
Eliminated on disposals ~ HEH (1,204) (2857) (94) (1027) (23590) - (28772)
At3| December 2022 H200F12A31H 96464 36,369 14996 5,141 219,089 4357 376416
Provided for the year PO TR 9,500 1077 173 18 8,949 - 19817
Impaiment loss recognised BB TERE L
in profit or loss REEE - 1023 5 499 3,194 - 4721
Eliminated on disposals (& (2473) (683) (1545) (45) (9241) (1955) (15942)
At 3| December 2023 2023F 124318 103491 37,786 13,629 5713 221991 2402 385012
CARRYING VALUES  BREfE
At 3| December 2023 #203F 124318 193626 691 3,602 - 44139 16,737 258795
At3| December 2022 H200NE12A31H 208920 1511 179 - 41,800 28119 280529
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and

equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful lives and

after taking into account their estimated residual value, using straight-line method,

at the following rates per annum:

Buildings

Fumiture, fixtures and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Plant and machinery

Over the shorter of the term of
lease or 30 years

19% —31.7%

3% —33.3%

9.5% - 19%

9% — 33.3%

The Group's buildings are situated in the PRC under medium-term land use rights.

The Group was in process of obtaining certain relevant property ownership

certificates for buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB5,834,000 in

property, plant and equipment as at 3|1 December 2022. These buildings were

disposed of during the current year.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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HEFHH30F
(AABEERE)
19% - 31.7%

3% —33.3%
9.5% — 19%
9% — 33.3%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

Due to keen competition in industry of mobile network construction in the PRC
and global market and slower-than-expected progress of 5G network construction
in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group experienced
negative impacts on business performance and suffered losses. The management
of the Group has identified certain long-lived assets have indications of impairment
loss. For the purpose of impairment assessment, the management of the Group
estimated the recoverable amount of the Identified Long-lived Assets was
RMB299,914,000 (2022: RMB322,533,000), net of accumulated impairment loss of
RMB 108,341,000 (2022: RMB106,072,000). The Identified Long-lived Assets include
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of
RMB258,795,000, RMB23,420,000 and RMB17,699,000 (2022: RMB280,529,000,
RMB24,087,000 and RMB17,917,000), respectively, as disclosed in this note and
notes |5 and 17.

The estimation of recoverable amounts was based on the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the Identified Long-lived Assets belong. The value in
use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
the management covering the following five-year period with a pre-tax discount
rate at 18.18% (2022: 18.69%). The value in use calculations were determined
by an independent qualified professional valuer appointed by the management of
the Group. The forecasted growth rate is based on the Group's budget, future
business development plan and the forecast of the industry growth. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations included budgeted sales and profit
margins and their related cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on
the cash-generating units' historical performance and management's expectation
of the market development. The cash flow projection beyond the five-year period
is extrapolated using a steady 2.2% (2022: 2.2%) growth rate. This growth rate is

based on the expected economic and growth rate.

EHBRERLA
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mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

M - BERRE (&)
BZE203F 12A31HIEFE - ARF
B RERTSEHPEERTERTH
IR BEBERSCRAKERERTRE
B REENEBRRXIEGHETET
HIREE - NEBTEEEHATFER
BEEEPRNETREAEE - sURET

HME - WARKGEARMEISRITH
BE AEBEEERFCDH#AIKE

BEMRESEAARE299,914,000
7t (20224 + AR#6322,533,0007T) + 0
bR ZEHREERFEARKE 108,341,000
7T (20226 - AR¥106,072,0007T) © E
HARPEEREETYE  BERK
H ERAREELRBVEESIRAR
#258,795,0007C + A K#23,420,0007T
RAR 1769900070 (20226 : AR¥E
280,529,0007C * A K #24,087,0007C &
AREE179170007T) °

ARESENETRERBHAIRNE
EFfBNRSELEMNEREE F
AEEFEFEERREREMER
ENFORCHBEEFECRERE
TER K 18.18% % Al B3R X (20224
18.69%) 518 - L AEEHERETIH
AEBEEEZINE LS RNEEM
BRET - BAREDIRERNEEL
HE - RREBEEABIRITEERE
BIfE - EREBEFEENEMEE
BEREBEENASELEU 2 BEEE
FEREBHTSEREDEL 2 EEH
ERFEEREEsRERARRLE
H o AFEHRRSRERA HIE22%
(2022%F : 22%) IR RERE - Z
BREDENEHCERIERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd)

The recoverable amount of building and leasehold lands are estimated individually.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units are lower than the
corresponding carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Identified Long-lived Assets such that the carrying amount of
each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of its value in use, fair value

less cost of disposal and zero.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that an impairment losses of RMB7,653,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB45,156,000) have been recognised against the carrying amounts
of Identified Long-lived Assets, including impairment losses allocated to certain
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets of
RMB4,721,000 (2022: RMB21,635,000), RMB581,000 (2022: RMB17,845,000) and
RMB2,351,000 (2022: RMB5,676,000), as disclosed in this note, notes 17 and 15

respectively.

Reasonably possible change in pre-tax discount rate or budgeted sales covering
five-year period, while other parameters remain constant, the effect on the

impairment losses is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of the building and leasehold lands has not been reduced
since the amounts of fair value less costs of disposal of the building and leasehold

lands are higher than their carrying amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd) 4. Y% BWERRE(E)
The Group as lessor FEEERHEA
The Group leases out certain floors of Group's owned buildings under operating AEERBLCEHEHEASERRE
leases. The leases typically run for a fixed period of | to 10 years. The Group is not FETERE -HEBRFTETRHIZEI
exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases FeomRMEREANERERZEN
are denominated in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The MEEEREHE - MASETEEHEER
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee's option to BmAZINERRE - HESATEERE
purchase the property at the end of lease term, EERR,/ SABARHRERRES
MERERHE
The portions of the Group's owned buildings under operating leases could not AEEKEMEBTNHD BAEFT
be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease and the portions REEVLHEIREREREB LA
of the Group's owned buildings which are held for use in the Group's production AEBREARAEEE mAEERITH
of goods or for administrative purposes are not insignificant. Such of the Group's REfBARFHILITERX - ZF
owned buildings are included in the Group's property, plant and equipment. SEEABEFHAREENYE  BE
Bt o
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS I5. EREEE
Leasehold lands Leased premises Total
HELH HEME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBF T ARBTR
As at 31 December 2023 R20235 128318
Carrying amount BRmEfE 23420 - 23420
As at 3| December 2022 RK2022& 128318
Carrying amount FREE 24,087 - 24,087
For the year ended 31 December 2023 ~ BZ2023F 12831 HLFE
Depreciation charge nER 667 564 1231
Impairment loss recognised R ERRREER
in profit or loss - 2,351 2,351
For the year ended 31 December 2022  BZ2002F 12831 ALFE
Depreciation charge nER 668 5227 5,895
Impairment loss recognised KB ERRREER
in profit or loss - 5676 5676

EHBRERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

5.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Cont'd) 15. EREEEE)

2023 2022

2023 20024

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Expense relating to short-term leases B HIHE AR 2,507 3,194

Total cash outflow for leases MERSRLE 6,682 8,893

Additions to right-of-use assets EREEERE 2915 4,033
For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands and premises for its operations. RWREFEER  ~AEBAHLEHEER

Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of | year to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines

the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and staff
quarters. At the end of reporting period, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expenses

disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB4,756,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of nil, net of impairment loss of RMB2,351,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: lease liabilities of RMB5,850,000 are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of nil, net of impairment loss of RMB5,676,000). The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.
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16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 6. ELEREBEE
Excess of
accounting
depreciation
and
amortisation Unrealised
over tax profit of
Allowance  depreciation  Allowance inter-
for and  for credit company
inventories  amortisation losses sales  Tax losses Others Total
BHiE NRE
Fichith 3 =& HEM
FERE FENER FERE A2RNR  HEES Hitr @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®Trn AR%Tn AR%TR AR%Tn AR%Tn AR¥ETn
At 1 January 2022 R0NEIR IR 6091 4886 1458 581 3191 4484 50,691
Charge to profit or loss EERENR
Effect of change of temporary EREE
diference )07 - (10) - (182) (6,143) (1,330) (7,665)
At 31 December 2022 RANENA3IA 6091 4876 1458 399 27,048 3154 4£306

Charge to profit or loss
Effect of change of temporary

difference

EERENR
ERER

2BHYE

- - - (118) (4648 (1389 (6154

At 31 December 2023

P03 EI12A31H

6,091 4876 458 281 22400 1,766 36872

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

6.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Contd)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB722,397,000 (2022: RMB711,137,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMBI38,776,000 (2022:
RMB163,415,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB583,621,000 (2022: RMB547,722,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unused tax losses is tax loss of
RMB566,123,000 (2022: RMB530,224,000) which will expire in the following years
ending 31 December and other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

6.

BEERBEE (&)

RIBEHR AEEBXRPBHBEEE
AR#722397,0007T (202F : ARME
711,137,0007C) A] FRRA K S5 R 2R A1 o
gt AR 138776,0007T (20224 = A
R #163,415,0007T) K E B RERIEIER
THEE - AR ARREFRHT AR
- BMWEBEER T ARTES83,621,000
7t (20224 + AR¥E547,722,0007C ) HERR
EERBEE - ABBEHBEBRES
RUATEZ A3 BIEFERERORE
BB ARES66,123,0007T (20224 : A
R #530,224,00070) K E A0 BB A &R

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT

Unused tax losses with expiry in: KT EESBRERDAHBEE -
-2023 - 20234 = 4797
—2024 - 20244 2,125 5930
—2025 - 20254 4,700 3,796
~2026 —2026%F 26,694 20,490
—-2027 - 20274 26,802 21,782
—-2028 20284 30,907 15776
-2029 — 20294 25,091 25,091
-2030 — 20304 42,780 43,708
-203I -2031 4 158,645 166,439
-2032 - 20324 195,953 222415
—-2033 - 20334 52,426 -
566,123 530,224

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of RMB262,341,000 (2022: RMB237,431,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Under the relevant laws of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits eamed by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB23,361,000 (2022: RMB61,252,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

BVEE

Development costs

BREEA
RMB’000
ARETT
COST %N
At | January 2022 P00%F 1 AIH 166921
Additions NE 6,481
At 31 December 2022 P2002F12A31H 173,402
Additions NE 7,862
At 31 December 2023 B2023%F 12 A31H 181,264
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BHERREE
At | January 2022 R202F 1 A 1A 119,833
Charge for the year FAMNGK 17,807
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note 14) RiERER O RERE (M 14) 17,845
At 31 December 2022 P2002F12A31H 155,485
Charge for the year FAHBR 7499
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (note |4) RIEBRER 2 REEE (M5 14) 581
At 31 December 2023 72023% 12 A31H 163,565
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 17,699
At 31 December 2022 R2002F12A431H 17917

Development costs on antenna system and base station RF subsystem are intemally

generated and amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years when they are

ready for use. Included in the cost of the Group's intangible assets, approximately

RMBI5.1 million (2022: RMBI3.4 million) were relating to development of systems

not ready for the intended use and, accordingly, no amortisation was made.

At 31 December 2023, the Group conducted an impairment assessment of those

Group's intangible assets and set forth in note 4.

Certain intangible assets were pledged to independent financial institution to secure

other borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2023 (2022 nil), as set out in

note 31.

ELERERLA

20234 #R
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RNEESE - RAEEAREIFAIA
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BRAW B ET AN -

R2023F 127318 REBEYHHEER
BEEITHEME L A4

AR FE3FTEL - PA2023F 128318 -
ETEREECIEETEL SRS

TE RSB E M E R FER (20224 -
&) o

203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEDNTZRER
2023 2022
20235 20225
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Cost of interests in associates N NI £ A N 6,430 6,430
Share of post-acquisition losses , net of dividends received FE(GULEETZ 518 - ACHNBR
REE) (1,871) (1,830)
A5 4,600
Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as follow: T RS HARARERE D RINFAER
Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Country of  place of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entities registration  business held by the Group by the Group Principal activities
E:3 rEERRH EEEHEN
BEEEH AMER  EXBH BEEARRLH SRR IRERED
2023 2022 2023 2022

20235 20025 20235 20025

Shenzhen Borynet Co, Ltd, the PRC the PRC 15.1% 15.1% 15.1% [5.1%  Software technology
(“Borynet”) (note i) development

AYMEEEHRBEERAR  HE e LR T
(T8% ) (M)

Wuxi Gaoyusheng New PRC PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Matenial development

Material Technology Co., Ltd,
(“Gaoyusheng”) (note i)

EHTRTRIAVANMRER  $E & MRF%
~E((BFR]) (i)

204 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont'd)

Notes:

(i) Borynet is accounted for as an associate as at year end date as the Group has directors in

its board of directors and is able to exercise significant influence over Borynet.

(if) The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Gaoyusheng as the Group has the
power to appoint one out of three directors of Gaoyusheng and the Group accounted for

Gaoyusheng as an associate.

Both investments are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated

financial statements.

Financial information of these companies has not been disclosed since these

associates are immaterial to the group.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

8.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

REE N B2 R (&
BFaE

() HREEREFSEREAEENESE
AEEUTHBETREATEN  BF
REEHERNRIIEB2AT -

iy AEERPUSTRTEEATEN
RERFKEERZEISTR=LES
FEP—Z - BAEEKSTRARS
(&N

MR EDEREDEZR G A M B#REK
NI

ARZERLAAHAREN LI E
K BAEREZFRRNHHER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

19. INVENTORIES 9. BE&
2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
Raw materials FRA 41917 50,897
Work-in-progress 8 8,155 14,640
Finished goods B 99,852 115299
149,924 180,836
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZRHEMEWERR
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR
Trade receivables — contracts with customers ZEFRWER - EPEH) 293,679 329,739
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (33,921) (27,158)
259,758 302,581
Notes and bills receivables EKRE 65,123 84,578
Advance to suppliers BEEEES 42,653 38310
Value added tax receivables eSS BT 30,104 37,600
Rental and utility deposits M k&iwEe 617 926
Other receivables and deposits Hit R R kiR é 14,816 18,041
413,071 482,036
As at | January 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables from contracts R2002F1AIA - REEPEHH
with customers amounted to RMB323,523,000, net of allowance for credit losses BORWEZNERE (HKREES
amounted to RMB14,678,000. BEEARK14,678,0007T) AARE

323,523,0007T °

206 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

The Group offers credit terms generally accepted in the antenna system, base
station RF subsystem and coverage extension solution manufacturing industry to its
trade customers, which range from 30 to 240 days (2022: 30 to 240 days) from the
invoice dates. For the Group's major customers which are network operators and
domestic and overseas wireless network solution providers with good reputation
and repayment records, a longer credit term may be granted to them, depending
on price, the size of the contract, credibility and reputation of them. In order to
manage the credit risks associated with trade receivables effectively, credit limits
of customers are evaluated periodically. Before accepting any new customer,
the Group conducts research on the creditworthiness of the new customer and

assesses the potential customer's credit quality.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit

losses presented based on the invoice dates:

20.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

EZRHEMEBWERR (E)
AEEREFEPRHKRG RS - Kb
ST RARBER R REETEY
BEIHEES FEHAERAH
FEETM 302240 B (20224 : 30E240
H) BREKELHERBRIMNERE
R RUERAAERTBERE
HRBNAEEEERF R ERT
BROGES  GTER  ARAEK -
BEREFHMEREREEME - RAX
ERHEIRNEFEENEERR -
AREEHEEPHEERBREITT
i AEERA/IAHELH - €HE
RENBPHERTHKTHEBELEER
HIEEEX -

NI REEZAHFTNE S RURR
(R EEERRE) OiRE DT -

2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 76,348 83251
31 to 60 days 3I1E60H 34,092 44346
61 to 90 days 61 290H 26,278 42910
91 to 120 days 912120H 27,493 18,270
121 to 180 days 1212 180H 25,773 33,096
Over 180 days B8 180H 69,774 80,708
259,758 302,581

EHBRERLA
20234 3]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd)

At 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB9 1,639,000 (2022:
RMB101,634,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period. Out of
the past due balances, RMB79,634,000 (2022: RMB67,946,000) has been past due
over 90 days and is not considered as in default because the trade receivables are
of good credit quality and repayment records history. The Group does not hold

any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year ended

31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 33.

The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills receivables presented based on

the notes and bills issue dates:

20.

EZRHEMEBWERR (E)
R2023F 128318 RBEBHK
EEBs7EREREEEAROA
R #91,639,0007C (20225 : AR¥
101,634,0007C) it AREE 2 B HREW
AR AR - MERAE PR AR 79,634,000
T (20226 + AR¥67946,0007T) £ 18
HiERR90R - BERWRRELN - RER
BHRBEREELEZ BT BN H
Rif - AEEHERFE TN ZELE
BARIE AR o

HEWDFER2002F12A3IBIEFE
WE 5 K EAMEWRZUREFENFIE
EAMIEE33 ©

U ARERETH I REREERN
R -

2023 2022
20235 202024
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®BTR ARETT

0to 30 days 0&30H 18,187 11,724
31 to 60 days 31E60H 8,502 9,630
61 to 90 days 61290H 11,304 I,155
91 to 120 days 91E120H 10,293 16,254
Over 120 days #1208 16,837 35815

65,123 84,578

All notes and bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than

one year.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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20.

21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Contd) 20.

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

B R HBYIRR (&)
NEREEERNIEREE IR
FHMEME S M EMRKERRATIT |

At 31 December

RI12A31R
2023 2022
2023F 2022F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

United States Dollar (“USD") E(E) 70,251 160,276
Euro (“EUR") &t ([BT]) - 4710

70,251 164,986
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21, BEBETER BeRESEE

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term deposits for
the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments, which carry
interest at market rates range from 0.0001% to 2.75% per annum (2022: 0.0001%
to 0.35% per annum).

The Group's pledged bank deposits represent bank deposits with original maturity
within 12 months and carry fixed interest rate from 0.0001% to 5.1% (2022: 0.30%
to 3.85%) per annum. They are mainly pledged to banks to secure bills payables,

certain of the bank borrowings and letter of credits of the Group.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

L]
RekBReEEMRERNBRIAEE
REReFRGENEBFERRESRER
HIZmsMENFEF0.0001 EE275
&t 8 (20224 : B 0.0001 EZ0.35
[E) -

AEBEMEERRITEREREF A
RI2EAR - EEF0.0001 BES.|E
(2022 : 0.30EE3.85/F ) My E T Fl=
FEMRITER  EXEERTERE
TERTEERNRE - BETRITER
RERRBHER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

21.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Cont'd)

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
with an aggregate amount of RMB251,706,000 (2022: RMBI55,185,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the intemational
market. The government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange control
and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.

Analysis of pledged bank deposits together with cash and cash equivalents
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant

group entities is set out below:

21.

BEMRTER RERRELEE
&)

AEBEETHReRASZEMRER
ARITESR - &HLARB251,706,0007T
(20224 :+ AR¥155,18500070) AAR
WEtE - MARBIIFERE TSN E B
ABEE - AEBNETINEEH - &
B & BIRINMER & P BB R E
SRR

NEBSREE RSB GRS
ENCEMRTES  ERRENIRS
FEVOOMEIIIMT -

2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

UsD EY 76,748 102,193
EUR BT 1,249 1,514
HK$ BT 1,294 5,143
Indonesian Rupiah & 32 3

79,323 108,881

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BEBENAIAILEE

22. BERHEHMEMERR

2023 2022
20235 20025

RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARBTT

Trade payables B HREMNER 369,369 403,729
Notes and bills payable FANES 202,130 178,701
Payroll payable ERNTIE 16,599 20276
Payable for purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEY - BE R EBOERN RN 11,359 16315
Value added taxes payable FERTIE(ER 4,191 4305
Accrued expenses HRER 12,519 10413
Settlement payables FER AR E = 41,985
Others HAh, 15,419 14,850
631,586 690,574

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice

REZ R E SRR KRR D

dates: T -
2023 2022
20235 202024
RMB’000 RMB000
ARE TR ARETT
0 to 30 days 0E30H 44,650 69,999
31 to 60 days 31 E60H 45220 53,456
61 to 90 days 61 E90H 34,259 38,855
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 101,634 88,539
Over 180 days HBiB180H 143,606 152,880
369,369 403,729

Typical credit term of trade payables ranges from 60 to 120 days from the invoice

dates.

BORMNERNEER —REBRA %
EHEBET60BE 1208 ©

EHBRERLA
20234 3] 211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Contd) 22. BEERHMEMERERNR(E)
The following is an aged analysis of notes and bills payable presented based on the RERETRPHNENRRNERED
notes and bills issue dates: T
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

0 to 30 days 0&30H 2,466 3,187
31 to 60 days 31260H 61,726 56,722
61 to 90 days 61 £90H 32,832 1,340
Over 90 days #8:890H 105,106 117,452
202,130 178,701
Typical credit term of notes and bills payables ranges from 90 to 180 days. ENEBENEEH-—RBETIORE
I180H -
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all AEBCH T BREREEIRBUR - U
payables are settled within the credit timeframe. RETEENEDTEEZEHRNESE -
Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than the NEBSBERNYEEEUIIEE
functional currencies of the relevant group entities is set out below: HEME S LEMENERRI T

At 31 December

RWI12A31R
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTR ARETT

UsD £t 536 489
HK$ BT 403 311
939 800
21 2 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

For revenue recognised upon sales of antenna system and related products, base
station RF subsystem and related products and coverage extension solution, the
Group receives certain of the contract value as advance payments from customers
according to the contracts terms. The advance payments give rise to contract
liabilities at the commencement of a contract until the customer obtains control of

the respective goods.

23.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

BHEE

MHERBRAR N ER - ZUEHHE
FEGRMBERARBEL R RN
ERNKEMS » ARERES QK
TREE T AR (EATPENR
R - BRNRRENANMRIERELSH
B EERFEGSHAEEREHES
IF o

2023 2022

20235 2002

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Receipt in advance from contracts with customers HWEPEKIFIEA 9,098 6,102

As at | January 2022, contract liabilities accounted to RMB13,347,000.

Contract liabilities are to be settled within the Group's normal operating cycle and

are classified as current liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue amounting to RMB6,102,000
(2022: RMB13,347,000) was recognised in the current year which relates to

carried-forward contract liabilities.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

R0NFIAIBENEHNEEAARE
13,347,0007T ©

HZE223F12A3IBILLFE  RAE
ERER A Wzx AR 6,102,0007T (2022
F o AR¥1334700070) EBEEANE
ERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. BITREMER
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Bank borrowings: RITERK

— Unsecured fixed rate borrowings (Note) — B R (P EE) 65,000 38,560
Other borrowing: HEHR

— Secured fixed rate borrowings (Note 31) — BT BB (PHEE31) 30,000 -
The amount is repayable within one year ZACREN—EZABE 95,000 38,560
Note: BisE
The unsecured fixed rate borrowings carry interest at the rate ranged from 3.75% to 4.35% (2022: EERAELERNENERITSIER43E
3.5% to 4.35%) per annum. (20224 : 35/EE435[F) o
The Group's bank and other borrowings were all denominated in RMB, AEBENRITREMETIOUARE:

18 o
21 4 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASE LIABILITIES

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

25. HEEE
2023 2022
20235 202024
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®T R ARETT

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year

Within a period of more than one year but not more

ERHEESE:
—FR 3,540 3,630
BEI—F DA BT EBIBRE

than two years 1,058 1,983
Within a period of more than two years but not more  AHMFEA LB BBRAF
than five years 158 237
4,756 5,850
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months and & : ARE) & EIE T 25MKR
shown under current liabilities 1218 A B AR 508 (3,540) (3,630)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months and RIERBEEIET 25187
shown under non-current liabilities 1A A& BREE ST 1,216 2220
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities range FEB TR ET S EZF R

from 5% to 6% (2022: 6%).

NESEZ6E (20224F : 6fF) ©

ELERERLA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

26.

DEFERRED INCOME 26.

Deferred income represents non-recurring government grants received for
acquisition and improvement of property, plant and equipment. The deferred
income is released to the profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant

assets. Movements of deferred income during the years are as follows:

WA

B ASE B BRI BUR # B)
£ ARUEBEREENE  BERR
& o EEWAIZ AR E EOR A EA
FHRARRR - FRNETRANEE
mE

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Government grant related to assets HEEMEBNBRARDE
At beginning of the year REF] 4,153 6,289
Released to profit or loss RIEBRERA (1,630) (2,136)
At end of the year RER 2,523 4,153
Analysed for reporting purposes as: A2 HARE
Current portion ) 1,535 1,786
Non-current portion JERNERER 988 2,367
2,523 4,153

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBENA3NBLESE

27. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 27. RATFRE
Number of shares Issued capital
RO BE ERITRE
2023 2022 2023 2022

2023F 20224 2023F 2002
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary

shares shares shares shares
EAR T ZER TR
'000 '000 usD usb

T Fhx E e

Ordinary shares of USD0.000001| each SR E{E0.000001 ETH
EER
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 2,000,000  2,000000 200000  2,000.00
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REH) 815,240 817,100 815.23 817.09
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) an-AE G IS (6,021) (1,860) (6.02) (1.86)
At end of the year RER 809,219 815240 809.21 81523
Issued capital
EBRITRA
2023 2022
2023F 20025
Ordinary Ordinary
shares equivalent  shares equivalent
ZEEER FEEEK
RMB RMB
AR®T ARETT
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At beginning of the year REH) 5,702.10 571451
Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note) Rt REE Rt iA (P at) (41.51) (12.41)
At end of the year RER 5,660.59 5,702.10
Issued capital shown in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 R2023F K20202F 128318 - RERE
December 2023 and 2022 were rounded to RMB6,000. MBAMRIRRIIROERTRANBA
R#6,0007T °
Et#xREARARXA 217
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Cont'd) 27. DRRIRAE(E)
The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows: ARATEBBIMRA T AABEAER
IR
Price per share
Month of BhRER Aggregate
Year Ended repurchase No. of ordinary shares Lowest Highest consideration paid
£X e A5 EERYUE &i& 58 ERARE
HK$ HK$ HK$ RMB
BT BT BT AR
2022 20026 August 2022 202248 A 180,000 (note (1)) (PiZE (i) 023 024 41987 36088
2022 2046 September 2022 20229 1600000 (note (i) (FEE() 015 023 241237 201,693
2022 202046 October 2022 20226107 684,000 (note (i)) (FiHEE()) 016 020 116,359 101,818
2022 202046 November 2022 0011 A 312,000 (note (i)) (FiHEEG)) 016 021 50216 45,623
2002 206 December 2022 202212 162,000 (note (i)) (FfHE()) 020 022 32,099 28958
2023 20235 January 2023 20351 A 165,000 (note (i) (&£ (i)) 022 027 41,900 37,287
2023 20234 April 2023 2023%4R 582,000 (note (if)) (PZE (i) 020 023 124,404 109,041
2023 20236 May 2023 W3ESH 1,150,000 (note (i) (P 3 Gi) 020 022 237825 209239
2023 20236 June 2023 20236 A 655,000 (note (i) (£ (i) 019 023 136,296 123512
2023 202346 July 2023 2023%7R 531,000 (note (i) (FIZE i) 021 027 124,033 114,198
2023 20236 August 2023 202348 142,000 (note (i) (FEE(ii)) 022 025 34,140 31204
2023 20236 September 2023 023E97 2105000 (note (i) (FiHE i) 022 026 496,43 454483
2023 20234 October 2023 2023108 234,000 (note (if)) (PZE (i) 020 026 51,430 47,136
2023 2023 November 2023 2023 11A 361,000 (note (if)) (FizE (i) 0.19 025 72,256 66,280
2023 20236 December 2023 WBERA 317000 (note (i) (FitEE i) 0.8 019 60,745 55,290
Notes: FsE
() The ordinary shares repurchased from August 2022 to December 2022 were cancelled in (i) R2002F8AE2002F 12 AR LR
February 2023. FEP20235F2 AR KA ©
(ii) The ordinary shares repurchased from January 2023 to July 2023 were cancelled upon (i) A2023F | AZE2023F7 AERA L AR
repurchase. PAREBIRF AR AT 8 o
(i) The ordinary shares repurchased from August 2023 to December 2023 were cancelled in (iy  P2023F8AE2023F 12 ABRNE R
January 2024. BRI 20244F | AEAES ©
Except for above purchase, none of the Company's subsidiaries purchased, sold or Br EEEE N - RARIRFRAIER
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during both years, MEFEAEE  HEXBRARRIE
Al LS o
21 8 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options were granted on 23 December 2013 (“2013 Option"”) and 26
March 2015 ("2015 Option”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 22 December 2023 and
25 March 2025 respectively. Under the share option schemes of the Company,
the Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to an individual consultant or advisor who renders or has rendered bona

fide services to the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of ordinary shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding was 16,250,000 (2022:
36,191,000), representing 2.01% (2022: 4.44%) of the total ordinary shares in issue
at end of the reporting period.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. For 2013 Option and 2015
Option, options may be exercised after the completion of relevant vesting period

to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

2013 Option

30% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option A") are exercisable
on the second anniversary date of grant, 30% of total number of options of 2013
Option (“2013 Option B") are exercisable on the third anniversary date of grant
and the remaining 40% of total number of options of 2013 Option (“2013 Option
C") are exercisable on the fourth anniversary date of grant. In addition, 2013
Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group and individual

employee to exercise.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

28.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

URBZANRS

20135 12 8238 K%2015F3 A26 B AR
KA (9 5I1A 201 35 BARE
RI0ISFEREDOFZENTME
EREEREERERE  MZEER
BB RIN2023F 12 223 %2025F
3A2SBER ° REBEARAIHEREST
2 KARRAIEFEGARTEERER
(BREARAREFARNES) AJ R
ARRRMD VBRI o Btoh - RATH
TRAARE ARATREEHRED
1751/ 25 5 B ] o BB el 5% (H PR AR A o

R2023F 128318 ERHENX
TEHBEREMIROEBREE B
16,250,000% (20224 : 36,191,000%)
EREFHREENT LT BRABHN
201% (20224 : 444%) °

BEERLEREMELORE - 3t
013FEBRER20ISFEBENS @ B
BRETREESBH TR EER T HH
FHEBF AT

013 FBRE

2013 F R R R R R AR B0 30% (12013
FHEREAD IRKEAHE _ERF
REATTEE - 2013 F BRI EB 2N
30% (12013 FEARHER]) ATAAR I B B
F=ABEFHBITE - M2013FHER
TR BB T 40% ([ 201 35 BB
HEC)) AT R ERE I (EE 5 A #i1T
fi o BEoh - 2013 F BB ITETA LS
B kA EENERRIGHETAIITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

28.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

2013 Option (Contd)

Pursuant to the board resolution on 29 May 2015, the 2013 Option was amended
whereby the vesting dates of the option has been accelerated. 2013 Option A
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | June 2015, 2013 Option B
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2016 and 2013 Option C
shall be vested on, and become exercisable from | April 2017. Such amendment
is applicable prospectively to the unexercised 2013 Option and result in a net
decrease in fair value of such option measured immediately before and after the
modifications, of which no adjustment for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 needed to the fair value of the 2013 Option. The 2013 Option has lapsed in
2023.

2015 Option

30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (2015 Option A") are exercisable
from | April 2016, 30% of total number of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option
B") are exercisable from | April 2017 and the remaining 40% of total number
of options of 2015 Option (“2015 Option C") are exercisable from | April. In
addition, 2015 Option is also subjected to the performance condition of the Group

and individual employee to exercise.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
2015 Option (Contd)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

28. BARGXAHRE (&)

20I5FERAE (E)
BN BB AT

Fair value

Option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Exercise price  at grant date

REHAH

BRI BB HEH Rt THE MATE

2013 Option A 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/05/2015  01/06/2015 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

WI3FEREA  2013F 128238 2013F12A23H% WI5F6AIHE ARKI1097T ARKOSIT
201555 H31H 2023F 12 ANH

2013 Option B 23/12/2013 23/122013 10 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FERER  2013F 128238 2013F12A3H% 0I6F4A1HE ARK1097T ARKOSIT
201653 H31H 2023F 12 ANH

2013 Option C ~ 23/12/2013 23/12/2013 10 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 22/12/2023 RMBI.09 RMBO.5|

013FEREC  2013F12A23H  2013F12A3H% 017648 1HE ARKI1097T ARKOSIT
2017934318 2023F 12 ANH

2015 Option A 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2016  01/04/2016 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FHEAMEA  2015F3H260  20155F3H26BZE 0I6F4A1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201653 H31H 202543 H25H

2015 Option B 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2017  01/04/2017 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FHAMER  2015F3H260  201563H26BZE 017648 1HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201793 H31H 202543 H25H

2015 Option C~ 26/03/2015 26/03/2015 t0 31/03/2018  01/04/2018 to 25/03/2025 RMB| 47 RMBO.6|

015FHAMEC  2015F3H260  2015F3H26BZE 0I18F481HE AR 14770 AR®061TT
201853 H31H 202543 H25H

ELERERLA

20234 3}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 28.
2015 Option (Contd)

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by

URBZANRS (&)
20I5FERAE (E)
TREEAERATEENRATER

222

eligible persons: R
2023 20235
Forfeited Expired
Outstanding at during during  Outstanding at
Option type BIRAESER 11172023 the year the year 3171212023
20235 72023 %
BB RER RER 128318
i R1THE B =) ] e RATHE
2013 Option A 2013 FBEREA 5,100,500 = (5,100,500) -
2013 Option B 20135 BB 5,664,500 - (5,664,500) —
2013 Option C 2013FBREC 8,026,000 - (8,026,000) —
2015 Option A 2015 FHRIEA 5,220,000 (345,000) = 4,875,000
2015 Option B 20155 AR #EB 5,220,000 (345,000) - 4,875,000
2015 Option C 20/15FRBREC 6,960,000 (460,000) - 6,500,000
36,191,000 (1,150,000) (18,791,000) 16,250,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ARERITEE 16,250,000
Weighted average exercise price DT RMBI.2740 RMBI.4700 RMBI.0900 RMBI.4700
AR®I127400  AR%147000 ARM1.09007t ARY1.47007

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 28. URMEXNNRE (&)
2015 Option (Contd) WISFRBRE(Z)
2022 20026
Forfeited Expired
Outstanding at during during  Outstanding at
Option type RAERER] /12022 the year the year 31/12/2022
R2002%5F 20224
|A18 RER RER 128318
AT R JE MARITE
2013 Option A 013 FBREA 5,720,000 (619,500) - 5,100,500
2013 Option B 0135 ERKER 6,284,000 (619,500) - 5,664,500
2013 Option C 2013 FERHEC 8,852,000 (826,000) - 8,026,000
2015 Option A 2015 FREIRIEA 5,754,000 (534,000) - 5,220,000
2015 Option B 2015 FEERIEB 5,754,000 (534,000) - 5,220,000
2015 Option C 20I5FREHRIEC 7,672,000 (712,000) - 6,960,000
40,036,000 (3,845,000) - 36,191,000
Exercisable at the end of the year AR ERTTRE 36,191,000
Weighted average exercise price IETTEE RMBI.2733 RMBI.2672 RMBI.2740
ARE 1273370 ARB126127T - AR®127407C

No equity settled share-based payment expense is recognised for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

HZE2023F K2022F 12 A31 B IEF
B BERAARR DA EREREZ

BRBEARD AR o

ELERERLA

20234 #R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

29. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 29. REHERH
The Group as lessor FEBERHBEA
All of the leased premises have committed lessees for the next one to ten years. FrETREYEL D EAE AFERET

R—E+FREEEM -

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: AErI Y RITERENZMT :
2023 2022
2023F 200245
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Within one year —FA 14,154 12,654
In the second year E= 9,255 7,207
In the third year E=F 1,265 4558
In the fourth year EMF 7 -
24,681 24419
30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EAREIE
2023 2022
20234 20024
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETTT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided BRAKEYE - BFELREND

in the consolidated financial statements in respect of TR ERER S M HRREE
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment HYEARF X 19,238 12,735
31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. BEEKH
The Group's borrowings are secured by assets of the Group and the carrying ANEFERESIUAEFRNEEEER -
amounts of which at the end of reporting period are stated below: R R EEEEY R T
2023 2022
20235 2002
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETTT
Intangible assets | EEE 4 -
Pledged bank deposits SRR 132,355 89,791
132,359 89,791
224 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBENA3NBLESE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. BXERER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to AEBERHERUERTEEHE %
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through NEIAARERE - WE L EREER
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy BT RIRRERZALER - BEF
remains unchanged from prior year. e AEENEBRBRFIE -
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank and AEENEAEBOEREL  Edp
other borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes 24 and 25, respectively, net A IERHI 24 RSB ERIRTT R A
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, ERREEEE RekReEEMF
comprising issued share capital, share premium and other reserves. BERADRREAREER (BEDE
1T~ Beina B R EffEE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. ARREESTLFRANERERE - ER
As a part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks BEE—HD  EEERERKAKRE
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendation of the directors, the FHEXHBNRR - REZFEMNE
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, #ASERERAIMNRKRE - BITH
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as raising of new bank loans. &~ B fn B8 E R ERITE AT EAR
SEMERERER -
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. HIEEBREEBEEREE
Categories of financial instruments SRMIANESR
2023 2022
2023 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Financial assets ETREE
Amortised cost BESHRCAR 669,516 668,064
Financial liabilities cRaE
Amortised cost BESHRC A 709,876 714416
Lease liabilities HERR 4,756 5,850

EhkERERLXT
20234 3R

225



226

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the financial assets best
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk of trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has a significant concentration of customers credit risk as 16.6% (2022:
40.2%) and 48.7% (2022: 74.3%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers respectively. These major
customers are network operators and domestic and overseas wireless network

solution providers with good reputation and repayment records.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Cont d)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 93.3% (2022: 91.6%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2023.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on collective assessment. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped by
internal credit rating under a collective assessment, based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to aging, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Impairment of RMB8,427,000 (2022: RMB12,480,000)
is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out

below in this note.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances
The credit risk of the Group on pledged bank balances and bank balances is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are intemational banks or state-owned

banks, all of which are with high credit ratings.

Other receivables

The Group's other receivables representing notes and bills receivables and others.
The directors of the Company consider that the credit risk on other receivables is
limited and the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
ensuring follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debits. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on these other receivables
individually. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC
banks and therefore the management of the Group considers the credit risk is
insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's

credit risk on other receivables is significantly reduced.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

MEEREEBEREE (£)

EER R ENS ()
ELEHAERPHE B 5 EREN
(&
AEERIEMBESNEFEERR
FTERBNFE - 52023F12A31H
B SRR BT 93.3% (2022F ¢
91.6%) °

poh - AEEERBEEBREAHE
SR ETE BB ERHE RER R
ETRERFS - REEAKREESEH
RIEEREM BB (ZFRYSR
FAETERENE) REZREE
SRR - BRI H AP
WEREERREH  TREERE
RIERABEEFROERNRESE
WERR - AEEFAEBABEARE
8,427,0007C (20226 = AR# 12,480,000
U)o EBWMBEHBENAME TN

ERAFRITIEARR T/
RARZHHF I RERREEFRNE
BRIRTRBBRTT - AEBETHEFRT
BHRIBITEHNEERRAR

Rt e

AEE N E MU R ERR R R
fh - RARIERERAEMEURTHE
ERBAR MAKBEEZECRIRE
BEEN A ERARRBETE  WEB
HES - i ARERBEHEESE
BABZEE YRS TERRE
A - AREERABREERFHNTE
RITRTSERNEE - A AREE
BEERREERRBMTRE - Blitm
B ARBEERRAEEE MRS
REOEERREAKREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

HE0BFNA3NBILEE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33.

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal credit rating Description

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()
BRI (E)

Trade receivables

AR B B ERR S AR 1A
TR

Otbher financial assets

REREE R Bk E 5 YRR HittEMEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and ~ Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired

1R HFOTmRORREE  BYEIMHY GFERRMEEFE-X NEABRYEESAE
TR FEEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL [2-month ECL
usually settle after due date — not credit-impaired

BRAE BERARERIHARER - BE—KNE BEPBRHEEEFE-KX REABRHEEER
HMAREE FEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources

ez BEBABEKRZERIIBERETY) FEPBRREEER-X GFEPRDEEEHE - K%
IRRERIL - EERREEIEM BEEERE EEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired

EiiE BEBBTEREAECREEERE FENEHEERR -% GFEYPRPEEHE %A

EEERE ZER(E

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

s ARBERNEBSABABRENMERNEL MEFHER MEEHETE

228
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Other receivables (Cont d)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets

representing trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank

balances which are subject to ECL assessment:

33. BIBEMBERERREEE)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()
BRI (E)

TRFFAEERETRAEEEET
fhzeBEE (8B ZRUIRN -
BEMRITERRBITE

JEU AR

Hity

) 2 EERR
Intemnal 2023 2022
Notes  creditrating  2-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
B 2035 00F
W EEFER EARFERRSEERR AEHE BEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETL ARETE
Financial assets at
amortised costs
RBHAATRR 2
SREE
Trade receivables 20 (notea) Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 163,468 145,115
Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 95,475 154,204
Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 34,736 293,679 30420 329,739
BHRUER 20 (Ffta) FRERSEERE - AELEENE
el FRERHEEFE - AREEENE
B8 FRURSHEEEE - REEERE
Pledged bank deposits 21 Low risk [2-month ECL 132,355 89,791
BERRTER 2 RER RNEAEHEEER
Bank balances 21 Low risk [2-month ECL 198,531 174,147
RITER 2 ERE RNEARHEEER
Notes and bills 20 (noteb) 12-month ECL 78,729 101417
receivables and
other receivables
RUSER 20 (M) RNEAEHEEER
At IR

EHBRERLA
20234 3]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

HE0BFNA3NBILEE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MKEREEEERBX(Z)

(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Contd)

Other receivables (Cont d)

Note a:

BERBEEEEREEK (&)
EEmE R ETE (E)

E st ()

fitta

Gross carrying amount

BERHEE
2023 2022
20235 20226
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
THBEE BHRER THEEX BZRIER
RMB’000 RMB'000
AT NRET T
Internal credit rating NEBEERTR
Low risk 1K # 113,018 # 108,730
Watch list BERAE 8.75% 50,450 3.1% 28,805
Doubtful Tr&k N/A = 19.1% 7,580
FER
163,468 145,115
# The percentage was lower than 0.1%. # ADEIER0.1% o
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the HESHEBERNE - AEECRAEBHE
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit- mEERSEIRB AT EFENEREES
impaired which are assessed individually, the Group determines the expected credit losses on these BHEEEE - RENFEEENRERER

items by using a collective assessment, grouped by internal credit rating.

230
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FEEA -

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Collective assessment — intemal credit ratings

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers. The above table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on collective assessment as at 31 December 2023 within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with significant outstanding balances and credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of RMB95,475,000 (2022: RMBI54,204,000) and RMB34,736,000
(2022: RMB30,420,000) respectively as at 3|1 December 2023 were assessed individually.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. The Group rebutted
the presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days
past due based on good credit quality and repayment records history for those
customers. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by keen competition in industry of mobile network construction in
the PRC and global market and slower-than-expected progress of 5G network
construction, the Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current year
as there is higher risk that the economic uncertainty could led to increased credit

default rates.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

BERBEEEEREEK (&)
EERBERBETE (E)

ERETE — WS BTR
ERAEBEERREEZ -85  A5H
HEXPEARNHEETR FRREEH
EORNEREERBROER  ZSEHE
R R TIIRIB20234F 12 A 31 AR EEE (748
HEHMEEEE - REEGERE) T - 1
203F12A31 8 - EBERKREREH (4
REEAARKI54750007T (202F « AR
#154,2040007) ) RIEERE (BREERA
R#34,736,0007T (20224 = AR#30,420,000
7T)) B FEMCER TR B A

B ER DERNEH AR ERE RN
BEABREOXRME  LIRAFILE
BE AL ARG R ATE LB R
B pRZAEEPNERERBRE
ECERR T+ EUL R B 2 RERN IR
FEBREA TARBB0ANESE
PERBEAONRR - EEESTHE
Bazni NRENFEREFAZE
FER - XPBR2TISHBAE R
RITEBF AN ENRE SR HET

HEE  RPBEBEASGHERERER
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FEERNEZLAMERES  AKER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

33.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MKEREEEERBX(Z)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d) BEEREEBERBR (£)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d) EERRRBEFG (E)
Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont d) ERETHE — BN BRI (B)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment allowance of RMB2,602,000 BIE2023F12A3IBIEFE - ER
(2022: impairment allowance of RMBI,265,000) were made in the profit or loss SRAERERTRAERBARE
based on the collective assessment. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2,602,0007C (20224 : REREBARE
impairment allowance of RMB5,807,000 and RMB18,000 (2022: RMB10,44 1,000 1,265,0007T) ° B E2023F 12 A31H
and RMB774,000) were made in the profit or loss on debtors which were credit- LEE  EERERREEEERE
impaired and not credit-impaired, respectively. BT D AR ERT IRBERE
AR#5,807,0007T AR 18,0007T
(2022 : AR¥10441,000L R AR
7740007T) ©
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised Ti’%?ﬁf\@ﬁﬁ%{tfiﬂﬁﬁwmTT%JELW
for trade receivables under the simplified approach. FRERBE EE RS
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
FEHES FEURY
EEEE EEBR
(REEEERE) (BLEEERE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR
As at | January 2022 RH2022F1 A18 185 13,493 14,678
Changes due to financial instruments SR T ESIBMNE
recognised as at | January 2022: R2022F | A1 BERR -
— Impairment losses recognised — FEEERR 1,498 11,799 13,297
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ EBREEERE (758) 758 -
— Impairment losses reversed — FEEERE (283) (1,427) (1,710)
New financial assets originated EEReREE 824 69 893
As at 31 December 2022 R20225 12831 A 2,466 24,692 27,158
Changes due to financial instruments ERITASITHE
recognised as at | January 2023: 20235 1 AT AEH#ER
— Impairment losses recognised — BEEERR 4411 7,173 11,584
— Transfer to credit-impaired —HREEERE (503) 503 -
— Impairment losses reversed — REBEEL (1,808) (1,468) (3276)
— Write-offs — s (123) (1,541) (1,664)
New financial assets originated EENTeREE 17 102 19
As at 31 December 2023 R20235 12431 A 4,460 29,461 33921

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont d)

Collective assessment — internal credit ratings (Cont d)

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is information indicating that
debtors is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtors have been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written off

is subject to enforcement activities.

Note b :

Credit risk is not increased significantly since initial recognition for notes and bills
receivables and other receivables and all gross amounts balance of notes and bill
receivables and other receivables of RMB78,729,000 (2022: RMBI01,417,000) are
rated as low risk and assessed with 12-month ECL that no material impairment

losses have been recognised as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases and certain trade receivables,
bank balances and trade payables of the Group are denominated in HK$, USD,
and EUR, currencies other than the functional currency of the Company's principal
subsidiaries, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure when the need arises.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)
EEmE R BEFG ()

B — WAPE R (B)
EHERBTNESAMGREY BE %
BEEROKERTRE - flm - EBA
EARICEAWERS - AEEMH
BRI - CHIHE S EKER
IEBHHTEBTE -

Hiatn -

e & I Eo At e W AR SR 15 B R B
BT HEREWREZEN - BRK
EBRREMERRRN 2 EREE
AK#78,729,0007T (2022F : AR
101,417,0007C) 4 27 KRR - WEDD
1218 A EEEE T ARG - R
2023F &2022F 12 A31 B R
BREARERBSE -

R

EREE
AEEEINEHERRE - AAKEN
ATESRYER  RITEHRLESHE
NERFABT - R RBUTHE (ZF
EBLFARBAEBFRANNEE
%) EAKRERAEIINERR - A%
B A3 BTSN SRR o AT -
BERBEERIMNERR - LREEREY
FREARHISNE R ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Market risk (Contd)

Currency risk (Cont d)

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets

and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023
2023F
Assets
gE
RMB’000

33.

Liabilities
=R
RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBTR

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)

5 EkE ()

EXmR (&)

Rl E PRAREEAINEHENERE
ENEBAENREEDT

2022
20225
Assets Liabilities
BE AfE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

HK$ BT 1,294 403 5,143 31
UsD E 146,999 536 262,469 489
EUR BT 1,249 = 6224 -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) change in
RMB against HK$, USD and EUR. The 5% (2022: 5%) represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment of translation
of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period for 5%
(2022: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in post-tax loss where RMB strengthens against HK$, USD and EUR. For
5% (2022: 5%) weakening of RMB against HK$, USD and EUR, there would be an

equal and opposite impact on post-tax loss.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TEREEASBARER BT ELR
BUT5% (2022F : 5%) EBHGUREF
18 ° 5% (202245 : 5%) hE IR B HMNE
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MIHEEEEERBBENREHRER
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33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

33.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

PREREEEBEREE (£)

Market risk (Cont d) m5EE (&)
Currency risk (Cont'd) B (&)
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRE  ARMTR
If RMB strengthens against HK$ WARE A THE 42) (236)
If RMB strengthens against USD WARBEETHE (6,196) (11,125)
If RMB strengthens against EUR MARELBRTIHE (53) (264)

In management's opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure

during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk which arises from pledged
bank deposits (note 21), fixed rate bank and other borrowings (note 24) and lease
liabilities (note 25). The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk which

arises from cash and cash equivalents (note 21).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the interest rate risk arising from cash and

cash equivalents is insignificant for both years.

EHBRERLA
20234 3]

BEERR  ARFEMNERIL T KRR

FRRNER - SULBRED TR
BARINER -
FIE R

AEEEHTEMRITEER (EE21)
ERIRIT R EAMER (M E24) REE
BE(ME25) EENAFEMNER
f o AEEEHRE KRS FEY (4
i) EARRERENKER -

AR B AT E A RGO o A
EEREEEMNERAR YHARER

EEEHEAFEREMR -

ARMESFERNRE MRS SENEL
HOR R E R A EAX - S 5 2 5 B
D
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

Banking facilities available to the Group amounting to approximately
RMB442,495,000 (2022: RMB215,000,000) granted the Group for the bank

borrowings, bills payables and letter of credits.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a source of liquidity. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of
approximately RMB281,273,000 (2022: RMBI 19,391,000).

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

MERBEEBERBEK (£)
HEELEE
RRBEeRBER®  AEEERER
RE-TEKFNRERREEEY <
EREERRENENAEELEMT
VRIWRERERERDNFTE - B1E
BERRITERNER RERETER
24 -

AEECDESROBENARE
442,495,0007z(2022$ P AR
215,000,0007T) + AREEREE AR
TEF - ERNRBERE

AEEERBRITREMERESR
BEERE - R2023F 128318
AEEENHARAARITRENDA
R #281,273,0007C (20226 : AR¥
119,391,0007C)



33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBENA3NBLESE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 33. MKEREEEERBX(Z)
(Cont'd)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont d) BERBEEEEREEK (&)
Liguidity risk (Contd) REELERE ()
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its TEALEETREBERTANIHA
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash HEE - TRIDBRASEANEEE
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be HRFRBRESRBENRITRRES
required to pay. mMERS -
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest ZREHFERFERSINE WS
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve BEBMNERGE  BIRTReERRS
at the end of the reporting period. HIREVFIE R -
Weighted
average Total Carrying
effective  Repayable 0t030  3lto60 61109 910180 [8ldaysto Iyearto5 undiscounted  amountat
interest rate  on demand days days days days | year years  cashflows 31 December
nErE  BXE BAFR RA3NE
ERAZE  EE 0EN8 3E0B 6IENE 9EINE BIREIE IESFE  RERE  WEEE
% RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB0O0  RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  RMBOOO
% AR¥TT ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR
03 W3F
Trade and other payables ~ EAREMERER NA 264379 80,184 92,887 7320 105,106 = = 614876 614876
TER
Bank and other bomowings /T REA{EF
- Fixed nterest rate -ERHE 412 - 36 6 36 98 97488 - N4 95,000
Lease liaiites BEAR 550 - 3l 3l 315 N I6T 1409 4953 47%
264379 80831 93,534 7% 107,014 99,145 1,409 719273 714632
M WF
Trade and other payables ~ EAREMEREN NA LI I58% %Ml 1539 11675 69 - 6T8% 675,856
Iyl
Bankand other borowings  SR{TREMIER
- Fixed interest rate -ESHE 391 - 126 126 126 M A - 4000 38560
Lease libilties HEaR 600 - 33 450 333 995 1,363 2613 6107 5850
NI/ 18115 96857 15788 118124 4137 2613 721963 720266

EhkERERLXT
20234 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

33.

34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period. The fair
value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under
which the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions, which are calculated as a percentage of the employees' salaries,
to these plans. The Group also operates a MPF Schemes for all its qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the MPF
Schemes, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions

to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future PRC based employees' payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement

benefits of its employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions made by the Group amounted to
RMB 18,947,000 (2022: RMB21,279,000) for the year ended 3| December 2023.

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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33.

34.

Bk EE B R RBUR (8)

SRMIANATETE
ADBEZRR - WEENA LGS
UBRENEREERSRABNER
BEERANREBRNDTEEE - 2/
BERSREENATERARTEIE
X BREMRBASTRESTMETE -

RIKBRETE
RETERBANLER - AEENT
BEEBAS NP EERE RMHBFHES
B IR FUE WRR KB M8 - it -
AEERETEREEREAREE S
WEEB AL RMZEEHR - A%
ERREMERERBEBEERUBE
28 - ZEfEIZEEEARERED
- FRRXTEAETREZES - RER
RetEAA BEEREREBATAR
MRBIETE < Lo R [AaH 85K -

B MR A RER R AT BN
M2 HP3R B R R SR BB B R INE A
B - BEARSIN AEBEEELE—
Pl E R AR R MR IR
M B -

BZE2023F12A3IBLLEFE © K
SEELHRKEMABMRAA
% 18,947,000 (20225 : AR¥
21,279,0007T) °



35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing

activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities for the year ended 31

December 2023 and 2022:

35.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

METDELAENHIER

TRFLAEERETHMELAED
28 ERASRIFRSED - AL
PEENRENBEIARAKRESRER
RAKENGERERERRADER
BERPMELRERENEE -

HE2023ER20202F12A31BIEE
B REEYMEENaBYHERNT

Interest

payable
Bank (included  Total liabilities
and other Lease in other  from financing
borrowings liabilities payables) activities

FER RIS
w17 R (FEAEAM MEEY
H At A& K MERE  EMFUE) RiEER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%®TT ARETR
At | January 2022 R202F 1 A 1A 137,277 7,063 350 144,690
Financing cash flows MERETRE (98,717) (5,699) (4,867) (109,283)

Non-cash changes HHEE
Finance costs TR - 453 4517 4970
New lease entered FIMHHE - 4,033 - 4033
At 31 December 2022 R20225 12431 B 38,560 5,850 - 44410
Financing cash flows RERERE 53327 (4,175) - 49,152
Non-cash changes HH T E

Finance costs BIBRR 3,113 166 - 3,279
New lease entered FIHHE - 2915 - 2915
At 31 December 2023 R20235F 12431 B 95,000 4,756 - 99,756

ELERERLA

20234 #R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEALRE
()  Related party balances and transactions @) BEATEHRRRS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, BRZERAMERRASBERES

the Group has following transactions and balances with related parties. oh - AEEEBEATNRS R

FEERINE ©

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

Relationships ~ BA& Nature of balances/transactions o YA L | AR®BTR ARETT
Associates §6%% AF]  Trade sales BHHE 264 3,153
Trade purchases B5EE 8,708 15,666

Trade receivable B 5 AR 9,069 8,768

Prepayment B FIA 1,627 1,627

Trade payables H SRR 14,363 16,906

Contract liabilities BHNRE 161 161

Other receivable Hh fEUYER K 316 -

Other payables (note) H e BR AR (P aT) 722 722
Note: As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balances are non-trade in nature and BiEE : M2023F %2022 12 A31H -

repayable on demand. EHRIFEHIE - ANERE
fH5E -
240 MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd)
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management

were as follows:

36.

mEMBHRRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

BEALRS (£&)

b) FEEEASHHEMH
EERFEEREEMKENG
BT

2023 2022
20235 20024
RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETTT

Short-term employee benefits FEME B RA 7,694 7,479
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKBFIFH IR 138 158
7,832 7,637

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined having

regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of one director were paid by
SZWS for the year ended 3| December 2023 and 2022 as set in note 10.

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

EERTBTHAEBNHMIR
BEAZRARTHBEMETE

AR 1OPTEL - B E2023F &
2002F 12 A3 BIEFE - x4
LRESN—REBHERRERN

HEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at the end of reporting period, the particulars of the Company's principal
subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

Issued and fully paid

37. RATEEFLQTFEE

Equity interest

RBERR - ARREEFRAIFEN
T~

establishment/ registered capital/ attributable
Name of subsidiaries incorporation/operation share capital to the Group  Principal activities
R /G EE ERITRAR r5E
FTREER WK A AMEER,/ RA BlRE TEXK
2023 & 2022 2023 & 2022
WBFRANE  0BFR00F
MOBI Jian (note i) The PRC RMB267,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
23 May 2006 frequency subsystems
B ER (FE) i 200655 4236 AR 2670000007 100% AERHERGNEGETATESR
MOBI Shenzhen (note i) The PRC RMB220,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
12 August 1999 frequency subsystems
BRI (Rskin) Bl 19948128 ARH¥2200000007T 100% SERBERGNEREGATERR
MOBI Technologies (Xi'an) The PRC RMB 120,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
Co, Ltd. ("MOBI Xian") 29 April 2008 frequency subsystems
(note iii)
EBURE (BAR)ERAR  PE 2008648290 AR#120,0000007C 100% AERHERSNEGEFRATESR
(Mm% ) (M)
MOBI Technology (note iv) The PRC RMB50,000,000 100%  Production and sale of antennas and radio
16 April 2015 frequency subsystems
Bt (Fsv) B 2015F4A 168 AE#50,00000070 100% HERHEERGNERELETER
MOBI HK (note v) Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  Trading of antennas and radio frequency
15 December 2010 subsystems
ELEE (M v) BB 2010127158 10,0000007% 7T 100% REMESRBLHETEEES

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

Notes: BT

() MOBI Jian is directly held by the Company and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the (i)
PRC.

(if) MOBI Shenzhen is directly held by MOBI Jian and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the (i)
PRC.

(iii) MOBI Xian is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in (i)
the PRC.

(iv) MOBI Technology is directly held by MOBI Shenzhen and a wholly foreign-owned (iv)
enterprise in the PRC.

v) MOBI HK is directly held by the Company. v)

'f:ii
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS 3Rk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HE20BFA3IBLEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AATHBMRREE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREF T

Non-current Asset ERBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries RFRARIKFELTRE 375,761 375,761

Current Assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries G a/NEI L] 93,179 93,789
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 1,664 4,058
94,843 97,847
Current Liabilities mEaE

Other payables H A FE RN % 108
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFRAEIFE 17,776 17,075
17,776 17,183
Net Current Assets REVEE T 77,067 80,664
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BEERRDAE 452,828 456,425

Capital and Reserves R K
Share capital (note 27) R (BiEE27) 6 6
Reserves E= 452,822 456,419
Total Equity o 452,828 456,425

* Less than RMB,000

BEtkB#RAERAL2A
20234 #R

LRARE,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in e B AS SRk B

For the Year Ended 31 December 2023
HEWBFNA3NALFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Contd) ~ 38. AARBMBEMAERE (£)

Movement in reserves

HERE

Share  Share option Retained

premium reserve earnings Total

BROEE BRERE RERF Bt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETR AR®TR AR®TR

At | January 2022 R202F1 A 1A 403,442 22,795 27814 454,051
Profit and the total comprehensive income  FE W& R ZHEURA

for the year B - - 3258 3258
Transfer of share option reserve upon TR U5 s AR R A

forfeiture of share options BIRERE - (1,829) 1,829 -

Repurchase and cancellation of shares AT G (476) - - (476)

Repurchase of shares REEEME (414 - - (414)

At 31 December 2022 M202F12H318 402,552 20,966 32,901 456419
Loss and the total comprehensive expense ~ FEBEREZHERX

for the year mE - - (2,350) (2,350)
Transfer of share option reserve upon RORU R/ FE IR
forfeiture/expiration of share options T3 AR B R AR

e - (9,253) 9253 -

Repurchase and cancellation of shares P& {7 88 [l K ot 85 (593) - - (593)

Repurchase of shares R R BB (654) - - (654)

At 31 December 2023 2023512431 A 401,305 1713 39,804 452,822

MOBI DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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